

UNIVERSITY OF KWAZULU-NATAL

INYUVESI YAKWAZULU-NATALI

A BIOCHEMICAL ASSESSMENT OF THE POTENTIAL OF SPIRULINA PLATENSIS TO AMELIORATE THE ADVERSE EFFECTS OF HIGHLY ACTIVE ANTIRETROVIRAL THERAPY IN VITRO

By

Thabani Sibiya

B. Med. Sc. (Hons) (Medical Biochemistry), Master of Medical Science (Medical

Biochemistry)

Submitted in fulfilment for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Medical Biochemistry), School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Science, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal

2022

DECLARATION

I, Thabani Sibiya, declare that:

- i) The research reported in this thesis (unless otherwise indicated) is my original work, has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university, does not contain other persons' data, diagrams, graphs, or other information, unless specifically being acknowledged as sourced from other persons, does not contain other persons' writings unless being acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other written sources have been quoted then:
 - a) Their work has been re-written, but the information sourced has been referenced to the authors
 - b) Where their exact words have been used, their writing has been placed within quotation marks and referenced
- Where I have reproduced a publication of which I am author, co-author, or editor, I have indicated in detail which part of the publication was written by myself alone and have properly referenced such publication
- This thesis does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from the internet, unless specifically acknowledged and the source being detailed in the thesis and reference section

Signed:



30/11/2022

Mr Thabani Sibiya

Date

DEDICATION

To my late Grandmother (Florence F. Shezi), I love you and hope you are proud of me. I learned how to be a respectful and hard-working person from you, I am forever grateful for the role you played in my life.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Prof Anil Chuturgoon

Thank you for the opportunity to not only grow as a scientist but to be inspired and motivated. I wish God gives me the power to be a great man to this world as you, I am truly grateful to be part of your team. I will always be grateful to you for your guidance, support, and encouragement.

Dr Terisha Ghazi

I cannot thank you enough for all your patience, advice, corrections, suggestions, contributions to this dissertation and encouragement during difficult times. I am grateful for your presence throughout my study and making me a better scientist.

Fellow PhD Students (2019-2022)

Ms Jivanka Mohan, thank you for being stronger than me and providing support and encouragement during difficult times. I am grateful to have you as my sister. Thank you to **Ms Siqiniseko Ndlovu** for motivation and support, it made things better. To **Ms Kimona Kisten** you are the best, through your stories I have travelled the world, thank you for the laughter and food. My other fellow PhD students who we shared the same journey, thank you for the motivation.

My family

Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to pursue my post-graduate studies and being understanding and patient with me. Thank you for instilling respect and kindness in me, I am forever grateful.

Department of Medical Biochemistry (2019-2022)

I could not have asked for a better environment in which to complete my PhD. To be surrounded by highly motivated academics made every day at the lab a pleasure. I must express my gratitude to the technical staff and students at our department for providing a family away from home. Your assistance and friendship are greatly appreciated.

National Research Foundation (NRF) and College of Health Sciences (CHS-UKZN)

I would like to thank NRF and CHS (UKZN) for scholarships and funding.

PUBLICATIONS

- Sibiya, T., Ghazi, T., Chuturgoon, A. A. (2022). The Potential of Spirulina platensis to Ameliorate the Adverse Effects of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART). *Nutrients* 2022, 14, 3076. doi.org/10.3390/nu14153076.
 Author Contributions: Conceptualization, T.S., T.G., A.C.; writing—original draft preparation, T.S.; writing—review and editing, T.G. and A.C.
- Thabani Sibiya, Terisha Ghazi, Jivanka Mohan, Savania Nagiah and Anil A. Chuturgoon (2022). Spirulina platensis Ameliorates Oxidative Stress Associated with Antiretroviral Drugs in HepG2 Cells. *Plants* 2022, 11, 3143. doi.org/10.3390/plants11223143.
 Author Contributions: Conceptualization, T.S., T.G., A.A.C.; investigation, T.S.; writing original draft preparation, T.S.; writing—review and editing, T.G., J.M., S.N. and A.A.C.; supervision, T.G. and A.A.C.
- Thabani Sibiya, Terisha Ghazi, Jivanka Mohan, Savania Nagiah and Anil A. Chuturgoon (2022). Spirulina Platensis mitigates the inhibition of selected miRNAs that promote inflammation in HAART treated HepG2 cells. *Plants (In Review)*. Manuscript ID: plants-2084169

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, T.S., T.G., A.A.C.; investigation, T.S.; writing original draft preparation, T.S.; writing—review and editing, T.G., J.M., S.N. and A.A.C.; supervision, T.G. and A.A.C.

4) Thabani Sibiya, Terisha Ghazi, Jivanka Mohan, Savania Nagiah and Anil A. Chuturgoon (2022). Spirulina platensis mitigates inflammation induced by highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in HepG2 liver cells. *Nutrients* (*In Review*). Manuscript ID: nutrients-2103380

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, T.S., T.G., A.A.C.; investigation, T.S.; writing original draft preparation, T.S.; writing—review and editing, T.G., J.M., S.N. and A.A.C.; supervision, T.G. and A.A.C.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONTENTS

Declaration	ii
Dedication	
Acknowledgements	iv
Publications	V
List of Figures	. ix
List of Tables	xiv
Abbreviations	XV
Abstract	xix
Chapter one: Introduction	1
Chapter two: Literature Review	5
2.1. Human Immuno-deficiency Virus	.5
2.1.1. HIV morphology	.6
2.1.2. Viral life cycle	7
2.2. Spirulina Species	.9
2.2.1. Nutritional Composition	.10
2.2.2. Health Benefits	10
2.2.3. Antiviral activity of Spirulina	.10
2.2.4. Anti-Cancer Effects	10
2.2.5. Immunological Benefits	11
2.3. Common Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART)	11
2.3.1. Approved PrEP and PEP HAART drugs	12
2.4. Inflammation	12

2.4.1 Nuclear factor kappa -light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB)13		
2.4.2 Inflammation and reactive oxygen species14		
2.5. Oxidative Stress		
2.5.1 Effects of oxidative stress		
2.5.2. ROS and Cell Death		
2.5.3. Link between highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) and mitochondrial toxicity		
2.6. Antioxidants		
2.6.1. NRF-2 pathway		
2.6.2. Superoxide detoxification		
2.7. Intramitochondrial Antioxidant defence systems		
2.8. Metabolic Syndrome (MetS)		
2.8.1. Diabetes and antioxidant implications		
2.8.2. JNK pathway		
2.9. MicroRNAs (miRNAs)25		
2.9.1. MiRNA-146a and MiRNA-15527		
2.10. SP as a potential supplement		
References		
Chapter three: <i>Spirulina platensis</i> ameliorates oxidative stress associated with antiretroviral drugs in HepG2 cells		
Chapter four: <i>Spirulina Platensis</i> mitigates the inhibition of selected miRNAs that promote inflammation in HAART treated HepG2 cells		
Chapter five: <i>Spirulina platensis</i> mitigates inflammation induced by highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in HepG2 liver cells		
Chapter six: Conclusion119		

Appendix A: The Potential of <i>Spirulina platensis</i> to Ameliorate the Adverse Effects of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART)104		
Appendix B122	2	
Appendix C 124	ŀ	
Appendix D125	5	
Appendix E 120	5	
Appendix F 127	7	
Appendix G 12	8	

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 2

Figure 2.1. A diagram of the 9.8 kb HIV-1 genome. The Gag polyprotein, which is made up of the matrix (MA), capsid (CA), nucleocapsid (NC), P6, and two spacer peptides (SP1 and SP2), is produced from the Gag part of the genome. The polyprotein separates into its component parts during maturity.

Figure 2.2. Diagram of HIV virion. The host cell serves as the source of the lipid bilayer. The hostderived membrane surface is surrounded by envelop proteins (GP41 and GP120), which is lined internally with a layer of matrix protein (p17). The structural proteins forming the core are matrix protein (p17), capsid protein (p24), and nucleocapsid (p7). The viral capsid contains reverse transcriptase and integrase, as well as the two viral RNA strands.

Figure 2.3. Viral replication of HIV-1.

Figure 2.4. The pathway of NF-*k*B activation.

Figure 2.5. Diagram of the link between NF-KB, ROS and inflammation.

Figure 2.6. ROS resources during cardiovascular diseases.

Figure 2.7. NRF-2-KEAP1 pathway showing cellular control of antioxidants.

Figure 2.8. Schematic representation of the first line of defence against mitochondrial ROS production. Superoxide dismutase (SOD) catalyzes the reaction of O₂- to H₂O₂. Hydrogen peroxide may be further processed by catalase (CAT) or glutathione peroxidase (GPx) and converted to H₂O.

Figure 2.9. Pathophysiology of Metabolic Syndrome

Figure 2.10. Mechanism of microRNA (miRNA) biogenesis and mode of RNA silencing.

Chapter 3:

Figure 1. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on Akt mRNA levels. Akt mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); * p < 0.05, *** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001.

Figure 2. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on eNOS mRNA levels. eNOS mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001.

Figure 3. Diagrammatic representation of Spirulina Platensis reduction of oxidative stress via inhibition of NADPH oxidase, leading up to eNOS mRNA downregulation. Spirulina Platensis inhibits NADPH

oxidase, reduces ROS, and blocks free radical species including H2O2, leading to the reduction of oxidative stress and reduced demand for eNOS (created with BioRender.com).

Figure 4. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on NRF-2 mRNA levels. NRF-2 mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.005.

Figure 5. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on Keap1 mRNA levels. Keap1 mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001.

Figure 6. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on NQO-1 mRNA levels. NQO-1 mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001.

Figure 7. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on CAT mRNA levels. CAT mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001.

Figure 8. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on pNRF-2 and NRF-2 protein expression. pNRF-2 protein expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); NRF-2 protein expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to (C): SP and HAART for 24 h, (D): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); * p < 0.05, *** p < 0.0001.

Figure 9. Effects of Spirulina Platensis and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on antioxidant induction pathway in HepG2 cells; (A): the effect of Spirulina Platensis; (B): the effect of HAART; (C): the effect of HAART-SP.

Chapter 4:

Figure 1. The effects of increased SP treatment concentration on the cell viability in HepG2 cells after 24 hours. A: Overall SP increased the cell viability above that of control cells; B: SP concentration of 1.5μ g/ml showed to be more favourable in maintaining cell viability.

Figure 2. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on MiR-146a levels. MiR-146a levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 3. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on the miR-155 levels. MiR-155 levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, ***p<0.0001

Figure 4. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on Cox-1 mRNA expression. Cox-1 mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 5. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on Cox-2 mRNA expression. Cox-2 mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 6. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on JNK mRNA expression. JNK mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 7. Intracellular ROS levels represented as relative light units (RLU) produced after H2DCF-DA staining in HepG2 cells. Intracellular ROS levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 8. Mitochondrial response. $\Delta m\psi$ represented as a ratio of JC-1 aggregates and JC-1 monomers. The $\Delta m\psi$ after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 9. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on Intracellular LDH levels. Intracellular LDH levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 10. Extracellular MDA levels in SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) treated HepG2 cells. Extracellular MDA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); ***p<0.0001

Chapter 5:

Figure 1. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on iNOS mRNA levels. iNOS mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 2. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on IκB-α mRNA expression. IκB-α mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 3. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on NF- κ B mRNA expression. NF- κ B mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 4. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on NF- κ B protein expression. NF- κ B protein expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 5. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on IL-1 β mRNA expression. IL-1 β mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Figure 6. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on IL-12 mRNA expression. IL-12 mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.001

Figure 7. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on TNF- α mRNA expression. TNF- α mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, ***p<0.0001

APPENDIX A:

Chapter 3

Figure 1: Diagrammatic representation of Spirulina reduction of oxidative stress via several pathways. Spirulina inhibits NADPH oxidase, reduces ROS, blocks FR-induced apoptosis, and promotes mitochondrial health.

Figure 2. 2D chemical structures of phycocyanin, phycocyanobilin, bilirubin, and biliverdin.

Figure 3: Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects of SP.

APPENDIX B:

Figure 1. Caspase 9 expression. expression of caspase 9 after exposure to SP, ARVs, and expression of caspase 9 after exposure to ARVs followed by SP, where a single asterisk represents significance p < 0.05

Figure 2. Caspase 8 expression. expression of caspase 8 after exposure to SP, ARVs, and expression of caspase 8 after exposure to ARVs followed by SP, where a single asterisk represents significance p < 0.05

Figure 3 Caspase 3 expression. expression of caspase 3 after exposure to SP, ARVs, and expression of caspase 3 after exposure to ARVs followed by SP, where a single asterisk represents significance p < 0.05

APPENDIX C:

Figure 1. Intracellular LDH levels A: (p = 0.0288), B: (p < 0.0001), C: (p < 0.0001).

APPENDIX D:

Figure 1. MiR-146a levels A: (p = 0.0002), B: (p < 0.0001), C: (p = 0.1778).

Figure 2. The miR-155 levels A: (p = 0.0924), B: (p < 0.0001), C: (p = 0.0149).

APPENDIX E:

Figure 1. CAT mRNA expression A: (p = 0.0054), B: (p = 0.0341), C: (p = 0.0069).

Figure 2. GPx mRNA expression A: (p = 0.0007), B: (p = 0.0001), C: (p = 0.0005).

APPENDIX F:

Figure 1. NF-kB mRNA expression A: (p = 0.8275), B: (p = 0.0011), C: (p < 0.0001).

APPENDIX G:

Figure 1. Caspase 9 levels A: (p = 0.0205), B: (p = 0.0002), C: (p = 0.0178). RLU: relative light units.

Figure 2. Caspase 8 levels A: (p = 0.2138), B: (p < 0.0001), C: (p = 0.0034). RLU: relative light units.

Figure 3. Levels of caspase 3 A: (p = 0.3680), B: (p = 0.0004), C: (p < 0.0001). RLU: relative light units.

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 3:

Table 1. HAART drugs mechanism and their adverse effects.

Chapter 4:

Table 1. The annealing temperatures and primer sequences for the genes of interest.

Chapter 5:

Table 1. The annealing temperatures and primer sequences for the genes of interest.

Chapter 6:

Table 1 The annealing temperatures and primer sequences for the genes of interest.

ABBREVIATIONS

$\Delta \psi_{ m m}$	Mitochondrial membrane depolarisation
3TC	Lamivudine/ (-)-L-2',3'-dideoxy-3'-thiacytidine
AIDS	Acquired immuno-deficiency syndrome
ANOVA	One-way analysis of variance
Akt	Protein kinase B
ARE	Antioxidant response element
ARV	Antiretroviral
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAT	Catalase
cDNA	Complementary DNA
DCF	2',7'-dichlorofluorescein
ССМ	Complete culture medium
Cox-1	Cyclooxygenase-1
Cox-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
dH ₂ O	Distilled water
DNA	Deoxyribose nucleic acid
EMEM	Eagle's Essential Minimal Media
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ETC	Electron transport chain
ETV	Entecavir
FAO	Food and agriculture organization
FTC	Emtricitabine/ 2',3'-dideoxy-5fluoro-3'-thiacytidine
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GPx	Glutathione peroxidase
GSH	Reduced glutathione
H2DCF-D	2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein
H2DCF-DA	Dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HAART	Highly active antiretroviral therapy

HepG2	Human hepatoma/ Human liver cells
HIV	Human Immuno-deficiency Virus
HO-1	Heme-oxygenase 1
HRP	Horse-radish peroxidase
IC ₅₀	The half-maximal inhibitory concentration
IDV	Indinavir
iNOS	Inducible NO synthase
ΙκΒ-α	NF-κB inhibitor-alpha
ΙΚΚα	IkappaB Kinase alpha
ΙΚΚβ	IkappaB Kinase beta
ΙΚΚ γ/ΝΕΜΟ	IkappaB Kinase gamma NEMO
IL-12	Interleukin-12
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 beta
JNK	C-Jun N-terminal kinase
Keap1	Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LPV	Lopinavir
MetS	Metabolic syndrome
MDA	Malondialdehyde
mRNA	Messenger RNA
miR-146a	MicroRNA-146a
miR-155	MicroRNA-155
miRNA	MicroRNA
mt	Mitochondrial
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA
MTT	Methylthiazol tetrazolium
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NQO-1	NADH quinone oxidoreductase 1

NOX	NADPH oxidase
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor-kappa-light chain-enhancer of activated B cell
NBD	Nucleotide binding domain
NFDM	Non-fat dry milk
NFV	Nelfinavir
NO	Nitric oxide
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
NNRTI	Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
NRF1	Nuclear respiratory factor 1
NRF-2	Nuclear erythroid 2 related factor 2
NRTI	Nucleoside/nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitor
O ₂	Oxygen
02•-	Superoxide anion
ОН•	Hydroxyl radical
OH₂•	Hydroperoxyl radical
ORF	Open reading frame
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PEP	Potential exposure prophylaxis
PI	Protease inhibitor
pNRF-2	Phosphorylated NRF-2
pol	Polymerase
PrEP	Pre-exposure prophylaxis
Pri-miRNA	Primary transcript microRNA
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction

RBD	Relative band density
RLU	Relative light units
RNA	Ribose nucleic acid
RT	Room temperature
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SP	Spirulina platensis
TBARS	Thiobarbituric reactive substances
TCA	Tricarboxylic acid
TCEP	Tris-(2-carboxyethyl)-phosphine
TDF	Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TTBS	Tween 20-tris buffered saline
UNAIDS	Joint united nations programme on HIV/AIDS
WHO	World health organisation

ABSTRACT

The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) has been one of the prevalent causes of diseases on a global scale over four decades of its emergence. It is estimated that about 37.7 million people are infected with HIV globally, and 8.2 million persons are in South Africa. The highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) involves combining various types of therapies that are dependent on the infected person's viral load. HAART helps to regulate the viral load and prevents its associated symptoms from progressing into acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Despite its success in prolonging HIV-infected patients' lifespan, the long-term use of HAART promotes metabolic syndrome (MetS) through an inflammatory pathway, excess production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and mitochondrial dysfunction. Interestingly, Spirulina platensis (SP), a blue-green microalga commonly used as a traditional food by Mexican and African people, has been demonstrated to mitigate MetS by regulating oxidative stress and inflammation. This study examined the protective role of SP against HAART-induced oxidative stress and inflammation in human hepatoma (HepG2) liver cells. The first published manuscript (appendix A) is a literature review on the potential of SP to ameliorate adverse effects of HAART: An update focusing on highlighting the potential positive synergistic effects of SP and HAART. This review provides introductory background of *spirulina* and its protective attributes. Thereafter, a study in an *in vitro* model was carried out by measuring oxidative stress, antioxidant, and inflammation markers.

The HepG2 cell line was used as an *in vitro* model. Changes were investigated in cellular redox status, inflammation, and antioxidant response. The data analysis followed prolonged [96 hours (hrs)] exposure to HAART and acute (24 hrs) exposure to SP. HAART (Lamivudine (3TC): 1.51 μ g/ml, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF): 0.3 μ g/ml and Emtricitabine (FTC): 1.8 μ g/ml) in HepG2 cells was investigated for 96 hrs and thereafter, treated with 1.5 μ g/ml SP for 24 hrs. The HepG2 cells that served as control contained complete culture medium (CCM) only. 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay was used to determine cell viability following SP treatment. Cellular redox status was assessed using the quantification of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS), lipid peroxidation, and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) assay. The fluorometric, JC-1 assay was used to determine mitochondrial polarisation. Protein expression was determined using western blots. Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR) was also employed for micro-RNA and gene expressions. The findings from these investigations led to further analyses as depicted and described in our second, third, and fourth manuscripts.

In the second published manuscript (chapter three), antioxidant markers and Nuclear erythroid 2 related factor 2 (NRF-2), a key regulator of antioxidants, was investigated. The results show that SP exposure induces an antioxidant response. The results further reveal that prolonged exposure with

HAART followed by SP treatment induced an antioxidant response through upregulating *NRF-2* (p < 0.0001), *CAT* (p < 0.0001), and *NQO-1* (p < 0.0001) mRNA expression. Furthermore, NRF-2 (p = 0.0085) and pNRF-2 (p < 0.0001) protein expression was upregulated in the HepG2 cells post-exposure to HAART-SP.

In the third manuscript (chapter four), microRNAs and genes involved in inflammatory response were analysed. SP prevented the inhibition of microRNAs involved in the regulation of inflammation. MiR-146a (p < 0.0001) and miR-155 (p < 0.0001) levels increased in SP treated cells. However, only miR-146a (p < 0.0001) in HAART-SP indicated an increase, while miR-155 (p < 0.0001) in HAART-SP treatment indicated a significant decrease expression. SP may mitigate the inhibition of selected miRNAs that regulate inflammation in HAART treated HepG2 cells. Further, analysis revealed that Cox-1 mRNA expression was significantly increased in HAART-SP treated cells (p < 0.0001). Moreover, HepG2 cells exposed to HAART-SP treatment showed a significant decreased Cox-2 (p < 0.0001) expression, therefore, SP potentially controls inflammation by regulating microRNA and gene expressions. Moreover, the positive synergistic effect is indicated by normalised intracellular ROS levels (p < 0.0001) in HAART-SP treated cells.

In the fourth manuscript (chapter five), it was shown how SP mitigates inflammation induced by HAART in HepG2 liver cells. SP inhibits the inflammatory pathway, by significantly decreasing iNOS (p < 0.0001), I κ B- α (p < 0.0001), NF- κ B (p < 0.0001), IL-1 β (p = 0.0002) and TNF- α (p = 0.0074) mRNA levels. The HAART-SP post treatments reduced inflammation as evidenced by decreased mRNA levels of NF- κ B (p < 0.0001), IL-1 β (p < 0.0001), IL-1 β (p < 0.0001), TNF- α (p < 0.0001). Furthermore, NF- κ B (p < 0.0001) protein expression was downregulated. Thus, SP has the potential to inhibit inflammation induced by HAART (3TC, TDF and FTC) in HepG2 cells.

Finally, the overall results show that SP mitigates HAART-adverse drug toxicity in HepG2 cells, by activating the antioxidant response in HepG2 cells.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

Due to its rapid pace of widespread infection and concerning mortality rate, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) has remained a global public health concern (WHO 2021). In its latest report published in November 2021, the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) projected that around 37.7 million persons worldwide are HIV positive. Additionally, it was estimated that 680 000 deaths and 1.5 million new HIV infections were recorded in 2020 (Release 2021, UNAIDS 2021, UNAIDS 2021, World Health Organisation 2021, July 17). According to the South African population statistics 2021, approximately 8.2 million people are living with HIV in South Africa (Release 2021). Antiretrovirals (ARVs) are now widely accessible, thus contribute to the extension of HIV/AIDS patients' lives and significantly alter the death pattern. In 2020, of the 27.5 million HIV positive (HIV+) people worldwide who were receiving ARVs, around 5.6 million were South Africans (Africa 2020, Release 2021, WHO 2021, World Health Organisation 2021, July 17).

The use of various combinations of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) treatment choices takes into account the HIV viral load in infected people, thus regulate the viral load and prevent development of AIDS-related symptoms. Since its discovery over three decades ago, HAART has greatly improved the identification and treatment of HIV-positive people (Mondal, Pradhan et al. 2004, Ngondi, Oben et al. 2006, Masiá, Padilla et al. 2007, Blas-Garcia, Apostolova et al. 2011, Manda, Banerjee et al. 2011, NIH 2012, Mohan, Ghazi et al. 2021). Despite its success in extending the life expectancy of HIV positive individuals, the use of HAART promotes metabolic syndromes (MetS) via an inflammatory pathway, excessive formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and mitochondrial dysfunction.

The most popular nucleoside/nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs) under HAART are 2',3'-dideoxy-5-fluoro-3'-thiacytidine (FTC), (-)-L-2',3'-dideoxy-3'-thiacytidine (3TC), and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF), which form part of the first-line therapy (Gilks, Crowley et al. 2006, Sliwa, Hilfiker-Kleiner et al. 2010, Society 2011, Rakhmanina and la Porte 2012, Kahana, Rohan et al. 2013). Moreover, 3TC, FTC and TDF are recommended for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) by the World Health Organization (WHO) (Borroto-Esoda, Vela et al. 2006, Maserati, De Silvestri et al. 2010, Fonner, Dalglish et al. 2016, Spinner, Boesecke et al. 2016, Mugwanya, John-Stewart et al. 2017, Mujugira, Baeten et al. 2020). Additionally, 3TC can also be used to prevent HIV infection after potential exposure (Cheney, Barbaro et al. 2021). These NRTIs have however been associated with increased ROS, endothelial cell injury, cardiovascular complications (Cheney, Barbaro et al. 2021), mitochondrial alterations, oxidative stress (Milián, Peris et al. 2017), and development of lipodystrophy syndrome, as a result of low mitochondrial toxicity (Nelson and Schiavone 2004). It is therefore crucial to look into remedies to alleviate the side effects brought on by these ARV drugs.

Blue-green microalga known as Spirulina platensis (SP) is frequently consumed as a traditional cuisine by some African and Mexican populations (Estrada, Bescós et al. 2001, Bashandy, El Awdan et al. 2016). The United Nations' Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) also recommends spirulina as a dietary supplement (Pelizer, Danesi et al. 2003). In addition to its well-known nutritional value, SP has been discovered to have numerous therapeutic benefits as its consumption can strengthen the immune system's cellular and humoral defences (Estrada, Bescós et al. 2001). Interestingly, SP has been associated with MetS-lowering qualities such as hypoglycemic (Iyer Uma, Sophia et al. 1999), hypolipidemic (Serban, Sahebkar et al. 2016), and antihypertensive (Finamore, Palmery et al. 2017). According to studies in rodent species, SP appears to be most helpful in the prevention of MetS (Finamore, Palmery et al. 2017). Oxidative stress inhibitors, phycocyanin, and phycocyanobilin are all found in SP (Miranda, Cintra et al. 1998, Hu and Liu 2001, Zheng, Inoguchi et al. 2013). Prior research has shown that SP prevents oxidative stress (Riss, Décordé et al. 2007, Zheng, Inoguchi et al. 2013, Abdelkhalek, Ghazy et al. 2015, Bashandy, El Awdan et al. 2016) and promotes mitochondrial health (Nawrocka, Kornicka et al. 2017, Jadaun, Yadav et al. 2018, Oriquat, Ali et al. 2019, Sun, Hou et al. 2019), thereby inhibiting inflammation (Zheng, Inoguchi et al. 2013, Izadi and Fazilati 2018). SP can also prevent the development of atherosclerosis (Riss, Décordé et al. 2007), and diabetes (Zheng, Inoguchi et al. 2013).

Specific microRNAs, such as miR-155 and miR-146a, were initially linked with the inflammatory response by virtue of their potent up-regulation in multiple immune cell lineages by Toll-like receptor ligands, inflammatory cytokines, and specific antigens. Moreover, the increased expression of miR-155 and miR-146a in MetS was found to contribute to inflammation-mediated glomerular endothelial injury (Huang, Liu et al. 2014). It is therefore imperative to explore microRNA involvement in HAART and SP synergy. Due to the alarmingly increasing number of HIV-infected people and their high dependence on HAART, supplementation with an antioxidant agent such as SP, which has been shown to protect against oxidative stress and inflammation (Miranda, Cintra et al. 1998, Hu and Liu 2001, Zheng, Inoguchi et al. 2013), can help to minimize the oxidative stress and inflammation during HAART treatment.

Although a number of studies have investigated the effect of SP as an antioxidant, there is insufficient research on the impact of SP on the oxidative and inflammatory pathway of HAART *in vitro*. This study focuses on the anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties of SP and its amelioration of HAART-associated MetS.

It was hypothesized that SP inhibits oxidative stress and inflammation induced by HAART (3TC, TDF and FTC) in human hepatoma (HepG2) cells. In order to test the hypothesis, the cytoprotective effects

of SP against oxidative stress, inflammation, protein homeostasis and epigenetic regulation of cellular detoxification in HepG2 cells was determined.

The objectives of the study were to determine:

- the protective role of SP against HAART-induced oxidative stress in HepG2 cells.
- the effect of SP on HAART-induced alterations of micro-RNAs involved in inflammation in HepG2 cells.
- the ability of SP to ameliorate inflammation induced by HAART in HepG2 cells.

The thesis is submitted in a manuscript format (as per UKZN guidelines for doctoral thesis submission) comprising of the following manuscripts:

- 1. Review paper
- 2. Experimental paper 1
- 3. Experimental paper 2
- 4. Experimental paper 3

Experimental paper 1 (Chapter 3)

Spirulina platensis Ameliorates Oxidative Stress Associated with Antiretroviral Drugs in HepG2 Cells.

Sibiya T, Ghazi T, Mohan J, Nagiah S, Chuturgoon AA.

Plants (Basel). 2022 Nov 17;11(22):3143. doi: 10.3390/plants11223143.

PMID: 36432871 Free article.

Review paper (APPENDIX A)

The Potential of Spirulina platensis to Ameliorate the Adverse Effects of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART).

Sibiya T, Ghazi T, Chuturgoon A.

Nutrients. 2022 Jul 27;14(15):3076. doi: 10.3390/nu14153076.

PMID: 35893930 Free article.

Experimental paper 2 (Chapter 4)

Spirulina Platensis mitigates the inhibition of selected miRNAs that promote inflammation in HAART treated HepG2 cells.

Thabani Sibiya, Terisha Ghazi, Jivanka Mohan, Savania Nagiah and Anil A. Chuturgoon (2022).

Plants (In Review). Manuscript ID: plants-2084169

At the time of the thesis submission this manuscript was corrected and submitted with revisions (Revision 1, Journal: Plants).

Experimental paper 3 (Chapter 5)

Spirulina platensis mitigates inflammation induced by highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in HepG2 liver cells.

Thabani Sibiya, Terisha Ghazi, Jivanka Mohan, Savania Nagiah and Anil A. Chuturgoon (2022). Nutrients (In Review). Manuscript ID: nutrients-2103380

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Human Immuno-Deficiency Virus

HIV is a public health concern, deadly comorbidity, and a major cause of mortality worldwide. According to the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), an estimated 37.7 million [30.2 million–45.1 million] people globally were living with HIV in 2020. Of this 1.5 million [1.0 million-2.0 million] people became newly infected with HIV in 2020, and 680 000 [480 000-1.0 million] people died from AIDS-related illnesses in 2020 (UNAIDS 2021). Ambitious targets that can reduce the impact of HIV in the future and end AIDS by the year 2030 were made by leaders globally (Mahy, Marsh et al. 2019); including initiatives such as early antiretroviral therapy (ART) to decline HIV prevalence (Dehne, Dallabetta et al. 2016). The primary responsibility of HAART is to treat HIV type 1 (HIV-1) infection. HAART has several classes, Nucleoside/Nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs), Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs) (Kakuda 2000, Martin, Nolan et al. 2004, Lyseng-Williamson, Reynolds et al. 2005, Yeni 2006, Lucas, Ross et al. 2014, Chang, Tsai et al. 2018, Saag, Benson et al. 2018, Chen, Stampley et al. 2019, Eggleton and Nagalli 2020), Protease inhibitors (PIs) (Eastone and Decker 1997, Yeni 2006, Soliman, Lundgren et al. 2011, Lennox, Landovitz et al. 2014), Integrase strand transfer inhibitors (INSTIs) (Hazuda, Felock et al. 2000, Schafer and Squires 2010, Gutierrez, Fulladosa et al. 2014, Fettiplace, Stainsby et al. 2017, Hoffmann, Welz et al. 2017, Zash, Makhema et al. 2018), Fusion inhibitors (FIs) (Hardy and Skolnik 2004), and Chemokine receptor antagonists (CCR5 antagonists) (Dorr, Westby et al. 2005, De Luca, Pezzotti et al. 2019, Miao, De Clercq et al. 2020). HAART is a specifically selected combination of NRTIs and NNRTI, PI or INSTIS drugs responsible for inhibition of viral replication by multiple virus targets (Kitahata, Koepsell et al. 1996, Cunningham, Tisnado et al. 1999, Shafer and Vuitton 1999, Sax, Tierney et al. 2009, Post, Moyle et al. 2010, Rackal, Tynan et al. 2011, Thompson, Aberg et al. 2012, Group 2015, Günthard, Saag et al. 2016, Ford, Migone et al. 2018). However, HAART can cause adverse drug reactions. 3TC (lamivudine), FTC (emtricitabine), TDF (Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate), ZDV (Zidovudine) and d4T (Stavudine) are associated with mitochondrial toxicity and oxidative stress (Venhoff, Setzer et al. 2007, Brown, Jin et al. 2014, Canale, de Bragança et al. 2014, Glover, Hebert et al. 2014), while NNRTIs are linked to toxic hepatitis and PIs are implicated in insulin resistance and hyperlipidemia (Yeni 2006). Chronic side effects linked to HAART include ROS-induced insulin resistance (dos Santos, Paes et al. 2013, Bonomini, Rodella et al. 2015), lipodystrophy, gastrointestinal disorders (Sharma 2011), and cardiovascular disease (Masiá, Padilla et al. 2007, Csányi 2014). It has been shown that HAART drugs induce oxidative stress (Mondal, Pradhan et al. 2004, Ngondi, Oben et al. 2006, Masiá, Padilla et al. 2007) and mitochondrial dysfunction (Blas-Garcia, Apostolova et al. 2011, Manda, Banerjee et al. 2011).

2.1.1 HIV morphology

HIV morphology has been the centre of intervention in therapy, especially biochemical and structural composition. The virus is a member of the lentivirus genus, a branch of the Retroviridae family. HIV is spherical in shape, and has a diameter of 100–120 nm (Sierra, Kupfer et al. 2005). HIV-1 and HIV-2 are the two known strains of the virus. Globally, HIV-1 is the more contagious and frequently seen strain. HIV-2 is mostly found in some regions of West Africa and has a substantially reduced virulence/infectivity. There are two identical 9.2 kb single RNA strands that make up the HIV genome (Figure 2.1) (Sierra, Kupfer et al. 2005, Rossi, Meuser et al. 2021). Three structural protein open reading frames (ORFs) are present in the genome. Matrix (MA), capsid (CA), and nucleocapsid (NC) structural proteins are all encoded by group specific antigen (Gag). Protease (PR), reverse transcriptase (RT), integrase (IN), and ribonuclease are all encoded by the polymerase (pol) ORF. Finally, the envelope (Env) ORF encodes the glycoprotein (gp)120 and gp41 viral envelope proteins (Figure 2.2) (Wilk and Fuller 1999, Rossi, Meuser et al. 2021). Additional accessory genes involved in the control of viral replication are encoded by the HIV genome, including the trans-activator of transcription (Tat), the regulator of virion protein expression (Rev), the negative factor (Nef), the viral infectivity factor (Vif), the viral protein R (Vpr), and the viral protein U. (Vpu).



Figure 2.1. A diagram of the 9.8 kb HIV-1 genome. The Gag polyprotein, which is made up of the matrix (MA), capsid (CA), nucleocapsid (NC), P6, and two spacer peptides (SP1 and SP2), is produced from the Gag part of the genome. The polyprotein separates into its component parts during maturity (Rossi, Meuser et al. 2021).



Figure 2.2. Diagram of HIV virion. The host cell serves as the source of the lipid bilayer. The hostderived membrane surface is surrounded by envelop proteins (GP41 and GP120), which is lined internally with a layer of matrix protein (p17). The structural proteins forming the core are matrix protein (p17), capsid protein (p24), and nucleocapsid (p7). The viral capsid contains reverse transcriptase and integrase, as well as the two viral RNA strands. (Karlsson Hedestam, Fouchier et al. 2008, Rossi, Meuser et al. 2021)

A bilayer of cellularly derived phospholipids surrounds the virion, forming an envelope. Protein protrusions that promote binding to the host cell are present on the viral envelope. The viral protein gp120 extends from the viral envelope to aid host cell attachment and eventual fusion. Viral protein p17 makes up the viral MA, which is enclosed in the viral envelope and keeps the virion's structural integrity. CA form part of the viral core and is conical in shape, which is made up of viral protein p24. Two strands of viral RNA are strongly linked to p7, the viral NC protein, within the CA. The viral replication enzymes RT, IN, and PR are also found in NC (Turner and Summers 1999, Sierra, Kupfer et al. 2005, Ganser-Pornillos, Yeager et al. 2008, Rossi, Meuser et al. 2021).

2.1.2. Viral life cycle

Immune cells including CD4+ helper T cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, and microglial cells are the main targets of HIV. Gp120 interacts with the CD4 receptor on the immune cell. Gp120 also engages in further interaction with chemokine co-receptors, mainly C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) and C-C chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5), once the attached to the host cell (Doranz, Rucker et al. 1996, Feng, Broder et al. 1996, Clapham and Weiss 1997). The hydrophobic domain of gp41 is exposed as a result of this contact, enabling fusion with the host cell. The CA, which contains viral genetic material and enzymes, undergoes an uncoating process that releases its contents into the host cell's

cytoplasm (Figure 2.3). The viral pre-integration complex is created when RT reverse transcribes viral RNA after it enters the cytosol, a process regulated by the accessory protein Vif (Turner and Summers 1999). The active process of nuclear localization of the viral DNA is controlled by MA, IN, RT, and Vpr (Bukrinsky, Haggerty et al. 1993, von Schwedler, Kornbluth et al. 1994). In the nucleus, virus and host DNA are integrated following three successive integration stages mediated by the viral enzyme IN. During integration, the viral DNA is first assembled, then its 3' end must undergo endonucleolytic processing, and ultimately the strand is joined to cellular DNA (Arts and Hazuda 2012). Both spliced and unspliced mRNA transcripts are produced as a result of this process. Tat, Rev, and Nef are encoded by the short-spliced RNA species. Regulatory protein Tat is essential for transcriptional activation. The introns encoding for Gag and Pol are present in both the full-length and singly spliced viral RNA. For synthesis to occur, these must be exported to the cytosol. Rev, which binds to the Rev-response element, regulates the viral RNA's export. When this complex forms, protein exportin 1 is attracted, allowing the viral DNA to pass via a nuclear pore (Ohno, Fornerod et al. 1998).



Figure 2.3. Viral replication of HIV-1 (Ganser-Pornillos, Yeager et al. 2008)

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) produces the viral spike gp120, which derives from gp160, a genetic derivative of Env. The polyprotein gp120 is transported from the ER through the Golgi apparatus and

split into gp120 and gp41 by furin. The assembly phase is made possible by the processed proteins, Gag, Gag-Pol, and viral RNA aggregating at the plasma membrane. The virion then starts to bud off the host cell (Figure 2.3). Gag polyproteins will still require additional cleavage by PR. A complete, infectious virion is created once all the structural elements have come together. A mature virus has the ability to penetrate CD4+ cells and use cellular resources for viral reproduction. As long as viral replication is maintained, the CD4+ T cell pool will inevitably become much smaller. Apoptotic cell death accounts for the majority of CD4+ cell loss (Gougeon, Lecoeur et al. 1996). The gradual loss of immune cells impairs both innate and adaptive immunity, ultimately making people more vulnerable to opportunistic infections. Kaposi sarcoma, lymphoma, and infections with tuberculosis, bacterial pneumonia, Cryptococcus, herpes simplex, and cytomegalovirus (CMV) are among the health effects that are frequently seen (Benson, Brooks et al. 2009). Viral replication is a critical target in lowering the infectivity of HIV because it is necessary to keep CD4+ T cells at a stable level in order to provide protection. To reduce an HIV-positive person's viral load, HAART includes a variety of ARV drugs, ensuring multiple targets are covered (NIH 2012, Brouwer, Napravnik et al. 2014, Mohan, Ghazi et al. 2021). However, studies have demonstrated the ability of natural medicine such SP in the inhibition of HIV-1 replication (Ayehunie, Belay et al. 1998, Ali and Saleh 2012). Unlike HAART, SP is an antioxidant with the ability to inhibit MetS, which make it a suitable supplement for people on life-long HAART.

2.2. Spirulina Species (Please see appendix A)

Three *spirulina* species are frequently researched because of their great nutritional value and potential for medicinal use. These Spirulina species include Spirulina platensis (SP) (Arthrospira platensis), Spirulina maxima (Arthrospira maxima), and Spirulina fusiformis (Arthrospira fusiformis). Additionally, Cyanobacteria and Prochlorales subclassify these Spirulina species as oxygenic photosynthetic bacteria (Whitton 1992, Turner 1997, Vonshak 1997, Khan, Bhadouria et al. 2005, Gershwin and Belay 2007, Karkos, Leong et al. 2011). SP is abundantly present in alkaline water with high concentration of bicarbonate and saline (Ciferri 1983, Estrada, Bescós et al. 2001). The majority of spirulina species are microstructures with a three-dimensional helix (Kamata, Piao et al. 2014) covered by a cell wall made of intricate proteins and carbohydrates (Estrada, Bescós et al. 2001). SP is regarded as an anti-inflammatory and antioxidant (Henrikson 1989). Due to the abundance of carotenoid, phycocyanin, and chlorophyll in it, it is also regarded as a dietary resource. Chlorophyll is anti-mutagenic and an antioxidant (Ferruzzi and Blakeslee 2007, Hosikian, Lim et al. 2010), Carotenoids are essential antioxidants that can prevent cancer (Khan, Bhadouria et al. 2005), The Bili protein phycocyanin has antioxidant and radical-scavenging abilities (Hoseini, Khosravi-Darani et al. 2013). Additionally, SP has been praised for its capacity to prevent cancer and viral infections (Asghari, Fazilati et al. 2016). According to studies, SP contains a variety of bioactive compounds, such as carotenoid, phenol, chlorophyll, phycocyanin, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), glycosides, flavonoids, and alkaloids (Jaime, Mendiola et al. 2005, Herrero, Vicente et al. 2007, El-Baky, Hanaa et al. 2009, Kannan, Pushparaj et al. 2014, Prabakaran, Sampathkumar et al. 2020).

2.2.1. Nutritional Composition

Spirulina was chemically determined to be an excellent source of proteins, vitamins and minerals (Ali and Saleh 2012), constituted by 60% to 70% content of proteins in its dry form (Ciferri 1983). Rich in β -carotene (Belay 1997), vitamin B12 and useful in anemia treatment, hence, it is used as iron supplement during gestation in anemic woman (Belay 1997, Ali and Saleh 2012, Becker 2017). 4% to 7% is lipid content (Misbahuddin, Maidul Islam et al. 2006). Composition of carbohydrates is approximately 13.6% (Shekharam, Venkataraman et al. 1987). RNA composition is 2.2% to 3.5% and DNA is between 0.6% to 1% (Ciferri 1983). It is also rich in carotenes, chlorophyll and phycocyanin (Ciferri 1983, Saxena, Ahmad et al. 1983).

2.2.2. Health Benefits

Spirulina is a potent inhibitor of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase, resulting in reduction of oxidative stress (McCarty 2007). It shares structure and physiological activities with bilirubin, an important modulator of chronic inflammation and oxidative stress in MetS (Miranda, Cintra et al. 1998, Hu and Liu 2001, Jiang, Roberts et al. 2006, Riss, Décordé et al. 2007, Zheng, Inoguchi et al. 2013). *Spirulina* has therapeutic effects against vascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative diseases, and inflammatory disorders (McCarty 2007). It has central neuroprotective effects in rodents (Chamorro, Pérez-Albiter et al. 2006). Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations recommends *Spirulina* as an excellent dietary supplement (Pelizer, Danesi et al. 2003). The compound has been shown to have the ability to inhibit oxidative stress (Riss, Décordé et al. 2007, Zheng, Inoguchi et al. 2013, Abdelkhalek, Ghazy et al. 2015, Bashandy, El Awdan et al. 2016), and enhance mitochondrial health (Nawrocka, Kornicka et al. 2017, Jadaun, Yadav et al. 2018, Oriquat, Ali et al. 2019, Sun, Hou et al. 2019).

2.2.3. Antiviral activity of Spirulina

Spirulina possesses inhibitory effects against numerous viruses such as HIV-1, herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1), herpes simplex virus 2 (HSV-2), human cytomegalovirus (HCMV), influenza type A, measles and other enveloped viruses (Hayashi, Hayashi et al. 1996, Ayehunie, Belay et al. 1998, Hernández-Corona, Nieves et al. 2002, Luescher-Mattli 2003, Khan, Bhadouria et al. 2005). Moreover, it has antimutagenic and anticancer effects (Ali and Saleh 2012). Studies have demonstrated the ability of SP to inhibit HIV-1 replication in human T-cell lines, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), and Langerhans cells (LC). Inhibition of viral production by *spirulina* extract (between 0.3 and 1.2μ g/ml) has been proven to be approximately 50% in PBMCs (Ayehunie, Belay et al. 1998, Ali and Saleh 2012).

2.2.4. Anti-Cancer Effects

Studies have demonstrated that *spirulina* anticancer effects are potent in both humans and animals, this may be achieved through enhancement of cell nucleus enzyme function and DNA repair synthesis (Ali and Saleh 2012, Konícková, Vanková et al. 2014, Liu, Huang et al. 2016, Marková, Koníčková et al. 2020).

2.2.5. Immunological Benefits

Spirulina can build up both the humoral and cellular mechanisms of the immune system when consumed (Estrada, Bescós et al. 2001). *Spirulina* consumption can enhance components within both the mucosal and systemic immune systems (Balachandran, Pugh et al. 2006). It has antiallergic effects (Karkos, Leong et al. 2011). *Spirulina* is an effective treatment against chronic arsenic poisoning with melanosis and keratosis (Choudhary, Jetley et al. 2007). *Spirulina* has been shown to have protective effects against allergic rhinitis in humans (Mao, Water et al. 2005). It prevents cellular ageing, infectious diseases and promotes strong immune system (Ali and Saleh 2012). Furthermore, it prevents free radicals (FR) induced apoptotic cell death (Chu, Lim et al. 2010).

2.3. Common Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART) (Please see appendix A)

The purpose of HAART is to prevent viral replication by targeting several virus targets with a carefully chosen mix of NRTI and NNRTI, PI, or INSTI drugs (Kitahata, Koepsell et al. 1996, Cunningham, Tisnado et al. 1999, Shafer and Vuitton 1999, Sax, Tierney et al. 2009, Post, Moyle et al. 2010, Rackal, Tynan et al. 2011, Thompson, Aberg et al. 2012, Group 2015, Günthard, Saag et al. 2016, Ford, Migone et al. 2018). HAART is primarily in charge of treating people with HIV-1 infection and preventing viral replication. These core tasks of HAART are accomplished by addressing various viral lifecycle stages, ensuring suppression even if the virus is resistant to one of the drugs (Kitahata, Koepsell et al. 1996, Cunningham, Tisnado et al. 1999, Shafer and Vuitton 1999, Sax, Tierney et al. 2009, Post, Moyle et al. 2010, Rackal, Tynan et al. 2011, Thompson, Aberg et al. 2012, Group 2015, Günthard, Saag et al. 2016, Ford, Migone et al. 2018). In comparison to other drug combinations, the combination of two NRTIs (most commonly FTC and TDF) and one NNRTI (for example, EFV; Efavirenz) is preferable since it is easier to dose and has less toxic side effects (Yeni 2006, McColl, Margot et al. 2011, Hong, Jonas et al. 2015). Three NRTIs together are less efficient than two NRTIs plus an NNRTI (Gulick, Ribaudo et al. 2004). Due to its high toxicity, the combination of d4T with ddI is not frequently recommended (Robbins, De Gruttola et al. 2003). Cytidine analogs (XTC), FTC, 3TC, and TDF are the most widely used NRTIs and are used as first-line treatments (Gilks, Crowley et al. 2006, Sliwa, Hilfiker-Kleiner et al. 2010, Society 2011, Rakhmanina and la Porte 2012, Kahana, Rohan et al. 2013). The molecular structures of FTC and 3TC are comparable, but they have different pharmacokinetic and

pharmacodynamic characteristics, and they have required deoxynucleosides for HIV DNA synthesis. They are phosphorylated by intracellular kinases to produce the triphosphate metabolites FTC-TP and 3TC-TP, with FTC-TP being more effectively integrated into HIV DNA synthesis than 3TC-TP (Schinazi, McMillan et al. 1992, Schinazi, Lloyd et al. 1993, Margot, Enejosa et al. 2009, Maserati, De Silvestri et al. 2010, McColl, Margot et al. 2011).

2.3.1 Approved PrEP and PEP HAART drugs

Clinical trials showed that pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) with daily oral emtricitabine/tenofovir, disoproxil, and fumarate reduced the risk of HIV infection by more than 90%, and the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) authorized it for this use in 2012 (Touger and Wood 2019). Additionally, 3TC, FTC, and TDF are suggested by WHO for PrEP (Borroto-Esoda, Vela et al. 2006, Maserati, De Silvestri et al. 2010, Fonner, Dalglish et al. 2016, Spinner, Boesecke et al. 2016, Mugwanya, John-Stewart et al. 2017, Mujugira, Baeten et al. 2020). Furthermore, 3TC is utilized to stop HIV infection after potential exposure (Cheney, Barbaro et al. 2021). PrEP is a strategy for preventing HIV infections in HIV-negative people who exhibit major risk factors by using ARV drugs as a prophylactic measure (Kelesidis and Landovitz 2011). Animal studies have shown that the NRTI TDF, especially when combined with emtricitabine (FTC; TDF/FTC), is effective in preventing sexual HIV transmission (García-Lerma, Otten et al. 2008, García-Lerma, Cong et al. 2010). Literature has shown more effective risk-reduction for anal sexual intercourse by PrEP compared with vaginal sexual intercourse. Rectal tissue has been found to have higher PrEP tissue concentrations than vaginal tissue (Patterson, Prince et al. 2011). TDF and FTC, two oral ART medications used as PrEP for those at risk for HIV, are very effective at lowering HIV acquisition when used as directed (Grant, Lama et al. 2010, Molina, Capitant et al. 2015, McCormack, Dunn et al. 2016). Following HIV exposure, the WHO advises one month of triple ART as post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) (Organization 2014). UNAIDS targets to lower the number of new HIV infections globally by guaranteeing that 90% of those at risk of contracting HIV have access to PEP and PrEP (Prevention 2020).

2.4 Inflammation

The immune system's reaction to a toxic stimulus, infections, and damaged cells is inflammation. Therefore, inflammation serves as defence mechanism to clear out harmful stimuli and begin the healing process. However, chronic inflammation is harmful as it contributes as a side consequence of many disorders (Chen, Deng et al. 2018). Given that it promotes cell regeneration in the event of cellular damage, regulated inflammation has positive effects. Furthermore, it sets off an immune response that scavenge for and eliminates abnormal cells. Chronic inflammation is however detrimental because it accelerates the development of fibrosis, cirrhosis, and ultimately hepatocellular carcinoma as a result of ongoing liver injury and the associated regenerative damage healing mechanisms (Luedde and Schwabe

2011, Hoesel and Schmid 2013, Bishayee 2014). One of the main mediators of inflammation is nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) (Beinke and Ley 2004). There may be three distinct mediators of inflammation, which include NF- κ B, interleukin-6 and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3). The focus on NF- κ B is due to its key regulatory role in the inflammation pathway. NF- κ B is also involved in the regulation of micro-RNAs linked to inflammation. For example, the inflammation linked to arsenite carcinogenesis is promoted by exosomal miR-155, which is regulated by NF- κ B (Chen, Luo et al. 2017). Alteration in inflammation-related miR-146a expression of NF- κ B signaling pathway in Diabetic Rat Hippocampus (Habibi, Soufi et al. 2016), indicates a clear link and the involvement of NF- κ B in MetS.

2.4.1 Nuclear factor kappa -light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB)

An immunological response and inflammation are induced by the activation of NF-KB in response to environmental stimuli. NF- κ B is a dimeric complex made up of subunits from the Rel family of DNA binding proteins: p105/p50, p100/p52, RelB, c-Rel and p65 (RelA) which controls the transcription of genes involved in immunological responses, inflammation, cell growth and differentiation, and cell survival (Beinke and Ley 2004, Sharma, Tate et al. 2018). The Rel homology domain (RHD) in NF-κB proteins allows for DNA binding, dimerization, and nuclear localization. Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), Interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β), lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and ultraviolet (UV) radiation are examples of activator molecules that can induce NF-κB phosphorylation and NF-κB inhibitor-alpha $(I\kappa B-\alpha)$ degradation (Figure 2.4). The I κB proteins, which are composed of the catalytic subunits IkappaB Kinase alpha (IKK α), IkappaB Kinase beta (IKK β), and the regulatory component IkappaB Kinase gamma NEMO (IKK γ /NEMO), bind to NF- κ B to keep it confined to the cytoplasm under normal physiological conditions (Ben-Neriah and Karin 2011). IkB is phosphorylated in response to a particular stimulus, such as chemotherapy, stressors, or cytokines, which leads to its ubiquitination and breakdown by the 26S proteasome. The nucleus receives the activated NF- κ B, which changes the expression of the target genes (Ahn, Moon et al. 2003, Nishikori 2005). The consensus DNA sequence 5'-GGGRNNYYCC-3', often known as the kB site, is where NF-κB binds to start transcription of genes in the nucleus (where Y denotes cytosine or thymine, N denotes any base, and R denotes either adenine or guanine) (Antonaki, Demetriades et al. 2011). Protein phosphorylation as well as post-translational changes, such as protein acetylation, control the NF-kB dimerised complex further. It is also responsible for the activation of genes that prevent cell death, encourage the invasion and migration of altered cells, and promote the development of mesenchymal stem cells linked to cancer (Ben-Neriah and Karin 2011). There is also a clear link between NF- κ B activation and cancer, the majority of cancer cells maintain active NF- κ B through mutations in signaling molecules upstream of it or in response to external stimuli in the tumor microenvironment (Ben-Neriah and Karin 2011). The activation of the inflammatory response and NF-kB -mediated pro-oncogenic activity depends on the RelA and p50 NF-kB heterodimer (Yu, Pardoll et al. 2009). Inflammatory and immunological responses are mediated by Th2 cytokines, chemokines, COX-2, matrix metallopeptidases (MMPs), and apoptotic factors, depending on whether the NF- κ B transcription genes are repressed or activated (Messadi, Doung et al. 2004). It has been discovered that iron and copper chelators inhibit NF- κ B from being activated. (Schmilz 1995).



Figure 2.4. The pathway of NF-κB activation (Prepared by author with BioRender.com, accessed on 07 October 2022).

2.4.2 Inflammation and reactive oxygen species

Diabetes-related consequences such as nephropathy, atherosclerosis, cardiomyopathy, neuropathy, and retinopathy are caused by metabolic alterations that include hyperglycemia, hyperlipidaemia, and insulin resistance along with an increase in oxidative stress and inflammation (Sharma, Tate et al. 2018). Oxidative stress and inflammation are linked in a cyclical process. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels are stimulated by elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine expression. High levels of ROS also cause an elevation in the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Sharma, Tate et al. 2018). A very pro-inflammatory and pro-oxidant condition that has been shown to be harmful to type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and exacerbate problems is driven by this positive feedback loop. The function of NF- κ B is crucial to this positive feedback loop (Morgan and Liu 2011). In MetS, including T2DM, an essential inflammasome activating signal is ROS. ROS indirectly promotes inflammation through its effects on

NF-κB (Figure 2.5) (Sharma, Tate et al. 2018). Kim, Na et al. (2008) revealed that ROS stimulates NFκB indirectly by activating Akt. IκBα inhibitory proteins are oxidized and broken up as a result of Akt activation and IKK phosphorylation, which then permits the phosphorylation of ser-276 and NF-κB translocation (Schreck, Rieber et al. 1991, Kim, Na et al. 2008). In addition to being triggered by ROS for inflammatory purposes, NF-κB also stimulates the expression of many proteins, which increases ROS generation. In order to promote oxidative stress, NF-κB directly upregulates the enzymes NADPH oxidase 2 (NOX2), a dedicated ROS generator, and cyclo-oxygenase 2 (COX2) , which generates superoxide by-products (Figure 2.5) (Morgan and Liu 2011).



Figure 2.5. Diagram of the link between NF-KB, ROS and inflammation (Prepared by author)

2.5 Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress is defined as a disturbance in the balance between ROS production and antioxidant defence, shifted towards excess ROS (Betteridge 2000). ROS consists of free radicals and reactive forms of oxygen. FR are molecules with one or more unpaired electrons in the valence shells, the family of FR also includes reactive nitrogen species (RNS) and reactive sulphur species (RSS) (Finaud, Lac et al. 2006). Cells deal with abnormal levels of ROS by employing antioxidants to scavenge ROS and ameliorate ROS induced damage (Kabel 2014).

Vertebrates require dioxygen (O₂) during oxidation of energetic substances since its acts as an electron acceptor. O₂ forms a reactive anion by gaining an e⁻, the superoxide (O₂⁻) formed can be reduced to hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and hydroxyl radicals (OH[•]) (Apel and Hirt 2004). Electron transport chain (ETC) is the major producer of intracellular ROS via complex I and III of the ETC in the mitochondria, which produces O₂⁻ anions during the Q cycle. The increased respiration is directly proportional to the increased ROS production, since the Q cycle is non-enzymatic. There are numerous other components that are involved in the mitochondrial production of ROS such as monoamine oxidase, p66sch and α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase (Phaniendra, Jestadi et al. 2015).

The second major source of ROS is the respiratory burst that results from NADPH oxidase when there is phagocytosis of microbes (Borza, Muntean et al. 2013). Endogenous ROS comes from various contributors such as the endoplasmic reticulum, lysosomes and a number of cytochromes (Borza, Muntean et al. 2013). Negative environmental changes induced or naturally occurring can introduce ROS insults to the body, e.g., cigarette smoke contains many free radicals. O_2^{\bullet} and nitric oxide are the main contributors from cigarette smoke, oxidative injury results from activated endogenous ROS producing mechanisms by smoke inhalation (Birben, Sahiner et al. 2012). Photosensitizing agents from ultra violet and ionizing radiation induces ROS synthesis through the conversion of O2⁻ and organic radicals to H₂O₂ and organic hydroperoxides, which results in oxidative stress (Borza, Muntean et al. 2013). ROS promotes the unfolding of proteins, shortening of telomeres, destruction of lipids, damage to nucleic acids and other small organic molecules (Phaniendra, Jestadi et al. 2015). ROS has positive attributes in muscular contraction (Andrade, Reid et al. 1998, Coombes, Powers et al. 2001, Reid 2001, Linnane, Zhang et al. 2002), Biogenesis of cells (Sen and Packer 1996, Rimbach, Höhler et al. 1999, Reid 2001, SEN 2001, Linnane, Zhang et al. 2002), fighting against inflammation during phagocytosis of antigens (Jenkins 1988, Rimbach, Höhler et al. 1999, Fehrenbach and Northoff 2001), and facilitation of enzyme activation, drug detoxification and repletion of glycogen (Jenkins 1988). However, ROS are implicated in degenerative pathologies such as cancer, cataract formation, Alzheimer's and other cell aging related diseases (Golden, Hinerfeld et al. 2002). More specifically, ROS is capable of damaging all types of cells (Tavazzi, Di Pierro et al. 2000).

Cytochrome P450-dependant enzymes activates O_2 and formation of ROS during detoxification of drugs consumed (Borza, Muntean et al. 2013). ROS formation and lipid peroxidation can be induced by exposure to O_3 and enhanced atmospheric O_2 levels (Birben, Sahiner et al. 2012). Alcohol consumption initiates ROS synthesis via xanthine oxidase and aldehyde oxidase activation. Oxidation of aldehyde results in the formation of $O_2^{\bullet^-}$ (Borza, Muntean et al. 2013). Increased central temperature, catecholamine and lactic acid can initiate ROS production, since these have the ability to convert $O_2^{\bullet^-}$ into OH[•] (Clarkson and Thompson 2000). HAART drugs can also impact oxidant profile since they
inhibit cytochrome P450 3A-mediated synthesis of cis-9-retinoic acid; one of the key activator of PPAR- γ (Carr, Samaras et al. 1998), resulting in impaired fat storage and lipid release (Carr, Samaras et al. 1998, dos Santos, Paes et al. 2013, Bonomini, Rodella et al. 2015).

2.5.1 Effects of oxidative stress

Reactive species oxidize lipids to produce aldehydes and peroxides during the process known as lipid peroxidation. Lipid peroxidation happens when ROS and RNS are produced at a rate that is significantly higher than it is during a normal physiological state. Lipid peroxidation produces compounds that are more stable than the parent reactive species, which leave the site of synthesis and cause tissue damage and dysfunction. Due to their high reactivity, the lipid peroxidation products can have an impact on DNA, proteins, and cell signalling (Ramana, Srivastava et al. 2013). Lipid peroxidation is caused by the addition of oxygen radicals or the removal of hydrogen atoms from lipids with two or more carbon atoms, which causes excessive oxidative damage to PUFAs (Halliwell 2006, Repetto, Semprine et al. 2012, Ayala, Muñoz et al. 2014). As a result, the carbon atom receives a single unpaired electron, creating a "carbon-centered radical" (Repetto, Semprine et al. 2012). In order to stabilize the double carbon bonds, the lipid radical first goes through a chemical rearrangement. After that, it interacts with oxygen to produce peroxyl radicals. By itself, the peroxyl radical is capable of detaching a hydrogen atom from another PUFA, which triggers a cascade of harmful events (Repetto, Semprine et al. 2012). The oxidation of proteins within the cell membrane is mediated by peroxyl radicals, which readily target nearby side chains. eventually causing the lipid membrane to be destroyed, along with the production of other breakdown products like ethers, aldehydes, ketones, and hydroperoxides that have genotoxic and cytotoxic consequences (Esterbauer 1993, Niki, Yoshida et al. 2005, Halliwell 2006, Repetto, Semprine et al. 2012). Thus, the primary molecular mechanism for cellular oxidative damage is lipid peroxidation, which can also cause cell death via the toxicity process (Repetto, Semprine et al. 2012, Ayala, Muñoz et al. 2014). Only when two lipid radicals combine to generate a non-radical product or when they come into contact with an antioxidant electron donor does lipid peroxidation come to an end (Kaufman, Kolesar et al. 2003, Ayala, Muñoz et al. 2014). To keep the equilibrium between oxidants and antioxidants, antioxidants scavenge free radicals and decrease their reactivity (Casas-Grajales and Muriel 2015). The by-products of lipid peroxidation are harmful and contribute to a number of pathogenic illnesses, such as metabolic problems, pre-eclampsia, kidney damage, asthma, and neurological disorders (Pham-Huy, He et al. 2008). Numerous studies demonstrate that the creation of ROS promotes the occurrence and progression of cardiovascular illnesses (Figure 2.6) and is directly related to the process of cell death (Xu, Ding et al. 2019). Malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxynonenal are the reactive aldehydes that are most frequently examined by researchers and are used as indicators of oxidative stress (Requena, Fu et al. 1996).



Figure 2.6. ROS resources during cardiovascular diseases (Xu, Ding et al. 2019)

The primary cause of numerous vascular dysfunctions is the excessive formation of ROS, which is brought on by pathogenic stimuli or the malfunction of the ROS clearance mechanism. Through the activation of transcription factors, elevation of adhesion molecules, stimulation of chemokine synthesis, and recruitment of inflammatory cells, oxidative stress may cause vascular inflammation and damage (Förstermann 2008, Thomas, Witting et al. 2008). Although there are several sources of intracellular ROS, the only primary ROS sources are the actions of NADPH oxidases (NOXs) (Figure 2.6) (Drummond, Selemidis et al. 2011, Lassègue, San Martín et al. 2012). In the vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC), endothelial cells, and fibroblasts, NOXs may produce a significant burst of O_2^{-} , with NADPH acting as an electron donor (Griendling, Sorescu et al. 2000). Through the oxidative breakdown of the NO synthase cofactor, BH4, NOX-derived ROS can also decouple the NO synthase and promote O₂ generation. Five distinct NOX isoforms have been found thus far (Griendling, Sorescu et al. 2000, Sumimoto, Miyano et al. 2005). The NOX1, NOX2, NOX4, and NOX5 are all expressed in endothelial cells (Montezano and Touyz 2012), and are differently regulated under various pathological conditions. However, the immune cells and VSMCs in the vascular wall express NOXs as well, which under certain circumstances also contributes to the formation of ROS (Figure 2.6) (Lassegue and Clempus 2003, Arruda and Barja-Fidalgo 2009, Dharmarajah, Arthur et al. 2010, Montezano and Touyz 2012). Under pathological circumstances, NOX2 is probably the most significant ROS producer, whereas NOX4

serves a protective role by encouraging NO bioavailability and reducing cell death (Rouhanizadeh, Hwang et al. 2005, Judkins, Diep et al. 2010, Rivera, Sobey et al. 2010).

2.5.2. ROS and cell death

The induction of cell death, which is the primary cause of numerous cardiovascular illnesses under diverse clinical situations, is a direct result of excessive ROS production. As it is controlled by gene products, programmed cell death is a crucial therapeutic target for the treatment of diseases (Xu, Ding et al. 2019). Necrotic cell death occurs before the activation of catabolic enzymes, but in apoptotic cell death, the activation of proteases and endonucleases occurs prior to the lysis of the cell (Kroemer, Dallaporta et al. 1998). ROS encourage the development of lipid raft-derived signalling platforms, initiating apoptosis that is mediated by the death receptor (Xu, Ding et al. 2019). Numerous studies demonstrate that apoptosis plays a role in the chronic loss of cardiomyocytes in chronic heart failure as well as the acute loss of cardiomyocytes in cardiac ischemia/reperfusion damage (Xu, Ding et al. 2019). The enlargement and rupture of intracellular organelles, which results in the disintegration of the plasma membrane, is a hallmark of necrotic cell death. Cytoplasmic enzymes and other cell components are expelled into the extracellular matrix (Chan, Moriwaki et al. 2013). Inflammatory reactions are mediated by the plasma membrane leaking. It has been discovered that cytokines from the TNF family cause necrosis. The leakage of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), which is located in the cytoplasm of the cell, is a significant indicator of necrotic death and membrane damage (Chan, Moriwaki et al. 2013).

2.5.3. Link between highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) and mitochondrial toxicity

Elevated generation of mitochondrial FR is one of the most frequent effects of mitochondrial dysfunction. The NRTIs mitochondrial toxicity is expected to cause an imbalance in the cellular redox state. Previous research has demonstrated a connection between the usage of HAART and increased FR generation as well as oxidative damage indicators (Mondal, Pradhan et al. 2004, Ngondi, Oben et al. 2006, Masiá, Padilla et al. 2007). Protein synthesis, mitochondrial biogenesis, mitochondrial membrane integrity, mitochondrial matrix metabolism, ATP production, and mitochondrial DNA replication and transcription have all been identified as potential targets for NRTI-related mitochondrial toxicity (Apostolova, Blas-García et al. 2011).

2.6 Antioxidants

Antioxidants are substances that are responsible for reducing harmfulness of oxidative stress in several ways including forming a less active radical or inhibiting the damaging FR chain reaction on substrates such as proteins, carbohydrates, lipids or DNA (Dekkers, van Doornen et al. 1996). To keep the equilibrium between oxidants and antioxidants, antioxidants scavenge free radicals and reduce their reactivity (Casas-Grajales and Muriel 2015, Basak, Sadhukhan et al. 2017). There are enzymatic

(endogenous) and non-enzymatic (mostly from food) antioxidants active in the human body, either found intracellularly or extracellularly (Powers and Lennon 1999). Enzymatic antioxidants include Superoxide dismutase (SOD), Catalase (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPx). While non-enzymatic antioxidants consist of several FR inhibitors such as vitamin A (retinol), vitamin C (ascorbic acid), vitamin E (tocopherol), flavonoids, thiols (including glutathione GSH, ubidecarenone (ubiquinone Q_{10}), uric acid, bilirubin, ferritin) and micronutrients (iron, copper, Zinc, selenium, manganese), which act as enzymatic cofactors. Endogenous antioxidant enzyme production and vitamin-micronutrients base nutritional intakes form a stable antioxidant system (Dekkers, van Doornen et al. 1996). An adaptive reaction to facilitate the excretion of pharmacological compounds is the chemical alteration of xenobiotics. Phase I and II enzymes play a huge role in the endogenous antioxidant defence system. CYP450 mono-oxygenases make up the majority of the phase I enzymes in biotransformation and frequently create electrophilic metabolites (Payne, Fancey et al. 1987). 3TC is an example of CYP450 mono-oxygenases' substrates (Veal and Back 1995). Phase II enzymes are stimulated by the production of CYP450 metabolites, which makes it easier for electrophiles to bind to reduced glutathione (GSH) and glucuronic acid. Due to the high expression of phase I and II enzymes, the liver is essential for xenobiotic metabolism. As a result, xenobiotic metabolism's electrophilic attack mostly affects the liver (Park, Pirmohamed et al. 1995). The cytoprotective arsenal would not be complete without the endogenous antioxidant defence mechanism. The master initiator of the transcription of antioxidant genes is Nuclear-Factor-erythroid 2 Related Factor 2 (NRF-2) (Motohashi and Yamamoto 2004).

2.6.1. NRF-2 pathway

The transcription factor NRF-2 is a key regulator of the transcriptional response to oxidative stress (Solst, Rodman et al. 2017). The expression of NRF-2 is increased in organs exposed to the outside environment (lungs, skin, gastrointestinal tract) and in tissues engaged in detoxification (liver, kidney) (Copple, Goldring et al. 2008). NRF-2 masterfully regulates cellular redox homeostasis. It is tightly linked with the coordination of the basal and inducible expression of antioxidants and Phase II detoxification enzymes that are essential for adaption to different stress conditions. Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1) regulates the stability of NRF-2 and its cellular distribution. NRF-2 activities are also controlled by other numerous mechanisms such as posttranslational, transcriptional, translational and epigenetic, as well as by other protein partners (Nguyen, Sherratt et al. 2003, Nguyen, Nioi et al. 2009, Huang, Li et al. 2015). The classical pathway of NRF-2-regulated antioxidant response is via the NRF-2-Keap1 system (Ishii, Itoh et al. 2000). The separation of KEAP1 from NRF-2 is necessary for this mechanism. NRF-2 has a high affinity for KEAP1 dimers. Keap1 directly binds NRF-2 in the cytoplasm, repressing NRF-2 transactivation activity (Itoh, Wakabayashi et al. 1999). Under basal conditions, Keap1 ubiquitinates NRF-2 and localizes NRF-2 near the proteasome, thereby enhancing its degradation in the cytoplasm of quiescent cells. During elevated ROS concentrations, the cysteine residues in the NRF-2/Keap1 complex oxidize, allowing NRF-2 to dissociate from Keap1 and translocate to the nucleus

(Ishii, Itoh et al. 2000). NRF-2 is a member of the Cap 'n' Collar (CNC) family of basic region leucine zipper (bZIP) transcription factors (Moi, Chan et al. 1994, Huang, Li et al. 2015). In the nucleus, NRF-2 forms heterodimers with a group of nuclear bZIP proteins called small Maf proteins (Itoh, Igarashi et al. 1995). NRF-2 then induces expression of antioxidant genes via its interaction with regulatory DNA sequences in the antioxidant response element (ARE) (Solst, Rodman et al. 2017). A cis-acting element called the ARE can be found either on the promoter or upstream of the promoters of important phase II and antioxidant genes (Kobayashi and Yamamoto 2006). The ARE or electrophile responsive element (EpRE) regulates the coordination in regulatory sites of target genes during the activation of antioxidants such as *GPx*, *SOD*, *HO-1*, *NQO1* (Figure 2.7) (Friling, Bensimon et al. 1990, Rushmore, Morton et al. 1991, Eggler, Gay et al. 2008). However, ARE and the mitochondrial biogenesis regulator NRF1 share motifs. It has been demonstrated that NRF-2 and NRF1 interact, hence mediating mitochondrial biogenesis (Piantadosi, Carraway et al. 2012). More research is still needed to determine how NRF-2 contributes to drug transporter induction during xenobiotic detoxification (Maher, Cheng et al. 2005, Aleksunes, Slitt et al. 2008).

It is well established that NRF-2 is essential for preventing drug-induced cytotoxicity (Copple, Goldring et al. 2008). In order for NRF-2 to be activated it has to be phosphorylated (Figure 2.7) (Huang, Nguyen et al. 2002). Protein Kinase C (PKC) catalyses the phosphorylation of NRF-2 at Ser40; this is a critical signalling event that results in cellular antioxidant response mediated by ARE (Huang, Nguyen et al. 2002). Ser40 is a critical residue of the domain in NRF-2-Keap1 interaction believed to be part of Neh2 (comprised of \approx 100 N-terminal amino acids), which Keap1 binds through this domain of NRF-2 and PKC phosphorylates this domain at Ser40 upon oxidative stress, leading to a dissociation of NRF-2 from Keap1 (Huang, Nguyen et al. 2002). Detoxification of ROS is mediated by a network of antioxidant enzymes. SOD, CAT, and GPx are the major antioxidant enzymes involved in radical scavenging (Birben, Sahiner et al. 2012).



Figure 2.7. NRF-2-KEAP1 pathway showing cellular control of antioxidants (Chen, Zhang et al. 2014).

2.6.2. Superoxide detoxification

One of the most frequently produced ROS from the ETC is the O_2^{-} anion radical. O_2^{-} reactions frequently produce additional reactive species, which feeds the oxidative insult cycle (Sies 1991). SOD serves as the initial line of defence against O_2^{-} . Depending on where in the cell the SOD enzyme is located, it has several isoforms: SOD1 (cytosol; mitochondrion), SOD2 (mitochondrion), and SOD3 (extracellular) (Tainer, Getzoff et al. 1983, McCord and Fridovich 1988). Superoxide dismutase converts O_2^{-} to hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). Due to the Fenton reaction's potential for quickly converting hydrogen peroxide to OH[•], extra CAT processing is necessary to convert OH[•] into H₂O (Figure 2.8).



Figure 2.8. Schematic representation of the first line of defence against mitochondrial ROS production. SOD catalyses the reaction of O₂- to H₂O₂. Hydrogen peroxide may be further processed by CAT or GPx and converted to H₂O (Figure by author).

2.7. Intramitochondrial Antioxidant defence systems

Mitochondria have a built-in antioxidant system since they are highly vulnerable to redox damage. Antioxidants are phenol-containing substances that prevent substrate oxidation and counteract the negative effects of ROS (Noori 2012). Antioxidants act as reducing agents since they undergo self-oxidation to eliminate other radical intermediates, which prevents FR-producing oxidation processes (Lü, Lin et al. 2010). These antioxidants can be either enzymatic (SOD, GPx1) or non-enzymatic (GSH) (Noori 2012).

2.8. Metabolic Syndrome (MetS)

The co-existence of numerous established cardiovascular risk factors, such as insulin resistance, obesity, atherogenic dyslipidemia, elevated glucose, elevated blood pressure, pro-thrombotic state, pro-inflammatory state and hypertension, is referred to as the MetS (Huang 2009, Grundy 2016). Understanding the pathophysiology of MetS can help improve pharmacological, and preventive treatment approaches (Figure 2.9). Type 2 diabetes (T2D) and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease

(CVD) are both risk factors for MetS (Grundy 2016). Oxidative stress is one of the key factors in MetS, as overproduction of ROS participate in the development of insulin resistance and CVD (Ando and Fujita 2009).



Figure 2.9. Pathophysiology of Metabolic Syndrome (Huang 2009).

2.8.1. Diabetes and antioxidant implications

In the diseased environment, diminished antioxidant capability is equally important to elevated ROS. In the context of diabetes, this goes beyond the idea that high levels of ROS passively deplete the antioxidant supply and leans toward having a more direct impact on antioxidants. Numerous investigations supported the hypothesis that the diabetes condition causes the decline in antioxidant levels of CAT, SOD, and GPx (Loven, Schedl et al. 1986, Wohaieb and Godin 1987, Sukalski, Pinto et

al. 1993). Two theoretically sound reasons for the negative effects of diabetes on antioxidant processes. The first theory centres on glycation, the non-enzymatic binding of glucose to proteins that alters their structure and functional properties. Szaleczky, Prechl et al. (1999) hypothesized that increased glycation in the high glucose state would lead to a decrease in antioxidant enzyme activity (Szaleczky, Prechl et al. 1999). The second theory proposes that the micronutrient environment is modified by diabetes. To function, antioxidant enzymes need specific cofactors and micronutrients. For example, CAT needs haem, GPx needs selenium, and superoxide dismutase uses copper, zinc, or manganese. It was proposed that changes in the micronutrient environment in the diabetic state impacted the cofactor/enzyme ratio, affecting the activation statuses of antioxidant enzymes (Szaleczky, Prechl et al. 1999). Therefore, diabetes causes an abnormal antioxidant profile and elevated ROS levels.

2.8.2. JNK pathway

The tripeptide's sequence serves as the basis for classifying kinases. Due to their functions in inflammatory and environmental stress responses, JNK and p38 are known as stress-activated protein kinases (SAPK) (Plattner and Bibb 2012). P38 has been associated with the regulation of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α , and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) (Cuenda and Rousseau 2007). JNK is involved in a variety of processes, including gene expression, cell death, and survival pathways in addition to neuronal and immune functions (Zeke, Misheva et al. 2016). JNK is phosphorylated twice at Tyr and Thr by the protein kinases mitogen-activated protein kinase 4 (MKK4) and mitogen-activated protein kinase 7 (MKK7) (Weston and Davis 2002). JNK is in charge of making c-Jun active, which boosts the expression of activator protein-1 (AP-1). The transcription of cytokines, cell proliferation, and differentiation are all controlled by AP-1 (c-Jun & c-Fos) (Fisher and Voorhees 1998, Xie, Zhang et al. 2013).

2.9. MicroRNAs (miRNAs)

Biological processes such as cell proliferation and apoptosis, require small non-coding RNAs called miRNA for gene regulation (Ambros 2004). MiRNA are approximately 22 nucleotides in length and are generated from long primary miRNA transcripts. The main function of miRNA is to control gene expression at the post-transcriptional level through degrading or repressing target mRNAs (Chen 2005). It is estimated that 30% of all human genes expression are regulated by miRNAs (Lewis, Burge et al. 2005). MiRNAs play important roles in coordinating many cellular processes such as regulating apoptosis, proliferation, differentiation, development, and metabolism (Maziere and Enright 2007, Gusev 2008, Chuturgoon, Phulukdaree et al. 2014). MiRNAs play important regulatory roles in a variety of biological processes including metabolic processes (metabolic integration, insulin resistance and appetite regulation) (Heneghan, Miller et al. 2010). MiRNAs fall under the field of epigenetics, which refers to genomic modifications include DNA methylation, chromatin and histone modification and miRNAs.

The full description of miRNA biogenesis and mode of action are described in Figure 2.10. Translational repression or mRNA degradation occur as a result of the establishment of the mRNA-miRNA complex. These molecules' ability to modulate gene expression by inhibiting protein translation has been described by research. This has given rise to notions that contend miRNA can serve as targets for therapeutic interventions as well as biomarkers for disease. Moreover, numerous clinical illnesses and biological processes, such as cancer (Jansson and Lund 2012), diabetes (McClelland and Kantharidis 2014), cardiovascular disease (Small, Frost et al. 2010), and most recently medication transport and metabolism (Peng and Zhong 2015), have been linked to microRNA.



Figure 2.10. Mechanism of miRNA biogenesis and mode of RNA silencing. MiRNAs can be generated from either their own genes or the introns of protein-coding genes and are transcribed as independent units. Transcription of miRNA is carried out by RNA polymerase II (Pol II), producing large capped primary transcripts (Pri-miRNA). Primary transcripts are characterized by stem loops. The RNA III enzyme, Drosha, together with its co-factor (Pasha) cleave pri-miRNA at the stem of the loop, releasing 70-nucleotide long pre-miRNA products. The nuclear transporter, Exportin 5, and GTPase Ran facilitate the export of the pre-miRNA from the nucleus to the cytoplasm. In the cytoplasm, pre-miRNA is subject to further processing by Dicer, producing a

miRNA duplex. The duplex is loaded into an RNA-inducing silencing complex (RISC), consisting of multiple proteins, including Argonaute proteins. Mature miRNAs are unwound and remain tethered to Argonaute proteins within the complex. MicroRNA have more than one target gene. The mature miRNA binds the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the target gene, under the guidance of Argonaute protein, by complementary base pairing. Perfect complementarity with a target gene results in degradation of the target mRNA. Imperfect complementarity causes translational repression (Esquela-Kerscher and Slack 2006)

2.9.1. MiRNA-146a and MiRNA-155

Due to the powerful up-regulation of particular microRNAs, such as miR-155 and miR-146a, by Tolllike receptor ligands, inflammatory cytokines, and particular antigens in numerous immune cell lineages, these microRNAs were initially associated with the inflammatory response. Additionally, it was discovered that the MetS's elevated expression of miR-155 and miR-146a contributes to inflammationmediated glomerular endothelial damage (Huang, Liu et al. 2014). Due to the widespread oncogene features and stimulation of proliferation in human cancer, studies have shown that miRNA-155 may be a target for cancer treatment. The fact that hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) proliferated more quickly when miRNA-155 expression was elevated, indicates the significant involvement of miR-155 in the disease pathogenesis (Gao, Ning et al. 2015).

There is evidence that miRNAs play a significant role in the inflammation process by controlling both innate and adaptive immunity (Ge, Brichard et al. 2014). MicroRNAs, which are metabolic disease biomarkers, and other signalling pathways connected to metabolism and epigenetics are dysregulated as a result of oxidative stress. Numerous miRNAs involved in the control of lipid and glucose metabolism as well as the endothelium are expressed differently in various organs under different conditions of oxidative stress, according to studies. Dysregulated microRNAs affect the expression and activity of molecules in antioxidative signalling pathways, as well as genes for numerous signalling pathways related to inflammation, insulin sensitivity, and lipid metabolism, either directly or indirectly, which accelerates the development of metabolic imbalance (Włodarski, Strycharz et al. 2020).

2.10. SP as a potential supplement

Remarkably, SP has anti-inflammatory (Izadi and Fazilati 2018), and powerful antioxidant properties (Miranda, Cintra et al. 1998, Hu and Liu 2001), making it a viable supplement in the reduction of oxidative stress brought on by HAART adverse reactions. According to studies, antioxidants may have therapeutic benefits that can help people with HIV/AIDS avoid developing comorbidities that are brought on by oxidative stress and HAART medication (Mondal, Pradhan et al. 2004). Increased oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation have been linked to HIV and HAART, which promotes ROS by activating NADPH oxidase (Wang, Liao et al. 2009, Yeligar, Guidot et al. 2015). One of the main

sources of ROS and FR in HIV-infected people taking HAART is NADPH oxidase, which SP can suppress (Wang, Liao et al. 2009, Yeligar, Guidot et al. 2015, Izadi and Fazilati 2018), resulting in reduced oxidative stress (Riss, Décordé et al. 2007). TDF and lopinavir produce both acute and longterm renal impairment (Boffito 2004, Patel, Patel et al. 2010, Fernandez-Fernandez, Montoya-Ferrer et al. 2011, Shafi, Choi et al. 2011, Cao, Han et al. 2013). Normalization of urinary and renal oxidative stress markers and inhibition of NADPH-dependent superoxide generation in renal mesangial cells are both achieved by phycocyanin from SP (Zheng, Inoguchi et al. 2013), ameliorating renal dysfunction. By inhibiting oxidative stress, SP has proven to be a viable treatment method for preventing diabetic nephropathy (Zheng, Inoguchi et al. 2013). These characteristics point to SP as a possible treatment for HAART-induced renal impairment. NRTIs inhibit mitochondrial DNA polymerase (Grigsby, Pham et al. 2010, Moss, Neary et al. 2014). Studies in vitro revealed that SP can repair DNA synthesis and improve cell nucleus enzyme performance (Ali and Saleh 2012), and enhance mitochondrial health (Kamble, Gaikar et al. 2013, Nawrocka, Kornicka et al. 2017, Jadaun, Yadav et al. 2018, Oriquat, Ali et al. 2019, Sun, Hou et al. 2019). SP can treat mitochondrial toxicity, which manifests as lactic acidosis and peripheral neuropathy, by supplying trace minerals for the production of antioxidant enzymes (Nasirian, Dadkhah et al. 2018) and also reduce chronic inflammation (Jensen, Attridge et al. 2015).

SP's phycocyanin has the ability to prevent liver microsomal lipid peroxidation. (Romay, Armesto et al. 1998, Romay, Ledon et al. 1998, Gonzalez, Rodriguez et al. 1999, Romay, Delgado et al. 2001, Remirez, Fernández et al. 2002, Remirez, Ledon et al. 2002, Romay, Gonzalez et al. 2003, Khan, Varadharaj et al. 2006, Patel, Mishra et al. 2006, Cherng, Cheng et al. 2007, Riss, Décordé et al. 2007, Manconia, Pendás et al. 2009, Shih, Cheng et al. 2009), hence, reducing toxic hepatitis. Diabetes mellitus and hyperlipidemia are brought on by PI treatment (Jivanka Mohan 2021, Mohan, Ghazi et al. 2021). HAART is also connected to myocardial infarction (Yeni 2006). Diabetes, cancer, vascular disease, and neurological disorders can all be treated with SP (McCarty 2007). SP may exert its neuroprotective activities through antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects (Lima, Joventino et al. 2017). The list of advantages makes SP a recommended antioxidant for usage as a dietary supplement. SP also strengthens the immune system and guards against infectious diseases and cellular aging (Ali and Saleh 2012). SP's support of a robust immune system can aid in raising CD4 cell counts, reducing HIV viral loads, and delaying the development of AIDS. In terms of chemistry, SP is a good source of proteins, vitamins, and minerals (Ali and Saleh 2012), important nutrients for individuals on the HAART program. Finally, as SP has been demonstrated to reduce viral generation in PBMCs, it can support HAART in its goal of preventing HIV-1 replication.

The review paper was published, and the original paper is included in appendix (APPENDIX A). The Potential of Spirulina platensis to Ameliorate the Adverse Effects of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART).

References

Abdelkhalek, N. K., et al. (2015). "Pharmacodynamic interaction of Spirulina platensis and deltamethrin in freshwater fish Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus: impact on lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress." <u>Environmental Science and Pollution Research</u> **22**(4): 3023-3031.

Africa, U.-S. HIV and AIDS Estimates. 2020. Available online: https://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/southafrica (accessed on 11 September 2021).

Ahn, K. S., et al. (2003). "Downregulation of NF- κ B activation in human keratinocytes by melanogenic inhibitors." Journal of dermatological science **31**(3): 193-201.

Aleksunes, L. M., et al. (2008). "Induction of Mrp3 and Mrp4 transporters during acetaminophen hepatotoxicity is dependent on Nrf2." <u>Toxicology and applied pharmacology</u> **226**(1): 74-83.

Ali, S. K. and A. M. Saleh (2012). "Spirulina-an overview." <u>International journal of Pharmacy and</u> <u>Pharmaceutical sciences</u> **4**(3): 9-15.

Ambros, V. (2004). "The functions of animal microRNAs." Nature 431(7006): 350-355.

Ando, K. and T. Fujita (2009). "Metabolic syndrome and oxidative stress." <u>Free Radical Biology and</u> <u>Medicine</u> **47**(3): 213-218.

Andrade, F. H., et al. (1998). "Effect of hydrogen peroxide and dithiothreitol on contractile function of single skeletal muscle fibres from the mouse." <u>The Journal of physiology</u> **509**(2): 565-575.

Antonaki, A., et al. (2011). "Genomic analysis reveals a novel nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B)-binding site in Alu-repetitive elements." Journal of Biological Chemistry **286**(44): 38768-38782.

Apel, K. and H. Hirt (2004). "Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction." <u>Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.</u> **55**: 373-399.

Apostolova, N., et al. (2011). "Mitochondrial interference by anti-HIV drugs: mechanisms beyond Pol- γ inhibition." <u>Trends in pharmacological sciences</u> **32**(12): 715-725.

Arruda, M. A. and C. Barja-Fidalgo (2009). "NADPH oxidase activity: In the crossroad of neutrophil life and death." <u>Frontiers in Bioscience-Landmark</u> **14**(12): 4546-4556.

Arts, E. J. and D. J. Hazuda (2012). "HIV-1 antiretroviral drug therapy." <u>Cold Spring Harbor perspectives</u> in medicine **2**(4): a007161.

Asghari, A., et al. (2016). "A review on antioxidant properties of Spirulina." Journal of Applied Biotechnology Reports **3**(1): 345-351.

Ayala, A., et al. (2014). "Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal." <u>Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity</u> **2014**.

Ayehunie, S., et al. (1998). "Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by an aqueous extract of Spirulina platensis (Arthrospira platensis)." Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes and human retrovirology: official publication of the International Retrovirology Association **18**(1): 7-12.

Balachandran, P., et al. (2006). "Toll-like receptor 2-dependent activation of monocytes by Spirulina polysaccharide and its immune enhancing action in mice." International Immunopharmacology 6(12): 1808-1814.

Basak, P., et al. (2017). "Perspectives of the Nrf-2 signaling pathway in cancer progression and therapy." <u>Toxicology reports</u> **4**: 306-318.

Bashandy, S. A., et al. (2016). "Antioxidant potential of Spirulina platensis mitigates oxidative stress and reprotoxicity induced by sodium arsenite in male rats." <u>Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity</u> **2016**.

Becker, E. (2017). Nutritional properties of microalgae: potentials and constraints. <u>CRC Handbook of microalgal mass culture</u>, CRC press: 339-420.

Beinke, S. and S. C. Ley (2004). "Functions of NF-κB1 and NF-κB2 in immune cell biology." <u>Biochemical Journal</u> **382**(2): 393-409.

Belay, A. (1997). "Mass culture of Spirulina outdoors—the Earthrise Farms experience." <u>Spirulina</u> platensis **1**(1): 131-158.

Ben-Neriah, Y. and M. Karin (2011). "Inflammation meets cancer, with NF- κ B as the matchmaker." <u>Nature immunology</u> **12**(8): 715-723.

Benson, C. A., et al. (2009). "Guidelines for prevention and treatment opportunistic infections in HIVinfected adults and adolescents: recommendations from CDC, the National Institutes of Health, and the HIV Medicine Association/Infectious Diseases Society of America."

Betteridge, D. J. (2000). "What is oxidative stress?" <u>Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental</u> **49**(2): 3-8.

Birben, E., et al. (2012). "Oxidative stress and antioxidant defense." <u>World Allergy Organization Journal</u> **5**(1): 9-19.

Bishayee, A. (2014). "The inflammation and liver cancer." Inflammation and cancer: 401-435.

Blas-Garcia, A., et al. (2011). "Oxidative stress and mitochondrial impairment after treatment with anti-HIV drugs: clinical implications." <u>Current pharmaceutical design</u> **17**(36): 4076-4086.

Boffito, M. (2004). "From concept to care: pharmacokinetic boosting of protease inhibitors." <u>The PRN</u> <u>Notebook</u> **9**(4): 15-18.

Bonomini, F., et al. (2015). "Metabolic syndrome, aging and involvement of oxidative stress." <u>Aging and disease</u> 6(2): 109.

Borroto-Esoda, K., et al. (2006). "In vitro evaluation of the anti-HIV activity and metabolic interactions of tenofovir and emtricitabine." <u>Antiviral therapy</u> **11**(3): 377.

Borza, C., et al. (2013). "Oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation–a lipid metabolism dysfunction." <u>Lipid</u> metabolism.

Brouwer, E. S., et al. (2014). "Effects of combination antiretroviral therapies on the risk for myocardial infarction among HIV patients." <u>Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)</u> **25**(3): 406.

Brown, L. A., et al. (2014). "Efavirenz Promotes β -Secretase Expression and Increased A β 1-40, 42 via Oxidative Stress and Reduced Microglial Phagocytosis: Implications for HIV Associated Neurocognitive Disorders (HAND)." <u>PloS one</u> **9**(4): e95500.

Bukrinsky, M. I., et al. (1993). "A nuclear localization signal within HIV-1 matrix protein that governs infection of non-dividing cells." <u>Nature</u> **365**(6447): 666-669.

Canale, D., et al. (2014). "Vitamin D deficiency aggravates nephrotoxicity, hypertension and dyslipidemia caused by tenofovir: role of oxidative stress and renin-angiotensin system." <u>PloS one</u> 9(7): e103055.

Cao, Y., et al. (2013). "Impact of a tenofovir disoproxil fumarate plus ritonavir-boosted protease inhibitor-based regimen on renal function in HIV-infected individuals: a prospective, multicenter study." <u>BMC infectious diseases</u> **13**(1): 1-8.

Carr, A., et al. (1998). "Pathogenesis of HIV-1-protease inhibitor-associated peripheral lipodystrophy, hyperlipidaemia, and insulin resistance." <u>The Lancet</u> **351**(9119): 1881-1883.

Casas-Grajales, S. and P. Muriel (2015). "Antioxidants in liver health." <u>World journal of gastrointestinal</u> pharmacology and therapeutics **6**(3): 59.

Chamorro, G., et al. (2006). "Spirulina maxima pretreatment partially protects against 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2, 3, 6-tetrahydropyridine neurotoxicity." <u>Nutritional neuroscience</u> 9(5-6): 207-212.

Chan, F. K.-M., et al. (2013). Detection of necrosis by release of lactate dehydrogenase activity. <u>Immune</u> <u>Homeostasis</u>, Springer: 65-70.

Chang, J. L., et al. (2018). "Depression and suicidal ideation among HIV-infected adults receiving efavirenz versus nevirapine in Uganda: a prospective cohort study." <u>Annals of internal medicine</u> **169**(3): 146-155.

Chen, C. (2005). "MicroRNAs as oncogenes and tumor suppressors." <u>New England journal of medicine</u> **353**(17): 1768.

Chen, C., et al. (2017). "NF-kB-regulated exosomal miR-155 promotes the inflammation associated with arsenite carcinogenesis." <u>Cancer letters</u> **388**: 21-33.

Chen, J., et al. (2014). "Diabetic cardiomyopathy and its prevention by nrf2: current status." <u>Diabetes & metabolism journal</u> **38**(5): 337-345.

Chen, L., et al. (2018). "Inflammatory responses and inflammation-associated diseases in organs." <u>Oncotarget</u> 9(6): 7204.

Chen, Y.-F., et al. (2019). "Chronic nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors disrupt mitochondrial homeostasis and promote premature endothelial senescence." <u>Toxicological Sciences</u> **172**(2): 445-456.

Cheney, L., et al. (2021). "Antiretroviral Drugs Impact Autophagy with Toxic Outcomes." <u>Cells</u> **10**(4): 909.

Cherng, S.-C., et al. (2007). "Anti-inflammatory activity of c-phycocyanin in lipopolysaccharidestimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages." <u>Life sciences</u> **81**(19-20): 1431-1435. Choudhary, M., et al. (2007). "Effect of heavy metal stress on proline, malondialdehyde, and superoxide dismutase activity in the cyanobacterium Spirulina platensis-S5." <u>Ecotoxicology and environmental safety</u> **66**(2): 204-209.

Chu, W.-L., et al. (2010). "Protective effect of aqueous extract from Spirulina platensis against cell death induced by free radicals." <u>BMC complementary and alternative medicine</u> 10(1): 1-8.

Chuturgoon, A. A., et al. (2014). "Fumonisin B1 modulates expression of human cytochrome P450 1b1 in human hepatoma (Hepg2) cells by repressing Mir-27b." <u>Toxicology letters</u> **227**(1): 50-55.

Ciferri, O. (1983). "Spirulina, the edible microorganism." <u>Microbiological reviews</u> 47(4): 551.

Clapham, P. R. and R. A. Weiss (1997). "Spoilt for choice of co-receptors." Nature 388(6639): 230-231.

Clarkson, P. M. and H. S. Thompson (2000). "Antioxidants: what role do they play in physical activity and health?" <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> **72**(2): 637S-646S.

Coombes, J. S., et al. (2001). "Effects of vitamin E and α -lipoic acid on skeletal muscle contractile properties." Journal of applied physiology **90**(4): 1424-1430.

Copple, I. M., et al. (2008). "The Nrf2–Keap1 defence pathway: role in protection against drug-induced toxicity." <u>Toxicology</u> **246**(1): 24-33.

Csányi, G. (2014). Oxidative stress in cardiovascular disease, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.

Cuenda, A. and S. Rousseau (2007). "p38 MAP-kinases pathway regulation, function and role in human diseases." <u>Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research</u> **1773**(8): 1358-1375.

Cunningham, W. E., et al. (1999). "The effect of hospital experience on mortality among patients hospitalized with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in California." <u>The American journal of medicine</u> **107**(2): 137-143.

De Luca, A., et al. (2019). "Clinical use, efficacy, and durability of maraviroc for antiretroviral therapy in routine care: A European survey." <u>PloS one</u> **14**(11): e0225381.

Dehne, K. L., et al. (2016). "HIV Prevention 2020: a framework for delivery and a call for action." <u>The lancet HIV</u> **3**(7): e323-e332.

Dekkers, J. C., et al. (1996). "The role of antioxidant vitamins and enzymes in the prevention of exercise-induced muscle damage." Sports medicine 21(3): 213-238.

Dharmarajah, J., et al. (2010). "The anti-platelet effects of apocynin in mice are not mediated by inhibition of NADPH oxidase activity." <u>Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology</u> **382**(4): 377-384.

Doranz, B. J., et al. (1996). "A dual-tropic primary HIV-1 isolate that uses fusin and the β -chemokine receptors CKR-5, CKR-3, and CKR-2b as fusion cofactors." <u>Cell</u> **85**(7): 1149-1158.

Dorr, P., et al. (2005). "Maraviroc (UK-427,857), a potent, orally bioavailable, and selective small-molecule inhibitor of chemokine receptor CCR5 with broad-spectrum anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 activity." <u>Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy</u> **49**(11): 4721-4732.

dos Santos, W., et al. (2013). "Impact of progressive resistance training in Brazilian HIV patients with lipodystrophy." J Aids Clin Res 4(204): 2.

Drummond, G. R., et al. (2011). "Combating oxidative stress in vascular disease: NADPH oxidases as therapeutic targets." <u>Nature reviews Drug discovery</u> **10**(6): 453-471.

Eastone, J. A. and C. F. Decker (1997). "New-onset diabetes mellitus associated with use of protease inhibitor." <u>Annals of internal medicine</u> **127**(10): 948.

Eggler, A. L., et al. (2008). "Molecular mechanisms of natural products in chemoprevention: induction of cytoprotective enzymes by Nrf2." <u>Molecular nutrition & food research</u> **52**(S1).

Eggleton, J. S. and S. Nagalli (2020). "Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART)." <u>StatPearls</u> [Internet].

El-Baky, A., et al. (2009). "Enhancement of antioxidant production in Spirulina platensis under oxidative stress." <u>Acta physiologiae plantarum</u> **31**(3): 623-631.

Esquela-Kerscher, A. and F. J. Slack (2006). "Oncomirs—microRNAs with a role in cancer." <u>Nature</u> reviews cancer 6(4): 259-269.

Esterbauer, H. (1993). "Cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of lipid-oxidation products." <u>The American</u> journal of clinical nutrition **57**(5): 779S-786S.

Estrada, J. P., et al. (2001). "Antioxidant activity of different fractions of Spirulina platensis protean extract." <u>Il farmaco</u> **56**(5-7): 497-500.

Fehrenbach, E. and H. Northoff (2001). "Free radicals, exercise, apoptosis, and heat shock proteins." <u>Exercise immunology review</u> **7**: 66-89.

Feng, Y., et al. (1996). "HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor." <u>Science</u> **272**(5263): 872-877.

Fernandez-Fernandez, B., et al. (2011). "Tenofovir nephrotoxicity: 2011 update." <u>AIDS research and treatment</u> **2011**.

Ferruzzi, M. G. and J. Blakeslee (2007). "Digestion, absorption, and cancer preventative activity of dietary chlorophyll derivatives." <u>Nutrition Research</u> **27**(1): 1-12.

Fettiplace, A., et al. (2017). "Psychiatric symptoms in patients receiving dolutegravir." Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes (1999) **74**(4): 423.

Finamore, A., et al. (2017). "Antioxidant, immunomodulating, and microbial-modulating activities of the sustainable and ecofriendly spirulina." <u>Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity</u> **2017**.

Finaud, J., et al. (2006). "Oxidative stress." Sports medicine 36(4): 327-358.

Fisher, G. J. and J. J. Voorhees (1998). <u>Molecular mechanisms of photoaging and its prevention by</u> retinoic acid: ultraviolet irradiation induces MAP kinase signal transduction cascades that induce Ap-1-regulated matrix metalloproteinases that degrade human skin in vivo. Journal of Investigative Dermatology Symposium Proceedings, Elsevier.

Fonner, V. A., et al. (2016). "Effectiveness and safety of oral HIV preexposure prophylaxis for all populations." <u>AIDS (London, England)</u> **30**(12): 1973.

Ford, N., et al. (2018). "Benefits and risks of rapid initiation of antiretroviral therapy." <u>AIDS (London, England)</u> **32**(1): 17.

Förstermann, U. (2008). "Oxidative stress in vascular disease: causes, defense mechanisms and potential therapies." <u>Nature clinical practice Cardiovascular medicine</u> **5**(6): 338-349.

Friling, R. S., et al. (1990). "Xenobiotic-inducible expression of murine glutathione S-transferase Ya subunit gene is controlled by an electrophile-responsive element." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **87**(16): 6258-6262.

Ganser-Pornillos, B. K., et al. (2008). "The structural biology of HIV assembly." <u>Current opinion in</u> <u>structural biology</u> **18**(2): 203-217.

Gao, B., et al. (2015). "Integrated analysis of differentially expressed mRNAs and miRNAs between hepatocellular carcinoma and their matched adjacent normal liver tissues." <u>Oncology Reports</u> **34**(1): 325-333.

García-Lerma, J. G., et al. (2010). "Intermittent prophylaxis with oral truvada protects macaques from rectal SHIV infection." <u>Science translational medicine</u> **2**(14): 14ra14-14ra14.

García-Lerma, J. G., et al. (2008). "Prevention of rectal SHIV transmission in macaques by daily or intermittent prophylaxis with emtricitabine and tenofovir." <u>PLoS medicine</u> 5(2): e28.

Ge, Q., et al. (2014). "microRNAs as a new mechanism regulating adipose tissue inflammation in obesity and as a novel therapeutic strategy in the metabolic syndrome." Journal of immunology research **2014**.

Gershwin, M. E. and A. Belay (2007). Spirulina in human nutrition and health, CRC press.

Gilks, C. F., et al. (2006). "The WHO public-health approach to antiretroviral treatment against HIV in resource-limited settings." <u>The Lancet</u> **368**(9534): 505-510.

Glover, M., et al. (2014). "Overexpression of mitochondrial antioxidant manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) provides protection against AZT-or 3TC-induced endothelial dysfunction." <u>Antiviral research</u> **111**: 136-142.

Golden, T. R., et al. (2002). "Oxidative stress and aging: beyond correlation." Aging cell 1(2): 117-123.

Gonzalez, R., et al. (1999). "Anti-inflammatory activity of phycocyanin extract in acetic acid-induced colitis in rats." <u>Pharmacological research</u> **39**(1): 55-59.

Gougeon, M.-L., et al. (1996). "Programmed cell death in peripheral lymphocytes from HIV-infected persons: increased susceptibility to apoptosis of CD4 and CD8 T cells correlates with lymphocyte activation and with disease progression." The Journal of Immunology **156**(9): 3509-3520.

Grant, R. M., et al. (2010). "Preexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV prevention in men who have sex with men." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> **363**(27): 2587-2599.

Griendling, K. K., et al. (2000). "NAD (P) H oxidase: role in cardiovascular biology and disease." <u>Circulation research</u> **86**(5): 494-501.

Grigsby, I. F., et al. (2010). "Tenofovir-associated bone density loss." <u>Therapeutics and clinical risk</u> management **6**: 41.

Group, I. S. S. (2015). "Initiation of antiretroviral therapy in early asymptomatic HIV infection." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> **373**(9): 795-807.

Grundy, S. M. (2016). "Metabolic syndrome update." Trends in cardiovascular medicine 26(4): 364-373.

Gulick, R. M., et al. (2004). "Triple-nucleoside regimens versus efavirenz-containing regimens for the initial treatment of HIV-1 infection." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> **350**(18): 1850-1861.

Günthard, H. F., et al. (2016). "Antiretroviral drugs for treatment and prevention of HIV infection in adults: 2016 recommendations of the International Antiviral Society–USA panel." Jama **316**(2): 191-210.

Gusev, Y. (2008). "Computational methods for analysis of cellular functions and pathways collectively targeted by differentially expressed microRNA." <u>methods</u> **44**(1): 61-72.

Gutierrez, F., et al. (2014). "Renal tubular transporter-mediated interactions of HIV drugs: implications for patient management." <u>AIDS reviews</u> 16(4): 199-212.

Habibi, F., et al. (2016). "Alteration in inflammation-related miR-146a expression in NF-KB signaling pathway in diabetic rat hippocampus." <u>Advanced pharmaceutical bulletin</u> 6(1): 99.

Halliwell, B. (2006). "Reactive species and antioxidants. Redox biology is a fundamental theme of aerobic life." <u>Plant physiology</u> **141**(2): 312-322.

Hardy, H. and P. R. Skolnik (2004). "Enfuvirtide, a new fusion inhibitor for therapy of human immunodeficiency virus infection." <u>Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy</u> **24**(2): 198-211.

Hayashi, T., et al. (1996). "Calcium spirulan, an inhibitor of enveloped virus replication, from a bluegreen alga Spirulina platensis." Journal of natural products 59(1): 83-87.

Hazuda, D. J., et al. (2000). "Inhibitors of strand transfer that prevent integration and inhibit HIV-1 replication in cells." <u>Science</u> **287**(5453): 646-650.

Heneghan, H., et al. (2010). "Role of microRNAs in obesity and the metabolic syndrome." <u>Obesity</u> reviews **11**(5): 354-361.

Henrikson, R. (1989). "Earth food spirulina." Laguna Beach, CA: Ronore Enterprises, Inc: 187.

Hernández-Corona, A., et al. (2002). "Antiviral activity of Spirulina maxima against herpes simplex virus type 2." <u>Antiviral Research</u> **56**(3): 279-285.

Herrero, M., et al. (2007). "Characterization by high-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry of the lipid fraction of Spirulina platensis pressurized ethanol extract." <u>Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry: An International Journal Devoted to the Rapid Dissemination of Up-to-the-Minute Research in Mass Spectrometry</u> **21**(11): 1729-1738.

Hoesel, B. and J. A. Schmid (2013). "The complexity of NF- κ B signaling in inflammation and cancer." <u>Molecular cancer</u> **12**(1): 1-15.

Hoffmann, C., et al. (2017). "Higher rates of neuropsychiatric adverse events leading to dolutegravir discontinuation in women and older patients." <u>HIV medicine</u> 18(1): 56-63.

Hong, S. Y., et al. (2015). "Population-based surveillance of HIV drug resistance emerging on treatment and associated factors at sentinel antiretroviral therapy sites in Namibia." Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes (1999) **68**(4): 463.

Hoseini, S. M., et al. (2013). "Nutritional and medical applications of spirulina microalgae." <u>Mini</u> reviews in medicinal chemistry **13**(8): 1231-1237.

Hosikian, A., et al. (2010). "Chlorophyll extraction from microalgae: a review on the process engineering aspects." International journal of chemical engineering **2010**.

Hu, Z. and Z. Liu (2001). "Determination and purification of beta-carotene in Spirulina maximum." Se <u>pu= Chinese Journal of Chromatography</u> 19(1): 85-87.

Huang, H.-C., et al. (2002). "Phosphorylation of Nrf2 at Ser40 by protein kinase C regulates antioxidant response element-mediated transcription." Journal of Biological Chemistry.

Huang, P. L. (2009). "A comprehensive definition for metabolic syndrome." Disease models & mechanisms **2**(5-6): 231-237.

Huang, Y., et al. (2015). "The complexity of the Nrf2 pathway: beyond the antioxidant response." <u>The</u> <u>Journal of nutritional biochemistry</u> 26(12): 1401-1413.

Huang, Y., et al. (2014). "Involvement of inflammation-related miR-155 and miR-146a in diabetic nephropathy: implications for glomerular endothelial injury." <u>BMC nephrology</u> **15**(1): 1-12.

Ishii, T., et al. (2000). "Transcription factor Nrf2 coordinately regulates a group of oxidative stress-inducible genes in macrophages." Journal of Biological Chemistry **275**(21): 16023-16029.

Itoh, K., et al. (1995). "Cloning and characterization of a novel erythroid cell-derived CNC family transcription factor heterodimerizing with the small Maf family proteins." <u>Molecular and cellular biology</u> **15**(8): 4184-4193.

Itoh, K., et al. (1999). "Keap1 represses nuclear activation of antioxidant responsive elements by Nrf2 through binding to the amino-terminal Neh2 domain." <u>Genes & development</u> **13**(1): 76-86.

Iyer Uma, M., et al. (1999). "GLYCEMIC AND LIPEMIC RESPONSES OF SELECTED SPIRULINA-SUPPLEMENTED RICE-BASED RECIPES IN NORMAL SUBJECTS." <u>Age (years)</u> 22: 1.8.

Izadi, M. and M. Fazilati (2018). "Extraction and purification of phycocyanin from spirulina platensis and evaluating its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity." <u>Asian Journal of Green Chemistry</u> **2**(4. pp. 281-394): 364-379.

Jadaun, P., et al. (2018). "Spirulina platensis prevents high glucose-induced oxidative stress mitochondrial damage mediated apoptosis in cardiomyoblasts." <u>Cytotechnology</u> **70**(2): 523-536.

Jaime, L., et al. (2005). "Separation and characterization of antioxidants from Spirulina platensis microalga combining pressurized liquid extraction, TLC, and HPLC-DAD." Journal of separation science **28**(16): 2111-2119.

Jansson, M. D. and A. H. Lund (2012). "MicroRNA and cancer." Molecular oncology 6(6): 590-610.

Jenkins, R. R. (1988). "Free radical chemistry." Sports medicine 5(3): 156-170.

Jensen, G. S., et al. (2015). "Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of an aqueous cyanophyta extract derived from arthrospira platensis: contribution to bioactivities by the non-phycocyanin aqueous fraction." Journal of medicinal food **18**(5): 535-541.

Jiang, F., et al. (2006). "NO modulates NADPH oxidase function via heme oxygenase-1 in human endothelial cells." <u>Hypertension</u> **48**(5): 950-957.

Jivanka Mohan, T. G. a. A. C. (2021). "A Critical Review of the Biochemical Mechanisms and Epigenetic Modifications in HIV- and Antiretroviral-Induced Metabolic Syndrome." <u>Int. J. Mol. Sci.</u> 2021, 22(21).

Judkins, C. P., et al. (2010). "Direct evidence of a role for Nox2 in superoxide production, reduced nitric oxide bioavailability, and early atherosclerotic plaque formation in ApoE–/– mice." <u>American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology</u> **298**(1): H24-H32.

Kabel, A. M. (2014). "Free radicals and antioxidants: role of enzymes and nutrition." <u>World Journal of</u> <u>Nutrition and Health</u> **2**(3): 35-38.

Kahana, S. Y., et al. (2013). "A meta-analysis of adherence to antiretroviral therapy and virologic responses in HIV-infected children, adolescents, and young adults." <u>AIDS and Behavior</u> **17**(1): 41-60.

Kakuda, T. N. (2000). "Pharmacology of nucleoside and nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitorinduced mitochondrial toxicity." <u>Clinical therapeutics</u> 22(6): 685-708.

Kamata, K., et al. (2014). "Spirulina-templated metal microcoils with controlled helical structures for THz electromagnetic responses." <u>Scientific reports</u> 4(1): 1-7.

Kamble, S. P., et al. (2013). "Extraction and purification of C-phycocyanin from dry Spirulina powder and evaluating its antioxidant, anticoagulation and prevention of DNA damage activity." Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science **3**(8): 149.

Kannan, M., et al. (2014). "Phytochemical screening and antioxidant activity of marine algae Gracilaria corticata and Spirulina platensis." Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research 6(11): 312-318.

Karkos, P., et al. (2011). "Spirulina in clinical practice: evidence-based human applications." <u>Evidence-based complementary and alternative medicine</u> **2011**.

Karlsson Hedestam, G. B., et al. (2008). "The challenges of eliciting neutralizing antibodies to HIV-1 and to influenza virus." <u>Nature Reviews Microbiology</u> 6(2): 143-155.

Kaufman, B. A., et al. (2003). "A function for the mitochondrial chaperonin Hsp60 in the structure and transmission of mitochondrial DNA nucleoids in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>The Journal of cell biology</u> **163**(3): 457-461.

Kelesidis, T. and R. J. Landovitz (2011). "Preexposure prophylaxis for HIV prevention." <u>Current HIV/AIDS Reports</u> **8**(2): 94-103.

Khan, M., et al. (2006). "C-phycocyanin ameliorates doxorubicin-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis in adult rat cardiomyocytes." Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology **47**(1): 9-20.

Khan, Z., et al. (2005). "Nutritional and therapeutic potential of Spirulina." <u>Current pharmaceutical biotechnology</u> **6**(5): 373-379.

Kim, J.-H., et al. (2008). "The non-provitamin A carotenoid, lutein, inhibits NF- κ B-dependent gene expression through redox-based regulation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/PTEN/Akt and NF- κ B-inducing kinase pathways: role of H2O2 in NF- κ B activation." <u>Free Radical Biology and Medicine</u> **45**(6): 885-896.

Kitahata, M. M., et al. (1996). "Physicians' experience with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome as a factor in patients' survival." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> **334**(11): 701-707.

Kobayashi, M. and M. Yamamoto (2006). "Nrf2-Keap1 regulation of cellular defense mechanisms against electrophiles and reactive oxygen species." <u>Advances in enzyme regulation</u> **46**(1): 113-140.

Konícková, R., et al. (2014). "Anti-cancer effects of blue-green alga Spirulina platensis, a natural source of bilirubin-like tetrapyrrolic compounds." <u>Annals of Hepatology</u> **13**(2): 273-283.

Kroemer, G., et al. (1998). "The mitochondrial death/life regulator in apoptosis and necrosis." <u>Annual</u> review of physiology **60**(1): 619-642.

Lassegue, B. and R. E. Clempus (2003). "Vascular NAD (P) H oxidases: specific features, expression, and regulation." <u>American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology</u> **285**(2): R277-R297.

Lassègue, B., et al. (2012). "Biochemistry, physiology, and pathophysiology of NADPH oxidases in the cardiovascular system." <u>Circulation research</u> **110**(10): 1364-1390.

Lennox, J. L., et al. (2014). "Efficacy and tolerability of 3 nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor– sparing antiretroviral regimens for treatment-naive volunteers infected with HIV-1: a randomized, controlled equivalence trial." <u>Annals of internal medicine</u> **161**(7): 461-471.

Lewis, B. P., et al. (2005). "Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets." <u>cell</u> **120**(1): 15-20.

Lima, F. A. V., et al. (2017). "Neuroprotective activities of Spirulina platensis in the 6-OHDA model of Parkinson's disease are related to its anti-inflammatory effects." <u>Neurochemical research</u> **42**(12): 3390-3400.

Linnane, A. W., et al. (2002). "Human aging and global function of coenzyme Q10." <u>Annals of the New</u> <u>York Academy of Sciences</u> **959**(1): 396-411.

Liu, Q., et al. (2016). "Medical application of Spirulina platensis derived C-phycocyanin." <u>Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine</u> **2016**.

Loven, D., et al. (1986). "Effect of insulin and oral glutathione on glutathione levels and superoxide dismutase activities in organs of rats with streptozocin-induced diabetes." <u>Diabetes</u> **35**(5): 503-507.

Lü, J. M., et al. (2010). "Chemical and molecular mechanisms of antioxidants: experimental approaches and model systems." Journal of cellular and molecular medicine **14**(4): 840-860.

Lucas, G. M., et al. (2014). "Clinical practice guideline for the management of chronic kidney disease in patients infected with HIV: 2014 update by the HIV Medicine Association of the Infectious Diseases Society of America." <u>Clinical Infectious Diseases</u> **59**(9): e96-e138.

Luedde, T. and R. F. Schwabe (2011). "NF- κ B in the liver—linking injury, fibrosis and hepatocellular carcinoma." <u>Nature reviews Gastroenterology & hepatology</u> **8**(2): 108-118.

Luescher-Mattli, M. (2003). "Algae, a possible source for new drugs in the treatment of HIV and other viral diseases." <u>Current Medicinal Chemistry-Anti-Infective Agents</u> 2(3): 219-225.

Lyseng-Williamson, K. A., et al. (2005). "Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate." Drugs 65(3): 413-432.

Maher, J. M., et al. (2005). "Induction of the multidrug resistance-associated protein family of transporters by chemical activators of receptor-mediated pathways in mouse liver." <u>Drug metabolism</u> and disposition **33**(7): 956-962.

Mahy, M., et al. (2019). "HIV estimates through 2018: data for decision-making." <u>AIDS (London, England)</u> **33**(Suppl 3): S203.

Manconia, M., et al. (2009). "Phycocyanin liposomes for topical anti-inflammatory activity: in-vitro invivo studies." Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology **61**(4): 423-430.

Manda, K. R., et al. (2011). "Highly active antiretroviral therapy drug combination induces oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in immortalized human blood–brain barrier endothelial cells." <u>Free</u> Radical Biology and Medicine **50**(7): 801-810.

Mao, T., et al. (2005). "Effects of a Spirulina-based dietary supplement on cytokine production from allergic rhinitis patients." Journal of Medicinal Food 8(1): 27-30.

Margot, N. A., et al. (2009). "Development of HIV-1 drug resistance through 144 weeks in antiretroviralnaive subjects on emtricitabine, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate, and efavirenz compared with lamivudine/zidovudine and efavirenz in study GS-01-934." <u>JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune</u> <u>Deficiency Syndromes</u> **52**(2): 209-221.

Marková, I., et al. (2020). "Anti-angiogenic effects of the blue-green alga Arthrospira platensis on pancreatic cancer." Journal of cellular and molecular medicine **24**(4): 2402-2415.

Martin, A. M., et al. (2004). "Predisposition to abacavir hypersensitivity conferred by HLA-B* 5701 and a haplotypic Hsp70-Hom variant." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **101**(12): 4180-4185.

Maserati, R., et al. (2010). "Emerging mutations at virological failure of HAART combinations containing tenofovir and lamivudine or emtricitabine." <u>Aids</u> **24**(7): 1013-1018.

Masiá, M., et al. (2007). "Influence of antiretroviral therapy on oxidative stress and cardiovascular risk: a prospective cross-sectional study in HIV-infected patients." <u>Clinical Therapeutics</u> **29**(7): 1448-1455.

Maziere, P. and A. J. Enright (2007). "Prediction of microRNA targets." <u>Drug discovery today</u> **12**(11-12): 452-458.

McCarty, M. F. (2007). ""Iatrogenic Gilbert syndrome"—A strategy for reducing vascular and cancer risk by increasing plasma unconjugated bilirubin." <u>Medical hypotheses</u> **69**(5): 974-994.

McClelland, A. D. and P. Kantharidis (2014). "microRNA in the development of diabetic complications." <u>Clinical science</u> **126**(2): 95-110.

McColl, D. J., et al. (2011). "Reduced emergence of the M184V/I resistance mutation when antiretroviral-naive subjects use emtricitabine versus lamivudine in regimens composed of two NRTIs plus the NNRTI efavirenz." <u>HIV clinical trials</u> **12**(2): 61-70.

McCord, J. M. and I. Fridovich (1988). "Superoxide dismutase: the first twenty years (1968–1988)." <u>Free Radical Biology and Medicine</u> **5**(5-6): 363-369.

McCormack, S., et al. (2016). "Pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent the acquisition of HIV-1 infection (PROUD): effectiveness results from the pilot phase of a pragmatic open-label randomised trial." <u>The Lancet</u> **387**(10013): 53-60.

Messadi, D. V., et al. (2004). "Activation of NFκB signal pathways in keloid fibroblasts." <u>Archives of dermatological research</u> **296**(3): 125-133.

Miao, M., et al. (2020). "Clinical significance of chemokine receptor antagonists." <u>Expert opinion on drug metabolism & toxicology</u> **16**(1): 11-30.

Milián, L., et al. (2017). "Tenofovir-induced toxicity in renal proximal tubular epithelial cells: involvement of mitochondria." <u>Aids</u> **31**(12): 1679-1684.

Miranda, M., et al. (1998). "Antioxidant activity of the microalga Spirulina maxima." <u>Brazilian Journal</u> of Medical and biological research **31**(8): 1075-1079.

Misbahuddin, M., et al. (2006). "Efficacy of spirulina extract plus zinc in patients of chronic arsenic poisoning: a randomized placebo-controlled study." <u>Clinical Toxicology</u> **44**(2): 135-141.

Mitsuishi, Y., et al. (2012). "Nrf2 redirects glucose and glutamine into anabolic pathways in metabolic reprogramming." <u>Cancer cell</u> **22**(1): 66-79.

Mohan, J., et al. (2021). "A Critical Review of the Biochemical Mechanisms and Epigenetic Modifications in HIV- and Antiretroviral-Induced Metabolic Syndrome." Int J Mol Sci **22**(21).

Mohan, J., et al. (2021). "A Critical Review of the Biochemical Mechanisms and Epigenetic Modifications in HIV- and Antiretroviral-Induced Metabolic Syndrome." <u>International Journal of Molecular Sciences</u> **22**(21): 12020.

Moi, P., et al. (1994). "Isolation of NF-E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), a NF-E2-like basic leucine zipper transcriptional activator that binds to the tandem NF-E2/AP1 repeat of the beta-globin locus control region." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **91**(21): 9926-9930.

Molina, J.-M., et al. (2015). "On-demand preexposure prophylaxis in men at high risk for HIV-1 infection." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **373**: 2237-2246.

Mondal, D., et al. (2004). "HAART drugs induce oxidative stress in human endothelial cells and increase endothelial recruitment of mononuclear cells." <u>Cardiovascular toxicology</u> **4**(3): 287-302.

Montezano, A. C. and R. M. Touyz (2012). "Reactive oxygen species and endothelial function–role of nitric oxide synthase uncoupling and Nox family nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidases." <u>Basic & clinical pharmacology & toxicology</u> **110**(1): 87-94.

Morgan, M. J. and Z.-g. Liu (2011). "Crosstalk of reactive oxygen species and NF-κB signaling." <u>Cell</u> research **21**(1): 103-115.

Moss, D. M., et al. (2014). "The role of drug transporters in the kidney: lessons from tenofovir." <u>Frontiers</u> in pharmacology **5**: 248.

Motohashi, H. and M. Yamamoto (2004). "Nrf2–Keap1 defines a physiologically important stress response mechanism." <u>Trends in molecular medicine</u> **10**(11): 549-557.

Mugwanya, K. K., et al. (2017). "Safety of oral tenofovir disoproxil fumarate-based HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis use in lactating HIV-uninfected women." <u>Expert opinion on drug safety</u> **16**(7): 867-871.

Mujugira, A., et al. (2020). "Lamivudine/Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate is an Appropriate PrEP Regimen." <u>Drugs</u> **80**(18): 1881-1888.

Nasirian, F., et al. (2018). "Effects of Spirulina platensis microalgae on antioxidant and antiinflammatory factors in diabetic rats." <u>Diabetes, metabolic syndrome and obesity: targets and therapy</u> **11**: 375.

Nawrocka, D., et al. (2017). "Spirulina platensis improves mitochondrial function impaired by elevated oxidative stress in adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells (ASCs) and intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), and enhances insulin sensitivity in equine metabolic syndrome (EMS) horses." <u>Marine drugs</u> **15**(8): 237.

Nelson, M. and M. Schiavone (2004). "Emtricitabine (FTC) for the treatment of HIV infection." International journal of clinical practice **58**(5): 504-510.

Ngondi, J. L., et al. (2006). "The effect of different combination therapies on oxidative stress markers in HIV infected patients in Cameroon." <u>AIDS Research and Therapy</u> 3(1): 1-7.

Ngondi, J. L., et al. (2006). "The effect of different combination therapies on oxidative stress markers in HIV infected patients in Cameroon." <u>AIDS Research and Therapy</u> 3(1): 19.

Nguyen, T., et al. (2009). "The Nrf2-antioxidant response element signaling pathway and its activation by oxidative stress." Journal of biological chemistry **284**(20): 13291-13295.

Nguyen, T., et al. (2003). "Regulatory mechanisms controlling gene expression mediated by the antioxidant response element." <u>Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology</u> **43**(1): 233-260.

National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA). What is HAART? 2012. Available online: https://www.https://www.drugabuse.gov/drugabuse.gov/publications/research-reports/hivaids/what-haart (accessed on 30 November 2021).

Niki, E., et al. (2005). "Lipid peroxidation: mechanisms, inhibition, and biological effects." <u>Biochemical</u> and biophysical research communications **338**(1): 668-676.

Nishikori, M. (2005). "Classical and alternative NF- κ B activation pathways and their roles in lymphoid malignancies." Journal of clinical and experimental hematopathology **45**(1): 15-24.

Noori, S. (2012). "An overview of oxidative stress and antioxidant defensive system." <u>Open access</u> scientific reports **1**(8): 1-9.

Ohno, M., et al. (1998). "Nucleocytoplasmic transport: the last 200 nanometers." Cell 92(3): 327-336.

World Health Organization (WHO) (2014). <u>Guidelines on post-exposure prophylaxis for HIV and the</u> use of co-trimoxazole prophylaxis for HIV-related infections among adults, adolescents and children: recommendations for a public health approach: December 2014 supplement to the 2013 consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection, World Health Organization. Oriquat, G. A., et al. (2019). "Improving hepatic mitochondrial biogenesis as a postulated mechanism for the antidiabetic effect of Spirulina platensis in comparison with metformin." <u>Applied Physiology</u>, <u>Nutrition, and Metabolism</u> **44**(4): 357-364.

Park, B. K., et al. (1995). "The role of cytochrome P450 enzymes in hepatic and extrahepatic human drug toxicity." <u>Pharmacology & therapeutics</u> **68**(3): 385-424.

Patel, A., et al. (2006). "Antioxidant potential of C-phycocyanin isolated from cyanobacterial species Lyngbya, Phormidium and Spirulina spp."

Patel, K. K., et al. (2010). "Tenofovir-associated renal dysfunction in clinical practice: An observational cohort from western India." <u>Indian journal of sexually transmitted diseases and AIDS</u> **31**(1): 30.

Patterson, K. B., et al. (2011). "Penetration of tenofovir and emtricitabine in mucosal tissues: implications for prevention of HIV-1 transmission." <u>Science translational medicine</u> 3(112): 112re114-112re114.

Payne, J. F., et al. (1987). "Review and perspective on the use of mixed-function oxygenase enzymes in biological monitoring." <u>Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Comparative Pharmacology</u> **86**(2): 233-245.

Pelizer, L. H., et al. (2003). "Influence of inoculum age and concentration in Spirulina platensis cultivation." Journal of food engineering **56**(4): 371-375.

Peng, L. and X. Zhong (2015). "Epigenetic regulation of drug metabolism and transport." <u>Acta pharmaceutica sinica B</u> **5**(2): 106-112.

Pham-Huy, L. A., et al. (2008). "Free radicals, antioxidants in disease and health." <u>International journal</u> of biomedical science: IJBS **4**(2): 89.

Phaniendra, A., et al. (2015). "Free radicals: properties, sources, targets, and their implication in various diseases." Indian journal of clinical biochemistry 30(1): 11-26.

Piantadosi, C. A., et al. (2008). "Heme oxygenase-1 regulates cardiac mitochondrial biogenesis via Nrf2mediated transcriptional control of nuclear respiratory factor-1." <u>Circulation research</u> **103**(11): 1232-1240.

Plattner, F. and J. A. Bibb (2012). Serine and threonine phosphorylation. <u>Basic Neurochemistry</u>, Elsevier: 467-492.

Post, F. A., et al. (2010). "Randomized comparison of renal effects, efficacy, and safety with once-daily abacavir/lamivudine versus tenofovir/emtricitabine, administered with efavirenz, in antiretroviral-naive, HIV-1–infected adults: 48-week results from the ASSERT study." <u>JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune</u> <u>Deficiency Syndromes</u> **55**(1): 49-57.

Powers, S. K. and S. L. Lennon (1999). "Analysis of cellular responses to free radicals: focus on exercise and skeletal muscle." <u>Proceedings of the Nutrition Society</u> **58**(4): 1025-1033.

Prabakaran, G., et al. (2020). "Extraction and characterization of phycocyanin from Spirulina platensis and evaluation of its anticancer, antidiabetic and antiinflammatory effect." <u>International Journal of Biological Macromolecules</u> **153**: 256-263.

Prevention, H. (2020). "Road Map: Accelerating HIV prevention to reduce new infections by 75%." <u>UNAIDS, editor. Geneva, Switzerland</u>.

Rackal, J. M., et al. (2011). "Provider training and experience for people living with HIV/AIDS." <u>Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews</u>(6).

Rakhmanina, N. Y. and C. J. la Porte (2012). "Therapeutic drug monitoring of antiretroviral drugs in the management of human immunodeficiency virus infection." <u>Therapeutic Drug Monitoring: Newer Drugs</u> and Biomarkers: 373.

Ramana, K. V., et al. (2013). Lipid peroxidation products in human health and disease, Hindawi. 2013.

Reid, M. B. (2001). "Invited Review: redox modulation of skeletal muscle contraction: what we know and what we don't." Journal of applied physiology **90**(2): 724-731.

Release, S. Mid-Year Population Estimates. 2021, Statistics South Africa. Available online: http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0302/P03022021.pdf (accessed on 18 November 2021).

Remirez, D., et al. (2002). "Influence of C-phycocyanin on hepatocellular parameters related to liver oxidative stress and Kupffer cell functioning." <u>Inflammation research</u> **51**(7): 351-356.

Remirez, D., et al. (2002). "Role of histamine in the inhibitory effects of phycocyanin in experimental models of allergic inflammatory response." <u>Mediators of Inflammation</u> **11**.

Repetto, M., et al. (2012). "Lipid peroxidation: chemical mechanism, biological implications and analytical determination." Lipid peroxidation 1: 3-30.

Requena, J. R., et al. (1996). "Lipoxidation products as biomarkers of oxidative damage to proteins during lipid peroxidation reactions." <u>Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation</u> **11**(supp5): 48-53.

Rimbach, G., et al. (1999). "Methods to assess free radicals and oxidative stress in biological systems." Archives of Animal Nutrition **52**(3): 203-222.

Riss, J., et al. (2007). "Phycobiliprotein C-phycocyanin from Spirulina platensis is powerfully responsible for reducing oxidative stress and NADPH oxidase expression induced by an atherogenic diet in hamsters." J. of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **55**(19): 7962-7967.

Rivera, J., et al. (2010). "Nox isoforms in vascular pathophysiology: insights from transgenic and knockout mouse models." <u>Redox Report</u> **15**(2): 50-63.

Robbins, G. K., et al. (2003). "Comparison of sequential three-drug regimens as initial therapy for HIV-1 infection." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> **349**(24): 2293-2303.

Romay, C., et al. (1998). "Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of C-phycocyanin from bluegreen algae." Inflammation research **47**(1): 36-41.

Romay, C., et al. (2001). "Effects of phycocyanin extract on tumor necrosis factor- α and nitrite levels in serum of mice treated with endotoxin." <u>Arzneimittelforschung</u> **51**(09): 733-736.

Romay, C., et al. (2003). "C-phycocyanin: a biliprotein with antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects." Current protein and peptide science 4(3): 207-216.

Romay, C., et al. (1998). "Further studies on anti-inflammatory activity of phycocyanin in some animal models of inflammation." Inflammation research **47**(8): 334-338.

Rossi, E., et al. (2021). "Structure, function, and interactions of the HIV-1 capsid protein." Life 11(2): 100.

Rouhanizadeh, M., et al. (2005). "Oxidized-1-palmitoyl-2-arachidonoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphorylcholine induces vascular endothelial superoxide production: implication of NADPH oxidase." Free Radical Biology and Medicine **39**(11): 1512-1522.

Rushmore, T. H., et al. (1991). "The antioxidant responsive element. Activation by oxidative stress and identification of the DNA consensus sequence required for functional activity." Journal of Biological Chemistry **266**(18): 11632-11639.

Saag, M. S., et al. (2018). "Antiretroviral drugs for treatment and prevention of HIV infection in adults: 2018 recommendations of the International Antiviral Society–USA Panel." Jama **320**(4): 379-396.

Sax, P. E., et al. (2009). "Abacavir–lamivudine versus tenofovir–emtricitabine for initial HIV-1 therapy." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> **361**(23): 2230-2240.

Saxena, P., et al. (1983). "Cultivation of Spirulina in sewage for poultry feed." <u>Experientia</u> **39**(10): 1077-1083.

Schafer, J. J. and K. E. Squires (2010). "Integrase inhibitors: a novel class of antiretroviral agents." <u>Annals of Pharmacotherapy</u> 44(1): 145-156.

Schinazi, R. F., et al. (1993). "Characterization of human immunodeficiency viruses resistant to oxathiolane-cytosine nucleosides." <u>Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy</u> **37**(4): 875-881.

Schinazi, R. F., et al. (1992). "Selective inhibition of human immunodeficiency viruses by racemates and enantiomers of cis-5-fluoro-1-[2-(hydroxymethyl)-1, 3-oxathiolan-5-yl] cytosine." <u>Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy</u> **36**(11): 2423-2431.

Schmilz, M. L. (1995). "Function and activation of the transcription factor NF-KB in the response to toxins and pathogens." <u>Toxicology letters</u> **82**: 407-411.

Schreck, R., et al. (1991). "Reactive oxygen intermediates as apparently widely used messengers in the activation of the NF-kappa B transcription factor and HIV-1." <u>The EMBO journal</u> **10**(8): 2247-2258.

SEN, C. K. (2001). "Antioxidant and redox regulation of cellular signaling: introduction." <u>Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise</u> **33**(3): 368-370.

Sen, C. K. and L. Packer (1996). "Antioxidant and redox regulation of gene transcription." <u>The FASEB</u> journal **10**(7): 709-720.

Serban, M.-C., et al. (2016). "A systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of Spirulina supplementation on plasma lipid concentrations." <u>Clinical Nutrition</u> **35**(4): 842-851.

Shafer, R. and D. Vuitton (1999). "Highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) for the treatment of infection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1." <u>Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy</u> **53**(2): 73-86.

Shafi, T., et al. (2011). "Ritonavir-induced acute kidney injury: kidney biopsy findings and review of literature." <u>Clinical nephrology</u> **75**(0 1): 60.

Sharma, A., et al. (2018). "Oxidative stress and NLRP3-inflammasome activity as significant drivers of diabetic cardiovascular complications: therapeutic implications." <u>Frontiers in physiology</u> **9**: 114.

Sharma, B. (2011). "Anti-HIV-1 drug toxicity and management strategies." <u>Neurobehavioral HIV</u> <u>Medicine</u> **3**: 27-40.

Shekharam, K. M., et al. (1987). "Carbohydrate composition and characterization of two unusual sugars from the blue green alga Spirulina platensis." <u>Phytochemistry</u> **26**(8): 2267-2269.

Shih, C.-M., et al. (2009). "Antiinflammatory and antihyperalgesic activity of C-phycocyanin." <u>Anesthesia & Analgesia</u> **108**(4): 1303-1310.

Sierra, S., et al. (2005). "Basics of the virology of HIV-1 and its replication." Journal of clinical virology **34**(4): 233-244.

Sies, H. (1991). "Role of reactive oxygen species in biological processes." <u>Klinische Wochenschrift</u> **69**(21): 965-968.

Sliwa, K., et al. (2010). "Current state of knowledge on aetiology, diagnosis, management, and therapy of peripartum cardiomyopathy: a position statement from the Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology Working Group on peripartum cardiomyopathy." <u>European journal of heart failure</u> **12**(8): 767-778.

Small, E. M., et al. (2010). "MicroRNAs add a new dimension to cardiovascular disease." <u>Circulation</u> **121**(8): 1022-1032.

Society, E. A. C. (2011). "European AIDS clinical society guidelines. Version 6."

Soliman, E. Z., et al. (2011). "Boosted protease inhibitors and the electrocardiographic measures of QT and PR durations." <u>AIDS (London, England)</u> **25**(3): 367.

Solst, S. R., et al. (2017). "Inhibition of Mitochondrial Pyruvate Transport Selectively Sensitizes Cancer Cells to Metabolic Oxidative Stress." <u>Free Radical Biology and Medicine</u> **112**: 102.

Spinner, C. D., et al. (2016). "HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP): a review of current knowledge of oral systemic HIV PrEP in humans." Infection **44**(2): 151-158.

Sukalski, K. A., et al. (1993). "Decreased susceptibility of liver mitochondria from diabetic rats to oxidative damage and associated increase in α -tocopherol." <u>Free Radical Biology and Medicine</u> **14**(1): 57-65.

Sumimoto, H., et al. (2005). "Molecular composition and regulation of the Nox family NAD (P) H oxidases." <u>Biochemical and biophysical research communications</u> **338**(1): 677-686.

Sun, J.-y., et al. (2019). "Selenium-containing protein from selenium-enriched spirulina platensis attenuates cisplatin-induced apoptosis in MC3T3-E1 Mouse preosteoblast by inhibiting mitochondrial dysfunction and ROS-Mediated oxidative damage." <u>Frontiers in physiology</u> **9**: 1907.

Szaleczky, E., et al. (1999). "Alterations in enzymatic antioxidant defence in diabetes mellitus– a rational approach." <u>Postgraduate medical journal</u> **75**(879): 13-17.

Tainer, J. A., et al. (1983). "Structure and mechanism of copper, zinc superoxide dismutase." <u>Nature</u> **306**(5940): 284-287.

Tavazzi, B., et al. (2000). "Energy metabolism and lipid peroxidation of human erythrocytes as a function of increased oxidative stress." <u>European journal of biochemistry</u> **267**(3): 684-689.

Thomas, S. R., et al. (2008). "Redox control of endothelial function and dysfunction: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities." <u>Antioxidants & redox signaling</u> **10**(10): 1713-1766.

Thompson, M. A., et al. (2012). "Antiretroviral treatment of adult HIV infection: 2012 recommendations of the International Antiviral Society–USA panel." Jama **308**(4): 387-402.

Touger, R. and B. R. Wood (2019). "A review of telehealth innovations for HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)." <u>Current HIV/AIDS Reports</u> **16**(1): 113-119.

Turner, B. G. and M. F. Summers (1999). "Structural biology of HIV." Journal of molecular biology **285**(1): 1-32.

Turner, S. (1997). "Molecular systematics of oxygenic photosynthetic bacteria." <u>Origins of Algae and their Plastids</u>: 13-52.

UNAIDS-Global HIV & AIDS Statistics—2020 Fact Sheet. Available online: https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/fact-sheet (accessed on 11 September 2021).

UNAIDS. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). Global Report: UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2021.; Global HIV & AIDS statistics: Fact sheet; UNAIDS: Geneva, Switzerland, 2021.

Veal, G. J. and D. J. Back (1995). "Metabolism of zidovudine." <u>General pharmacology: The vascular system</u> **26**(7): 1469-1475.

Venhoff, N., et al. (2007). "Mitochondrial toxicity of tenofovir, emtricitabine and abacavir alone and in combination with additional nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors." <u>Antiviral therapy</u> **12**(7): 1075.

von Schwedler, U., et al. (1994). "The nuclear localization signal of the matrix protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 allows the establishment of infection in macrophages and quiescent T lymphocytes." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **91**(15): 6992-6996.

Vonshak, A. (1997). <u>Spirulina platensis arthrospira: physiology, cell-biology and biotechnology</u>, CRC press.

Wang, X., et al. (2009). "Highly active antiretroviral therapy drugs inhibit in vitro cholesterol efflux from human macrophage-derived foam cells." <u>Laboratory investigation</u> **89**(12): 1355-1363.

Weston, C. R. and R. J. Davis (2002). "The JNK signal transduction pathway." <u>Current opinion in</u> genetics & development **12**(1): 14-21.

Whitton, B. A. (1992). Diversity, ecology, and taxonomy of the cyanobacteria. <u>Photosynthetic</u> prokaryotes, Springer: 1-51.

WHO, HIV/AIDS. 2021. Available online: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hiv-aids. (accessed on 30 No-vember 2021).

Wilk, T. and S. D. Fuller (1999). "Towards the structure of the human immunodeficiency virus: divide and conquer?" <u>Current opinion in structural biology</u> 9(2): 231-243.

Włodarski, A., et al. (2020). "The Role of microRNAs in Metabolic Syndrome-Related Oxidative Stress." <u>International Journal of Molecular Sciences</u> **21**(18): 6902.

Wohaieb, S. A. and D. V. Godin (1987). "Alterations in free radical tissue-defense mechanisms in streptozocin-induced diabetes in rat: effects of insulin treatment." <u>Diabetes</u> **36**(9): 1014-1018.

Xie, J., et al. (2013). "Negative regulation of inflammation by SIRT1." <u>Pharmacological Research</u> **67**(1): 60-67.

Xu, T., et al. (2019). "Oxidative stress in cell death and cardiovascular diseases." <u>Oxidative medicine</u> and cellular longevity **2019**.

Yeligar, S. M., et al. (2015). HIV Infection Induces NADPH Oxidase Expression In Alveolar Macrophages Of Otherwise Healthy Subjects. <u>C55. HIV-ASSOCIATED LUNG DISEASES AND INFECTIONS</u>, American Thoracic Society: A4720-A4720.

Yeni, P. (2006). "Update on HAART in HIV." Journal of Hepatology 44: S100-S103.

Yu, H., et al. (2009). "STATs in cancer inflammation and immunity: a leading role for STAT3." <u>Nature</u> reviews cancer 9(11): 798-809.

Zash, R., et al. (2018). "Neural-tube defects with dolutegravir treatment from the time of conception." <u>The New England journal of medicine</u> **379**(10): 979.

Zeke, A., et al. (2016). "JNK signaling: regulation and functions based on complex protein-protein partnerships." <u>Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews</u> **80**(3): 793-835.

Zheng, J., et al. (2013). "Phycocyanin and phycocyanobilin from Spirulina platensis protect against diabetic nephropathy by inhibiting oxidative stress." <u>American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory</u>, <u>Integrative and Comparative Physiology</u> **304**(2): R110-R120.

CHAPTER THREE

Spirulina platensis ameliorates oxidative stress associated with antiretroviral drugs in HepG2 cells

Thabani Sibiya¹, Terisha Ghazi¹, Jivanka Mohan¹, Savania Nagiah^{1,2}, Anil A. Chuturgoon¹, *

¹Discipline of Medical Biochemistry and Chemical Pathology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Howard College Campus, Durban 4013, South Africa

²Department of Human Biology, Medical Programme, Faculty of Health Sciences, Nelson Mandela University Missionvale, Bethelsdorp, Port Elizabeth, South Africa, 6059

*Corresponding author: Professor Anil A Chuturgoon, Discipline of Medical Biochemistry and Chemical Pathology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Howard College Campus, Durban 4013, South Africa. Telephone: +27312604404. Email: <u>chutur@ukzn.ac.za</u>

Grant sponsor: National Research Foundation Innovation Doctoral Scholarship; Grant number: 130023; Grant sponsor: University of KwaZulu Natal, College of Health Sciences Masters and Doctoral Research Scholarship.

Journal: Plants 2022, 11, 3143.

doi.org/10.3390/plants11223143

This manuscript was published in the Journal: Plants 2022, 11, 3143, and is included in the original format.





Thabani Sibiya ¹, Terisha Ghazi ¹, Jivanka Mohan ¹, Savania Nagiah ^{1,2} and Anil A. Chuturgoon ^{1,*}

- ¹ Discipline of Medical Biochemistry and Chemical Pathology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, Howard College Campus, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban 4013, South Africa
- ² Medical Programme, Department of Human Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Nelson Mandela University Missionvale, Port Elizabeth 6059, South Africa
- * Correspondence: chutur@ukzn.ac.za

Abstract: Lately, Spirulina platensis (SP), as an antioxidant, has exhibited high potency in the treatment of oxidative stress, diabetes, immune disorder, inflammatory stress, and bacterial and viral-related diseases. This study investigated the possible protective role of Spirulina platensis against ARV-induced oxidative stress in HepG2 cells. Human liver (HepG2) cells were treated with ARVs ((Lamivudine (3TC): 1.51 µg/mL, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF): 0.3 µg/mL and Emtricitabine (FTC): 1.8 μ g/mL)) for 96 h and thereafter treated with 1.5 μ g/mL Spirulina platensis for 24 h. After the treatments, the gene and protein expressions of the antioxidant response pathway were determined using a quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) and Western blots. The results show that Spirulina platensis decreased the gene expressions of Akt (p < 0.0001) and eNOS ($\downarrow p < 0.0001$) while, on the contrary, it increased the transcript levels of NRF-2 ($\uparrow p = 0.0021$), Keap1 ($\uparrow p = 0.0002$), CAT ($\uparrow p < 0.0001$), and NQO-1 ($\uparrow p = 0.1432$) in the HepG2 cells. Furthermore, the results show that Spir*ulina platensis* also decreased the protein expressions of NRF-2 ($\downarrow p = 0.1226$) and pNRF-2 ($\downarrow p = 0.0203$). Interestingly, HAART-SP induced an NRF-2 pathway response through upregulating NRF-2 (except for FTC-SP) ($\uparrow p < 0.0001$), CAT ($\uparrow p < 0.0001$), and NQO-1 (except for FTC-SP) ($\uparrow p < 0.0001$) mRNA expression. In addition, NRF-2 ($\uparrow p = 0.0085$) and pNRF-2 ($\uparrow p < 0.0001$) protein expression was upregulated in the HepG2 cells post-exposure to HAART-SP. The results, therefore, allude to the fact that Spirulina platensis has the potential to mitigate HAART-adverse drug reactions (HAART toxicity) through the activation of antioxidant response in HepG2 cells. We hereby recommend further studies on Spirulina platensis and HAART synergy.

Keywords: highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART); *Spirulina platensis*; oxidative stress; reactive oxygen species; antioxidant; HAART toxicity

1. Introduction

Due to high infection and fatality rates, the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) remains a global health problem [1]. In 2021, around 8.2 million people in South Africa were living with HIV [2]. Prior to the year 2021, an estimated 1.5 million additional people became newly infected with HIV globally, with 680,000 AIDS-related deaths [1–4]. The availability of antiretrovirals (ARVs) has helped those living with HIV/AIDS live longer. In 2020, around 27.5 million HIV-infected people worldwide had access to ARVs, while roughly 5.6 million HIV-infected South Africans had access [1,2,5].

Highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) combines many types of antiretroviral drugs to lower the viral load of an HIV-positive person [6–8]. HAART has several negative side effects that lead to metabolic syndrome, which includes oxidative stress and inflammation, despite its success in extending the lives of HIV-infected patients. The most popular nucleoside/nucleotide reverse-transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs) are 2',3'-dideoxy-5fluoro-3'-thiacytidine (FTC), (-)-L-2',3'-dideoxy-3'-thiacytidine (3TC), and tenofovir disoproxil



Citation: Sibiya, T.; Ghazi, T.; Mohan, J.; Nagiah, S.; Chuturgoon, A.A. Spirulin a platonsis A meliorates Oxi dative Stress Associated with Antiretroviral Drugs in HepG2 Cells. Plants 2022, 11, 3143. https:// doi.org/10.3390/plants11223143

Academic Editor: Stefania Lamponi

Received: 7 October 2022 Accepted: 10 November 2022 Published: 17 November 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 40/) fumarate (TDF), which form part of the first-line therapy [9–13]. Moreover, 3TC, FTC, and TDF are recommended for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) by the World Health Organization (WHO) [14–19]. Additionally, 3TC is part of post- exposure prophylaxis (PEP) [20]. It is imperative to explore solutions to the negative side effects associated with these ARV drugs. 3TC, an important component of HAART, which can also be used to prevent HIV infection after potential exposure, has been linked to increased ROS, endothelial cell injury, and cardiovascular complications in HIV-infected individuals [20]. Another HAART backbone component, TDF, is a prodrug of tenofovir that is used to treat HIV infection and is associated with mitochondrial alterations and oxidative stress [21]. FTC, an analogue of 3TC, is used to inhibit the replication of HIV-1 and HIV-2. However, FTC is linked to the development of lipodystrophy syndrome, which is a result of low mitochondrial toxicity [22]. Supplementation with an antioxidant agent such as *Spirulina platensis*, which has been shown to protect against oxidative stress [23–25], can help to minimize the oxidative stress during HAART treatment.

Spirulina platensis is a blue-green microalga that Mexican and African people eat as a traditional cuisine [26,27]. Spirulina platensis can be found in volcanic lakes' alkaline water [23–25]. Spirulina platensis has also been shown to reduce oxidative stress [23,26,28,29] and increase mitochondrial health [30-33]. Spirulina platensis has been discovered to have a variety of therapeutic characteristics in addition to its well-known nutritional value. The health benefits found in Spirulina platensis include the inhibition of viruses, such as HIV-1 [34,35], and the inhibition of metabolic diseases [23,28]. Spirulina has also been credited with cancer- and viral infection-suppressing abilities [36]. When ingested, it can strengthen the immune system's humoral and cellular systems [27]. Spirulina platensis has been associated with hypoglycaemia [37], hypolipidemic [38], and antihypertensive [39] effects. Furthermore, antioxidant complexes such as phycocyanin and phycocyanobilin are found in Spirulina platensis [23-25]. Moreover, it also contains high amounts of carotenoids and phenolic compounds [40]. Studies have identified that the bioactive compounds found in Spirulina platensis include carotenoids, phenols, chlorophylls, phycocyanin, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), glycosides, flavonoids, and alkaloids [41-45]. Spirulina platensis can also help to prevent the onset of atherosclerosis [28] and diabetes [23]. In view of the above information, the aim of this study was to investigate the possible protective role of Spirulina platensis against HAART-induced oxidative stress in HepG2 cells.

2. Results

2.1. Akt

The previous studies showed Akt expression increased rapidly in both neurons and vascular cells following cellular stress or damage [46]. *Spirulina platensis* (SP) (24 h) and HAART (excluding 3TC) (96 h)-treated HepG2 cells expressed lower *Akt* mRNA expression B: (p < 0.0001), B: (p < 0.0001), significantly for FTC. However, as compared to the control, the HAART-SP treated cells showed a substantial reduction in *Akt* mRNA expression B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 1).

2.2. Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase (eNOS)

ENOS plays a role in primary hepatocytes to induce activation of the stress-responsive transcription factor, nuclear factor-erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF-2), under metabolic syndrome-promoting conditions [47]. The upregulation of eNOS is mostly promoted under stress conditions, such as oxidative stress and metabolic syndrome. It is noteworthy that favourable cellular conditions may not necessarily upregulate eNOS for survival or stress-related struggles. In SP- and HAART-SP-treated cells, the expression of *eNOS* mRNA was considerably reduced: A: (p < 0.0001), B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 2). The HAART-treated cells, on the other hand, showed a significant increase in *eNOS* mRNA expression B (p < 0.0001) (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on *Akt* mRNA levels. *Akt* mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001.



Figure 2. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on *eNOS* mRNA levels. *eNOS* mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001.

2.3. The Role of Spirulina platensis in the Regulation of eNOS

The endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) is activated by hydrogen peroxide calcium- and Akt-dependent pathways. It has been demonstrated that eNOS activation by hydrogen peroxide is accompanied by Akt activation and increased eNOS phosphorylation [48]. Moreover, under enhanced oxidative stress conditions, endothelial cells employ this mechanism to maintain NO bioactivity [48]. The NADPH oxidase (NOX) family of enzymes is the major source of reactive oxygen species (ROS) involved in both metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular pathophysiology [49,50]. Oxidative stress, which is defined as a disturbance in the balance between the ROS production and the antioxidant defence, shifted towards excess ROS, a state characterized by elevated ROS levels. ROS involves two main categories: (a) free radicals such as superoxide (O_2^-), hydroxyl (OH·) and nitric oxide (NO·); and (b) non-radical derivatives of O2, such as hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) and peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) [51]. Oxidative stress is involved in metabolic syndrome and numerous cardiovascular diseases [51]. Normally, oxidative stress causes damage to proteins, lipids, and DNA, resulting in cellular dysfunction [52]. Akt expression is known to be upregulated rapidly in both neurons and vascular cells following cellular dysfunction [46]. Therefore, Akt does not need to be upregulated in a cellular non-threatening environment. Interestingly, the phycocyanin from *Spirulina platensis* is responsible for reducing oxidative stress and NADPH oxidase [28]. The inhibition of NADPH oxidase can also inhibit the increase of NO production through the suppression of inducible NO synthase (iNOS) [53]. However, it has been demonstrated that *Spirulina platensis* promotes the activation and expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) protein under cellular dysfunction, such as atherosclerotic vascular disease [54]. Herein, *Spirulina platensis* downregulated the mRNA expression of eNOS; this might be due to the fact that *Spirulina platensis* promotes a healthy environment by reducing oxidative stress, which may result in the downregulation of genes that are mostly initiated by cellular dysfunction, such as *Akt* and *eNOS* (Figure 3).





2.4. Antioxidant Response

NRF-2 mRNA levels rose in SP- and HAART-SP-treated cells (A: p = 0.0021 and B: p < 0.0001, respectively) (Figure 4). *NRF*-2 mRNA expression, on the other hand, was reduced in HAART-treated cells after prolonged exposure B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 4).

2.4.1. Keap1 Response

Keap1 controls the stability and cellular distribution of NRF-2. SP-and HAART-SP (excluding TDF-SP)-treated cells had higher levels of *Keap1* mRNA expression A: (p = 0.0002), B: (p < 0.0001). The HAART-treated cells, on the other hand, showed a substantial reduction in Keap1 mRNA expression after prolonged exposure B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 5).

2.4.2. NQO-1 Response

The oxidative stress response caused NQO-1 to be elevated. NQO-1 mRNA expression increased in SP-and HAART-SP (excluding FTC-SP)-treated cells A: (p = 0.1432), B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 5), but not in HAART-treated cells (Figure 6).

2.5. Detoxification of Peroxides

The redox equilibrium is maintained by catalase (CAT). *CAT* mRNA expression rose considerably in SP-and HAART-SP-treated cells, although more significantly in HAART-treated cells A: (p < 0.0001), B: (p < 0.0001) (See Figure 7).


Figure 4. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on *NRF*-2 mRNA levels. *NRF*-2 mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.005.



Figure 5. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on *Keap1* mRNA levels. *Keap1* mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001.



Figure 6. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on NQO-1 mRNA levels. NQO-1 mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001.



Figure 7. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on *CAT* mRNA levels. *CAT* mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001.

NRF-2 Protein Response

NRF-2 is a master regulator of the oxidative stress transcriptional response. The expression of the pNRF-2 protein was reduced in the SP-treated cells A: (p = 0.0203) (Figure 8). However, pNRF-2 protein expression was increased in the HAART- and HAART-SP-treated cells B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 8). The NRF-2 protein expression was shown to be lower in SP-treated cells C: (p = 0.1226) after acute exposure, higher in HAART-treated cells D: (p = 0.0085), and considerably higher in HAART-SP-treated cells, following prolonged exposure D: (p = 0.0085) (Figure 8).





Figure 8. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on pNRF-2 and NRF-2 protein expression. pNRF-2 protein expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to (A): SP and HAART for 24 h, (B): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); NRF-2 protein expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to (C): SP and HAART for 24 h, (D): HAART (96 h), and HAART (96 h) followed by SP (24 h); * p < 0.05, *** p < 0.0001.

3. Discussion

Several types of HAART drugs are commonly used in combination against HIV and these backbone drugs (3TC, TDF, and FTC) have been implicated in oxidative stress and mitochondrial toxicity [55–58]. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial toxicity are characteristic pathologies of metabolic syndrome. Metabolic syndrome effects may be ameliorated by antioxidants such as *Spirulina platensis*. *Spirulina platensis* has been reported to inhibit oxidative stress [23,26,28,29], and is highly recommended to promote mitochondrial health [30–33]. We investigated the effect of *Spirulina platensis* on the oxidative pathway after exposure of HepG2 cells to the HAART backbone (3TC, TDF, and FTC). *Spirulina platensis* exerts direct antioxidant activity and modulation of the antioxidant response element (ARE)/NRF-2 pathway in HepG2 cells [59].

In the early in vitro toxicity evaluation for pharmaceutical development, HepG2 cells are good models for analysis [60]. The liver is at significant risk of oxidative insults since the hepatocytes are rich in mitochondria and are the oxidative centre for several metabolic reactions [61]. Akt and eNOS can regulate NRF-2 activation independently and sequentially, breaking the Keap1/NRF-2 complex [62]. Akt is responsible for the activation of eNOS which takes part in the dissociation of the keap1/NRF-2 complex. The phosphorylation of NRF-2 triggers its disassociation from Keap1 ubiquitination, allowing it to translocate to the nucleus and promote the transcription of antioxidants [63]. The pNRF-2 translocates to the nucleus. In the nucleus, the pNRF-2 forms a complex with an antioxidant response element (ARE) and activates the antioxidant genes such as catalase (CAT) and NQO-1 [64].

Spirulina platensis is rich in antioxidant properties [24,27], and also contains phycocyanin, responsible for reducing oxidative stress and NADPH oxidase [28]. The antioxidant response properties of Spirulina platensis are evident by the significantly increased expression of CAT mRNA (Figure 7A) and the elevated expression of NRF-2 (Figure 4A) and NQO-1 (Figure 6A) mRNAs. In the presence of Spirulina platensis, the expression of Akt and eNOS (Figures 1A and 2A) was reduced. The reduction of Akt may be an indication that Spirulina platensis does not induce cellular damage, since increased expression of Akt commonly occurs following cellular stress or damage [46]. The reduction in eNOS expression agrees with the reduction in Akt expression, as Akt is responsible for its activation. These results suggest that Spirulina platensis does not induce cellular stress that might require eNOS to activate the stress-responsive transcription factor NRF-2 in the hepatocytes [47]. Hence, the increased expression of Keap1 (Figure 5A) may have prevented NRF-2 phosphorylation, as seen by the reduction in the pNRF-2 expression (Figure 8A) in the presence of only Spirulina platensis. Herein, the Keap1 /NRF-2 complex was not dissociated by Akt or eNOS (Figure 9A). However, Strasky et al. (2013) demonstrated that Spirulina platensis promotes the activation and expression of eNOS protein under cellular dysfunction such as atherosclerotic vascular disease [54]. Moreover, Strasky et al. (2013) investigated protein expression, while in this present study we investigated mRNA expression.

Interestingly, *Spirulina platensis* also contains vitamin D3, vitamin C, and magnesium, whose components have been suspected to stimulate NO production [65]. Moreover, this makes sense, since *Spirulina platensis* also contains total essential amino acids, with an abundance of arginine [66–68]. Nitric Oxide can modify the cysteine residues on Keap1 to augment NRF-2 activity [62]. Total *NRF-2* was upregulated at the gene level (Figure 4A); hence, detoxification antioxidant genes such as CAT and NQO-1 were upregulated. Enhanced NRF-2/ARE activation results in decreased ROS production and an enhanced concentration of antioxidant glutathione (GSH) [62]. The decreased NRF-2 protein expression (Figure 8C) makes sense, since there was an increased *Keap1* mRNA expression (Figure 5A). NRF-2 transcriptional activity is low when Keap1 is upregulated [62]. *Spirulina platensis* managed to significantly increase *CAT* mRNA expression (Figure 7A). CAT plays a major role in the detoxification of ROS products [69,70]. Previous studies have shown that NRF-2 activation by *Spirulina platensis* results in the production and increased expression of antioxidant enzymes such as catalase (CAT) [71]. *Spirulina platensis* also increased the expression of the antioxidant gene, *NQO-1* (Figure 6A).



Figure 9. Effects of *Spirulina platensis* and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on antioxidant induction pathway in HepG2 cells; (A): the effect of *Spirulina platensis*; (B): the effect of HAART; (C): the effect of HAART-SP (created with BioRender.com).

In the presence of HAART, Akt mRNA (Figure 1B) expression varied, elevated in the presence of 3TC, and reduced in the presence of TDF and FTC. TDF is associated with the inhibition of Akt [72,73]. The presence of FTC and TDF is linked to an increased eNOS expression and a decreased Akt expression in adult rats treated with FTC-TDF-EFV [74]. In addition, this agrees with the significantly increased eNOS expression (Figure 2B) observed in this present study. ENOS increases NO, and breaks the Keap1/NRF-2 complex, phosphorylating NRF-2 [62]. This is evident by the elevated NRF-2 protein expression (Figure 8D) and reduced Keap1 mRNA expression (Figure 5B). However, the NRF-2 mRNA (Figure 4B) non-significantly decreased and the pNRF-2 expression varied, with only FTC inducing an increase in the pNRF-2 expression (Figure 8B). HAART exhausted the NRF-2 response after chronic exposure in HepG2 cells, which may explain the downregulation of pNRF-2 (Figure 8B), but the upregulation of NRF-2 at the protein level (Figure 8D) and not at the gene level (Figure 4B). Post-HAART, CAT was upregulated (Figure 7B), but NQO-1 was downregulated (Figure 6B), which means HAART induced a limited antioxidant response in HepG2 cells. The upregulation of CAT makes sense, since HAART has been linked to the restoration and expression of CAT in HIV-seropositive individuals on HAART [75] (Figure 9B).

HAART-SP exposure reduced Akt and eNOS expression (Figures 1B and 2B); this is an indication that there is reduced or no cellular stress [47], which may be due to post-exposure to Spirulina platensis. NRF-2 is a master regulator of the transcriptional response to oxidative stress [76]. Post-treatment with Spirulina platensis after HAART upregulated total NRF-2 and pNRF-2 (Figures 4B, 8D and 8B, respectively), which is the key to the activation of detoxification antioxidant genes. Hence, CAT and NQO-1 were also upregulated (Figures 6B and 7B). The increase in NRF-2 expression is a sign of antioxidant response and a good indication that the balance is restored, or in the process of restoration, reducing the oxidative stress. NRF-2, apart from being an antioxidant, plays a huge role in metabolic homeostasis, eliminating lipid accumulation and oxidative stress [77,78]. Eliminating oxidative stress may be the key to inhibiting hypertension and type 2 diabetes, as oxidative stress is suspected to be a major contributor to the development of metabolic syndromes [79]. Some studies have demonstrated that NRF-2 activation prevents ROSinduced damage in the pancreatic β cells [80,81], and this protective characteristic can inhibit diabetes mellitus. NRF-2 controls downstream genes, including NQO-1 antioxidant. NQO-1 reduction or knockout can result in an increase in insulin resistance in mice [82]. The presence of FTC-SP upregulated NRF-2 and pNRF-2 at the protein level, however, it

downregulated *NRF-2* at the gene level. This may be due to high FTC toxicity compared to the other ARVs; more exposure time to *Spirulina platensis* may be required to ameliorate FTC toxicity or to trigger an NRF-2 response. It is noteworthy that fluoride toxicity may add to FTC adverse drug reactions [83]. The FTC persisted with the same pattern as in the cells, where *Spirulina platensis* was not introduced. In both events, the FTC reduced *NRF-2* at the gene level and downregulated *NQO-1*. NQO-1 is a phase-II detoxifying enzyme that uses the pyridine nucleotides NADPH or NADH as an electron donor to reduce quinones to hydroquinones. Additionally, NQO-1 reduces ROS production via direct scavenging superoxide [62] (Figure 9C). The data above implies that the *Spirulina platensis* and HAART synergy may be via an NRF-2 pathway response.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Materials

Spirulina platensis, extracted from Spirulina platensis (Shewal) capsules, was obtained from HeriCure Healthcare Ltd. (Pune, India); A 10 mg/mL aqueous stock solution of the extract was prepared from the capsule content (the Spirulina platensis from the capsules was dissolved in distilled water (dH₂O)), and the solution was filtered (0.45 μ m) and used to prepare the concentrations of Spirulina platensis extract required for the study). The extract was then incubated at -80 °C for 24 h and lyophilized for 48 h using the SP Vir Tis Scientific Freeze Dryer (Warminster, PA, USA) (-46 °C, 79 mT,). The final weight of the extracts was obtained, and the extracts were stored in the dark at 4 °C until further use. For heat-sensitive cyanobacteria, such as spirulina, freeze-drying is one of the best treatment options since it causes the least amount of changes to their nutritive, sensory, and physicochemical characteristics, leaving the lyophilized products similar to the fresh biomass [40]. The antiretroviral drug compounds were purchased from Pharmed Pharmaceuticals and extracted using dichloromethane, which was then removed using a standard laboratory rotary evaporator. The identity of the extracted compounds was confirmed using NMR analysis and showed a purity of >98%. The resultant antiretroviral drugs were obtained from the NIH AIDS Reagents Program. The HepG2 cell line was acquired from Highveld Biologicals (Johannesburg, South Africa). The cell culture reagents and supplements were purchased from Lonza BioWhittaker (Basel, Switzerland). Unless otherwise stated, all the other used reagents were purchased from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany).

4.2. Cell Culture

The HepG2 cells were cultured in a monolayer (10^6 cells per 25 cm³ culture flask) with complete culture media [CCM: Eagle's Essential Minimal Media (EMEM) supplemented with 10% foetal calf serum, 1% penstrepfungizone and 1% L-glutamine] at 37 °C in a humidified incubator. The cells were allowed to reach 80% confluence in 25 cm³ flasks before treatment with only antiretrovirals (ARVs), using the plasma peak values from the literature that represent the physiological concentrations of ARVs in humans (3TC: 6.6 μ M (1.51 μ g/mL), TDF: 0.3 μ g/mL, and FTC: 1.8 μ g/mL) [37–39] in CCM for 96 h [84]. For the 96 h of treatment, fresh cell culture medium containing ARVs treatment was replenished every 48 h. Thereafter, the ARVs were removed, and the cells were gently rinsed with 0.1 mol/L phosphate buffer saline (PBS) and treated with only 1.5 μ g/mL *Spirulina platensis* (SP) in CCM for 24 h. An untreated control, containing only CCM, was also prepared. A treatment for a 24-h time period was also conducted, containing only ARVs [85] and SP separately.

4.3. Protein Expression

The protein expressions of nuclear factor-erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF-2) and phosphorylated NRF-2 (p NRF-2) were determined by Western blotting. Standardised protein samples were boiled in Laemmeli buffer [dH₂O, 0.5 mol/L Tris-HCl (pH 6.8), glycerol, 10% sodium dodecyl sulphide (SDS), and b-mercaptoethanol, 1% bromophenol blue] for

5 min. The proteins (25 µL) were separated by electrophoresis on SDS-polyacrylamide electrophoresis gels (4% stacking gel; 10% resolving gel) and electrotransferred to nitrocellulose membranes. The membranes were blocked with 5% BSA in Tween 20-Tris buffer saline (TTBS 150 mmol/L NaCl, 3 mmol/L KCl, 25 mmol/L Tris, 0.05% Tween 20, and dH₂O, pH 7.5) for 1 h and incubated with a primary antibody [pNRF-2 (ab76026); NRF-2 (ab31163)] in 5% BSA in TTBS (1:1000 dilution) overnight at 4 °C. Following the overnight incubation, the membranes were equilibrated to room temperature (RT) and washed with TTBS (5 times, 10 min). The membranes were subsequently probed with a horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibody [Rabbit (7074S)] in 5% BSA in TTBS (1:5000) for 1 h at RT. Thereafter, the membranes were washed with TTBS (5 times, 10 min) and immunoreactivity was detected (Clarity Western ECL Substrate) with the Bio-Rad ChemiDoc gel documentation system. After detection, the membranes were quenched with 5% H₂O₂ for 30 min, then rinsed once in TTBS and incubated in a blocking solution (5% BSA for 1 h at RT), rinsed thrice in TTBS, and probed with HRP-conjugated anti-β-actin (housekeeping protein). The protein expression was analysed by the Image Lab Software version 5.0 (Bio-Rad) and the results were expressed as the relative band density (RBD). The expression of proteins of interest was normalized against β-Actin.

4.4. RNA Analysis

Total ribonucleic acid (RNA) was isolated according to the method described by Chuturgoon, Phulukdaree and Moodley [86]. Isolated RNA was quantified (Nanodrop 2000, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and standardized to 1000 ng/µL. Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA) was synthesized from the standardized RNA using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad). The thermocycler conditions for the cDNA synthesis were 25 °C for 5 min, 42 °C for 30 min, 85 °C for 5 min, and a final hold at 4 °C [85]. The gene expression was analysed using the SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR Green Supermix kit (Bio-Rad). The messenger RNA (mRNA) expressions of NRF-2, Keldn-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1), catalase (CAT), NADH quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO-1), Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), and protein kinase B (Akt) were investigated using specific forward and reverse primers (Table 1). The reaction volumes, which consisted of the following, were prepared: SYBR green (5 μ L), forward primer (1 μ L), reverse primer (1 μ L), nucleasefree water (2 μ L), and the cDNA template (1 μ L). All the reactions were carried out in triplicate. The samples were amplified using a CFX96 TouchReal-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad). The initial denaturation occurred at 95 °C (4 min). Thereafter, 37 cycles of denaturation (15 s, 95 °C), annealing (40 s; temperatures-Table 1), and extension (30 s, 72 °C) occurred. The method described by Livak and Schmittgen [87] was employed to determine the changes in relative mRNA expression, where $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ represents the fold change relative to the untreated control. The expression of the gene of interest was normalized against the housekeeping gene, Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), which was amplified simultaneously under the same conditions.

4.5. Statistical Analysis

All the experiments were conducted independently in triplicate. GraphPad Prism version 5.0 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) was used to perform all the statistical analyses. The one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by a Bonferroni test for multiple group comparison (data are presented as 95% CI), was used to determine statistical significance. All the results were represented as the mean \pm standard deviation unless otherwise stated. A value of *p* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Gene	Gene Annealing Primer Temperature Primer		Sequence	Length	Accession Number	Product Length
Nrf-2	60 °C	Forward Reverse	5'-CACATCCAGTCAGAAACCAGTGG-3' 5'-GGAATGTCTGCGCCAAAAGCTG-3'	2446	NM_006164.5	772 bp
Keap1	59.3 °C	Forward Reverse	5'-CTGGAGGATCATACCAAGCAGG-3' 5'-GGATACCCTCAATGGACACCAC-3'	2524	NM_012289.4	1599 bp
CAT	53 °C	Forward Reverse	5'-GTGCGGAGATTCAACACTGCCA-3' 5'-CGGCAATGTTCTCACACAGACG-3'	2291	NM_001752.4	1043 bp
NQO-1	59.7 °C	Forward Reverse	5'-GAAGAGCACTGATCGTACTGGC-3' 5'-GGATACTGAAAGTTCGCAGGG-3'	2407	NM_001025434.2	1907 bp
eNOS	59.7 °C	Forward Reverse	5'-GTGGCTGTCTGCATGGACCT-3' 5'-CCACGATGGTGATTTGGCT-3'	2058	NM_001160109.2	1788 bp
Akt	59.7 °C	Forward Reverse	5'-TGGACTACCTGCACTCGGAGAA-3' 5'-GTGCCGCAAAAGGTCTTCATGG-3'	2922	NM_001382431.1	1468 bp
GAPDH	Same as the gene of interest	Forward Reverse	5'-TCCACCACCCTGTTGCTGTA-3' 5'-ACCACAGTCCATGCCATCAC-3'	1285	NM_002046.7	231 bp

Table 1. The annealing temperatures and primer sequences for the genes of interest.

5. Conclusions

Spirulina platensis, as an antioxidant and anti-inflammatory agent, possesses various corrective properties against HAART adverse drug reactions. The corrective properties of *Spirulina platensis* shown in this study highlight its potential to mitigate HAART adverse drug reactions. This study investigated the antioxidant properties of the potent antioxidant, *Spirulina platensis*. In addition, the study also explored how *Spirulina platensis* supplementation may benefit HAART-dependent individuals. The results revealed that *Spirulina platensis* ameliorated HAART toxicity via the induction of an antioxidant response. In addition, the study showed a significant response to the positive synergistic HAART-SP effect theory. Individuals on HAART may benefit from *Spirulina platensis* supplementation. However, due to the fluoride content of FTC, a well-known mitochondrial toxicity-inducing compound, we recommend more studies on FTC toxicity. Furthermore, we suggest the need for further studies on the *Spirulina platensis* and HAART synergy.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, T.S., T.G., A.A.C.; investigation, T.S.; writing—original draft preparation, T.S.; writing—review and editing, T.G., J.M., S.N. and A.A.C.; supervision, T.G. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by National Research Foundation, grant number 130023. The authors recognise the financial support of The University of KwaZulu-Natal and The National Research Foundation (grant number 120820).

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: We thank D Tiwari (Hericure, India) for donating the Spirulina platensis.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Abbreviations

acquired immunodeficiency syndrome	AIDS
antioxidant response element	ARE
antiretrovirals	ARVs
Catalase	CAT
Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid	cDNA
Complete culture media	CCM
distilled water	dH ₂ O

12 of 16

Eagle's Essential Minimal Media	EMEM
Emtricitabine/2',3'-dideoxy-5fluoro-3'-thiacytidine	FTC
Endothelial nitric oxide synthase	eNOS
Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase	GAPDH
highly active antiretroviral therapy	HAART
human immunodeficiency virus	HIV
Human hepatoma/Human liver cells	HepG2
horseradish peroxidase	HRP
hydroxyl	OH·
hydrogen peroxide	H_2O_2
inducible NO synthase	iNOS
tenofov ir disoproxil fumarate	TDF
Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1	Keap1
Lamivudine/(-)-L-2',3'-dideoxy-3'-thiacytidine	3TC
Messenger RNA	mRNA
nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2	NRF-2
nucleoside/nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors	NRTIS
NADH quinone oxidoreductase 1	NQO-1
NADPH oxidase	NOX
nitric oxide	NO-
Nuclear Magnetic Resonance	NMR
One-way analysis of variance	ANOVA
Phosphate buffered saline	PBS
phosphorylated NRF-2	pNRF-2
potential exposure prophylaxis	PEP
Pre-exposure prophylaxis	PrEP
protein kinase B	Akt
Quantitative polymerase chain reaction	qPCR
Reactive oxygen species	ROS
relative band density	RBD
ribonucleic acid	RNA
room temperature	RT
Spirulina platensis	SP
Sodium dodecyl sulphide	SDS
tenofov ir disoproxil fumarate	TDF
World Health Organization	WHO

References

- WHO, HIV/AIDS. 2021. Available online: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hiv-aids (accessed on 30 November 2021).
- Release, S. Mid-Year Population Estimates. 2021, Statistics South Africa. Available online: http://www.statssa.gov.za/ publications/P0302/P03022021.pdf (accessed on 18 November 2021).
- UNAIDS. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). Global Report: UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2021; Global HIV & AIDS statistics: Fact sheet; UNAIDS: Geneva, Switzerland, 2021.
- UNAIDS-Global HIV & AIDS Statistics—2020 Fact Sheet. Available online: https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/fact-sheet (accessed on 11 September 2021).
- Africa, U.-S. HIV and AIDS Estimates. 2020. Available online: https://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/ southafrica (accessed on 11 September 2021).
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA). What is HAART? 2012. Available online: https://www.https://www.drugabuse.gov/ drugabuse.gov/publications/research-reports/hivaids/what-haart (accessed on 30 November 2021).
- 7. Brouwer, E.S.; Napravnik, S.; Eron, J.J.; Stalzer, B.; Floris-Moore, M.; Simpson, R.J.; Stürmer, T. Effects of Combination Antiretroviral Therapies on the Risk of Myocardial Infarction Among HIV Patients. *Epidemiology* 2014, 25, 406–417. [CrossRef]
- 8. Mohan, J.; Ghazi, T.; Chuturgoon, A.A. A Critical Review of the Biochemical Mechanisms and Epigenetic Modifications in HIVand Antiretroviral-Induced Metabolic Syndrome. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2021, *22*, 12020. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rakhmanina, N.Y.; la Porte, C.J. Therapeutic drug monitoring of antiretroviral drugs in the management of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Ther. Drug Monit. Newer Drugs Biomark.* 2012, 373, 374–389.
- EACS. European AIDS Clinical Society Guidelines. Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Version 6. 2011. Available online: https: //www.eacsociety.org/media/2011_eacsguidelines-v6.0-english_octpdf (accessed on 6 December 2021).

- GGilks, C.F.; Crowley, S.; Ekpini, R.; Gove, S.; Perriens, J.; Souteyrand, Y.; Sutherland, D.; Vitoria, M.; Guerma, T.; De Cock, K. The WHO public-health approach to antiretroviral treatment against HIV in resource-limited settings. *Lancet* 2006, 368, 505–510. [CrossRef]
- Kahana, S.Y.; Rohan, J.; Allison, S.; Frazier, T.W.; Drotar, D. A Meta-Analysis of Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy and Virologic Responses in HIV-Infected Children, Adolescents, and Young Adults. *AIDS Behav.* 2012, 17, 41–60. [CrossRef]
- Sliwa, K.; Hilfiker-Kleiner, D.; Petrie, M.C.; Mebazaa, A.; Pieske, B.; Buchmann, E.; Regitz-Zagrosek, V.; Schaufelberger, M.; Tavazzi, L.; van Veldhuisen, D.J.; et al. Current state of knowledge on aetiology, diagnosis, management, and therapy of peripartum cardiomyopathy: A position statement from the Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology Working Group on peripartum cardiomyopathy. *Eur. J. Harr. Fail.* 2010, *12*, 767–778. [CrossRef]
- Mugwanya, K.K.; John-Stewart, G.; Baeten, J. Safety of oral tenofovir disoproxil fumarate-based HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis use in lactating HIV-uninfected women. *Expert Opin. Drug Saf.* 2017, 16, 867–871. [CrossRef]
- Spinner, C.; Boesecke, C.; Zink, A.; Jessen, H.; Stellbrink, H.-J.; Rockstroh, J.K.; Esser, S. HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP): A review of current knowledge of oral systemic HIV PrEP in humans. *Infection* 2015, 44, 151–158. [CrossRef]
- Fonner, V.A.; Dalglish, S.L.; Kennedy, C.E.; Baggaley, R.; O'reilly, K.R.; Koechlin, F.M.; Rodolph, M.; Hodges-Mameletzis, I.; Grant, R.M. Effectiveness and safety of oral HIV preexposure prophylaxis for all populations. *AIDS* 2016, 30, 1973. [CrossRef]
- Maserati, R.; De Silvestri, A.; Uglietti, A.; Colao, G.; Di Biagio, A.; Bruzzone, B.; Di Pietro, M.; Re, M.C.; Tinelli, C.; Zazzi, M. Emerging mutations at virological failure of HAART combinations containing tenofovir and lamivudine or emtricitabine. *AIDS* 2010, 24, 1013–1018. [CrossRef]
- Borroto-Esoda, K.; Vela, J.E.; Myrick, F.; Ray, A.S.; Miller, M.D. In Vitro Evaluation of the Anti-HIV Activity and Metabolic Interactions of Tenofovir and Emtricitabine. *Antivir. Ther.* 2005, 11, 377–384. [CrossRef]
- Mujugira, A.; Baeten, J.M.; Hodges-Mameletzis, I.; Haberer, J.E. Lamivudine/Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate is an Appropriate PrEP Regimen. Drugs 2020, 80, 1881–1888. [CrossRef]
- Cheney, L.; Barbaro, J.; Berman, J. Antiretroviral Drugs Impact Autophagy with Toxic Outcomes. Cells 2021, 10, 909. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Milián, L.; Peris, J.E.; Gandía, P.; Andújar, I.; Pallardó, L.; Górriz, J.L.; Blas-García, A. Tenofovir-induced toxicity in renal proximal tubular epithelial cells: Involvement of mitochondria. *AIDS* 2017, *31*, 1679–1684. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nelson, M.; Schiavone, M. Emtricitabine (FTC) for the treatment of HIV infection. *Int. J. Clin. Pract.* 2004, *58*, 504–510. [CrossRef]
 Zheng, J.; Inoguchi, T.; Sasaki, S.; Maeda, Y.; McCarty, M.F.; Fujii, M.; Ikeda, N.; Kobayashi, K.; Sonoda, N.; Takayanagi, R. Phycocyanin and phycocyanobilin from Spirulina platensis protect against diabetic nephropathy by inhibiting oxidative stress,
- American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory. *Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 2013, 304, R110–R120. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
 24. Hu, Z.H.; Liu, Z.L. Determination and purification of beta-carotene in Spirulina maximum. *Chin. J. Chromatogr.* 2001, 19, 85–87.
- 25. Miranda, M.; Cintra, R.; Barros, S.; Mancini-Filho, J. Antioxidant activity of the microalga Spirulina maxima. Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res. 1998, 31, 1075–1079. [CrossRef]
- Bashandy, S.A.E.; El Awdan, S.A.; Ebaid, H.; Alhazza, I.M. Antioxidant Potential of Spirulina platensis Mitigates Oxidative Stress and Reprotoxicity Induced by Sodium Arsenite in Male Rats. Oxidative Med. Cell. Longev. 2016, 2016, 7174351. [CrossRef]
- Estrada, J.P.; Bescós, P.B.; del Fresno, A.V. Antioxidant activity of different fractions of Spirulina platensis protean extract. Farmaco 2001, 56, 497–500. [CrossRef]
- Riss, J.; Décordé, K.; Sutra, T.; Delage, M.; Baccou, J.-C.; Jouy, N.; Brune, J.-P.; Oréal, H.; Cristol, J.-P.; Rouanet, J.-M. Phycobiliprotein C-Phycocyanin from *Spirulina platensis* Is Powerfully Responsible for Reducing Oxidative Stress and NADPH Oxidase Expression Induced by an Atherogenic Diet in Hamsters. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2007, 55, 7962–7967. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Abdelkhalek, N.K.M.; Ghazy, E.W.; Abdel-Daim, M.M. Pharmacodynamic interaction of Spirulina platensis and deltamethrin in freshwater fish Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus: Impact on lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2014, 22, 3023–3031. [CrossRef]
- 30. Nawrocka, D.; Kornicka, K.; Śmieszek, A.; Marycz, K. Spirulina platensis Improves Mitochondrial Function Impaired by Elevated Oxidative Stress in Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells (ASCs) and Intestinal Epithelial Cells (IECs), and Enhances Insulin Sensitivity in Equine Metabolic Syndrome (EMS) Horses. Mar. Drugs 2017, 15, 237. [CrossRef]
- 31. Jadaun, P.; Yadav, D.; Bisen, P.S. Spirulina platensis prevents high glucose-induced oxidative stress mitochondrial damage mediated apoptosis in cardiomyoblasts. *Cytotechnology* 2017, *70*, 523–536. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sun, J.Y.; Hou, Y.J.; Fu, X.Y.; Fu, X.T.; Ma, J.K.; Yang, M.F.; Sun, B.L.; Fan, C.D.; Oh, J. Selenium-Containing Protein From Selenium-Enriched Spirulina platensis Attenuates Cisplatin-Induced Apoptosis in MC3T3-E1 Mouse Preosteoblast by Inhibiting Mitochondrial Dysfunction and ROS-Mediated Oxidative Damage. *Front. Physiol.* 2018, *9*, 1907. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Oriquat, G.A.; Ali, M.A.; Mahmoud, S.A.; Eid, R.M.; Hassan, R.; Kamel, M.A. Improving hepatic mitochondrial biogenesis as a postulated mechanism for the antidiabetic effect of Spirulina platensis in comparison with metformin. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 2019, 44, 357–364. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Ali, S.K.; Saleh, A.M. Spirulina-an overview. Int. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 2012, 4, 9-15.
- Ayehunie, S.; Belay, A.; Baba, T.W.; Ruprecht, R.M. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by an aqueous extract of Spirulina platensis (Arthrospira platensis). J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. Hum. Retrovirology Off. Publ. Int. Retrovirology Assoc. 1998, 18, 7–12. [CrossRef]

- Asghari, A.; Fazilati, M.; Latifi, A.M.; Salavati, H.; Choopani, A. A review on antioxidant properties of Spirulina. J. Appl. Biotechnol. Rep. 2016, 3, 345–351.
- Uma, M.I.; Sophia, A.; Uliyar, V.M. Glycemic and lipemic responses of selected spirulina-supplemented rice-based recipes in normal subjects. Age 1999, 22, 18.
- Serban, M.-C.; Sahebkar, A.; Dragan, S.; Stoichescu-Hogea, G.; Ursoniu, S.; Andrica, F.; Banach, M. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of Spirulina supplementation on plasma lipid concentrations. *Clin. Nutr.* 2015, 35, 842–851. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Finamore, A.; Palmery, M.; Bensehaila, S.; Peluso, I. Antioxidant, immunomodulating, and microbial-modulating activities of the sustainable and ecofriendly spirulina. Oxidative Med. Cell. Longev. 2017, 2017, 3247528. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Stramarkou, M.; Papadaki, S.; Kyriakopoulou, K.; Tzovenis, I.; Chronis, M.; Krokida, M. Comparative Analysis of Different Drying Techniques Based on the Qualitative Characteristics of *Spirulina platensis* Biomass. J. Aquat. Food Prod. Technol. 2021, 30, 498–516. [CrossRef]
- Kannan, M.; Pushparaj, A.; Dheeba, B.; Nageshwari, K.; Kannan, K. Phytochemical screening and antioxidant activity of marine algae Gracilaria corticata and Spirulina platensis. J. Chem. Pharm. Res. 2014, 6, 312–318.
- Jaime, L.; Mendiola, J.A.; Herrero, M.; Soler-Rivas, C.; Santoyo, S.; Señorans, F.J.; Cifuentes, A.; Ibáñez, E. Separation and characterization of antioxidants from Spirulina platensis microalga combining pressurized liquid extraction, TLC, and HPLC-DAD. J. Sep. Sci. 2005, 28, 2111–2119. [CrossRef]
- El-Baky, A.; Hanaa, H.; el Baz, F.; El-Baroty, G.S. Enhancement of antioxidant production in Spirulina platensis under oxidative stress. Acta Physiol. Plant. 2009, 31, 623–631. [CrossRef]
- Prabakaran, G.; Sampathkumar, P.; Kavisri, M.; Moovendhan, M. Extraction and characterization of phycocyanin from Spirulina platensis and evaluation of its anticancer, antidiabetic and antiinflammatory effect. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* 2020, 153, 256–263. [CrossRef]
- 45. Herrero, M.; Vicente, M.J.; Cifuentes, A.; Ibáñez, E. Characterization by high-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry of the lipid fraction of Spirulina platensis pressurized ethanol extract, Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry. Int. J. Devoted Rapid Dissem. Minute Res. Mass Spectrom. 2007, 21, 1729–1738.
- 46. Adefolaju, G.A.; Scholtz, K.E.; Hosie, M.J. Expresión de VEGF165b Antiangiogénico en Células MCF-7 y MCF-10A de Mama Humana Expuesto a Inhibidores de la Transcriptasa Inversa y la Proteasa. *Int. J. Morphol.* 2017, *35*, 148–156. [CrossRef]
- Nagiah, S.; Phulukdaree, A.; Chuturgoon, A. Mitochondrial and Oxidative Stress Response in HepG2 Cells Following Acute and Prolonged Exposure to Antiretroviral Drugs. J. Cell. Biochem. 2015, 116, 1939–1946. [Cross Ref]
- Chuturgoon, A.; Phulukdaree, A.; Moodley, D. Fumonisin B1 induces global DNA hypomethylation in HepG2 cells—An alternative mechanism of action. *Toxicology* 2014, 315, 65–69. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- KLivak, J.; Schmittgen, T.D. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2^{-ΔΔCT} method. Methods 2001, 25, 402-408.
- Chong, Z.; Li, F.; Maiese, K. Activating Akt and the brain's resources to drive cellular survival and prevent inflammatory injury. Histol. Histopathol. 2005, 20, 299. [PubMed]
- Sheldon, R.; Meers, G.M.; Morris, E.M.; Linden, M.; Cunningham, R.P.; Ibdah, J.A.; Thyfault, J.P.; Laughlin, M.H.; Rector, R.S. eNOS deletion impairs mitochondrial quality control and exacerbates Western diet-induced NASH. Am. J. Physiol. Metab. 2019, 317, E605–E616. [Cross Ref]
- Thomas, S.R.; Chen, K.; Keaney, J.F. Hydrogen Peroxide Activates Endothelial Nitric-oxide Synthase through Coordinated Phosphorylation and Dephosphorylation via a Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase-dependent Signaling Pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 6017–6024. [CrossRef]
- Fortuño, A.; José, G.S.; Moreno, M.U.; Beloqui, O.; Díez, J.; Zalba, G. Phagocytic NADPH oxidase overactivity underlies oxidative stress in metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes* 2006, 55, 209–215. [CrossRef]
- 54. Elnakish, M.T.; Hassanain, H.H.; Janssen, P.M.; Angelos, M.G.; Khan, M. Emerging role of oxidative stress in metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular diseases: Important role of Rac/NADPH oxidase. J. Pathol. 2013, 231, 290–300. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Paravicini, T.M.; Touyz, R.M. NADPH oxidases, reactive oxygen species, and hypertension: Clinical implications and therapeutic possibilities. *Diabetes Care* 2008, 31 (Suppl. 2), S170–S180. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 56. Sun, M.; Huang, X.; Yan, Y.; Chen, J.; Wang, Z.; Xie, M.; Li, J. Rac1 Is a Possible Link Between Obesity and Oxidative Stress in Chinese Overweight Adolescents. *Obesity* 2012, 20, 2233–2240. [CrossRef]
- 57. Bai, S.-K.; Lee, S.-J.; Na, H.-J.; Ha, K.-S.; Han, J.-A.; Lee, H.; Kwon, Y.-G.; Chung, C.-K.; Kim, Y.-M. β-Carotene inhibits inflammatory gene expression in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophages by suppressing redox-based NF-κB activation. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 2005, *37*, 323–334. [CrossRef]
- Strasky, Z.; Zemankova, L.; Nemeckova, I.; Rathouska, J.; Wong, R.J.; Muchova, L.; Subhanova, I.; Vanikova, J.; Vanova, K.; Vitek, L.; et al. Spirulina platensis and phycocyanobilin activate atheroprotective heme oxygenase-1: A possible implication for atherogenesis. *Food Funct.* 2013, 4, 1586–1594. [CrossRef]
- Glover, M.; Hebert, V.Y.; Nichols, K.; Xue, S.Y.; Thibeaux, T.M.; Zavecz, J.A.; Dugas, T.R. Overexpression of mitochondrial antioxidant manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) provides protection against AZT- or 3TC-induced endothelial dysfunction. *Antivir. Res.* 2014, 111, 136–142. [CrossRef]

- Brown, L.; Jin, J.; Ferrell, D.; Sadic, E.; Obregon, D.; Smith, A.J.; Tan, J.; Giunta, B. Efavirenz Promotes β-Secretase Expression and Increased Aβ1-40,42 via Oxidative Stress and Reduced Microglial Phagocytosis: Implications for HIV Associated Neurocognitive Disorders (HAND). *PLoS ONE* 2014, 9, e95500. [Cross Ref]
- Canale, D.; De Bragança, A.C.; Gonçalves, J.G.; Shimizu, M.H.M.; Sanches, T.R.; Andrade, L.; Volpini, R.A.; Seguro, A.C. Vitamin D Deficiency Aggravates Nephrotoxicity, Hypertension and Dyslipidemia Caused by Tenofovir: Role of Oxidative Stress and Renin-Angiotensin System. *PLoS ONE* 2014, 9, e103055. [CrossRef]
- 62. Venhoff, N.; Setzer, B.; Melkaoui, K.; Walker, U. Mitochondrial Toxicity of Tenofovir, Emtricitabine and Abacavir Alone and in Combination with Additional Nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors. *Antivir. Ther.* 2007, *12*, 1075–1086. [CrossRef]
- Vigliante, I.; Mannino, G.; Maffei, M.E. OxiCyan®, a phytocomplex of bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus*) and spirulina (*Spirulina platensis*), exerts both direct antioxidant activity and modulation of ARE/Nrf2 pathway in HepG2 cells. J. Funct. Foods 2019, 61, 103508. [CrossRef]
- 64. Westerink, W.M.; Schoonen, W.G. Cytochrome P450 enzyme levels in HepG2 cells and cryopreserved primary human hepatocytes and their induction in HepG2 cells. *Toxicol. Vitr.* 2007, 21, 1581–1591. [CrossRef]
- 65. Johannsen, D.L.; Ravussin, E. The role of mitochondria in health and disease. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 2009, 9, 780–786. [CrossRef]
- McSweeney, S.R.; Warabi, E.; Siow, R.C. Nrf2 as an endothelial mechanosensitive transcription factor: Going with the flow. Hypertension 2016, 67, 20–29. [CrossRef]
- 67. Huang, H.-C.; Nguyen, T.; Pickett, C.B. Phosphorylation of Nrf2 at Ser-40 by Protein Kinase C Regulates Antioxidant Response Element-mediated Transcription. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 42769–42774. [CrossRef]
- Nguyen, T.; Nioi, P.; Pickett, C.B. The Nrf2-Antioxidant Response Element Signaling Pathway and Its Activation by Oxidative Stress. J. Biol. Chem. 2009, 284, 13291–13295. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 69. Houston, M.C. The role of nutrition and nutraceutical supplements in the prevention and treatment of hypertension. *Clin. Pr.* 2013, *10*, 209–229. [CrossRef]
- Al-Batshan, H.A.; Al-Mufarrej, S.I.; Al-Homaidan, A.A.; Qureshi, M. Enhancement of chicken macrophage phagocytic function and nitrite production by dietary Spirulina platensis. *Immunopharmacol. Immunotoxicol.* 2001, 23, 281–289. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sun, Y.; Chang, R.; Li, Q.; Li, B. Isolation and characterization of an antibacterial peptide from protein hydrolysates of Spirulina platensis. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* 2015, 242, 685–692. [CrossRef]
- 72. El-Sayed, A.E.-K.; Mostafa, E.-S. Outdoor cultivation of Spirulina platensis for mass production. Not. Sci. Biol. 2018, 10, 38–44. [CrossRef]
- 73. Krinsky, N.I. Mechanism of action of biological antioxidants. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 1992, 200, 248-254. [CrossRef]
- 74. Wang, X.; Wu, Q.; Wan, D.; Liu, Q.; Chen, D.; Liu, Z.; Martínez-Larrañaga, M.R.; Martínez, M.A.; Anadón, A.; Yuan, Z. Fumonisins: Oxidative stress-mediated toxicity and metabolism in vivo and in vitro. *Arch. Toxicol.* **2016**, *90*, 81–101. [Cross Ref]
- Sadek, K.M.; Lebda, M.A.; Nasr, S.M.; Shoukry, M. Spirulina platensis prevents hyperglycemia in rats by modulating gluconeogenesis and apoptosis via modification of oxidative stress and MAPK-pathways. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2017, 92, 1085–1094. [CrossRef]
- Lee, S.W.; Kim, S.M.; Hur, W.; Kang, B.-Y.; Lee, H.L.; Nam, H.; Yoo, S.H.; Sung, P.S.; Kwon, J.H.; Jang, J.W.; et al. Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate directly ameliorates liver fibrosis by inducing hepatic stellate cell apoptosis via downregulation of PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway. *PLoS ONE* 2021, *16*, e0261067. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Murata, K.; Tsukuda, S.; Suizu, F.; Kimura, A.; Sugiyama, M.; Watashi, K.; Noguchi, M.; Mizokami, M. Immunomodulatory Mechanism of Acyclic Nucleoside Phosphates in Treatment of Hepatitis B Virus Infection. *Hepatology* 2019, 71, 1533–1545. [CrossRef]
- 78. Strijdom, H.; Goswami, N.; De Boever, P.; Westcott, C.; Ogundipe, T.; Everson, F.; Genis, A. Cardiometabolic and vascular effects of treatment with a fixed-dose combination anti-retroviral drug containing nucleoside and non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTI s and NNRTI s) in adult rats. *Atherosclerosis* 2016, 252, e166. [CrossRef]
- Nsonwu-Anyanwu, A.C.; Ighodalo, E.V.; King, D.; Elochukwu, A.C.; Jeremiah, S.; Solomon, O.T.; Usoro, C.A.O. Biomarkers of Oxidative Stress in HIV Seropositive Individuals on Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy. *React. Oxyg. Species* 2017, *3*, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- Solst, S.R.; Rodman, S.N.; Fath, M.A.; Taylor, E.B.; Spitz, D.R. Inhibition of Mitochondrial Pyruvate Transport Selectively Sensitizes Cancer Cells to Metabolic Oxidative Stress. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 2017, 112, 102. [CrossRef]
- Tanaka, Y.; Aleksunes, L.M.; Yeager, R.L.; Gyamfi, M.A.; Esterly, N.; Guo, G.L.; Klaassen, C.D. NF-E2-Related Factor 2 Inhibits Lipid Accumulation and Oxidative Stress in Mice Fed a High-Fat Diet. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 2008, 325, 655–664. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zhang, Z.; Zhou, S.; Jiang, X.; Wang, Y.-H.; Li, F.; Wang, Y.-G.; Zheng, Y.; Cai, L. The role of the Nrf2/Keap1 pathway in obesity and metabolic syndrome. *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord.* 2015, *16*, 35–45. [CrossRef]
- de Champlain, J.; Wu, R.; Girouard, H.; Karas, M.; el Midaoui, A.; Laplante, M.A.; Wu, L. Oxidative stress in hypertension. *Clin. Exp. Hypertens*. 2004, 26, 593–601. [CrossRef]
- Uruno, A.; Furusawa, Y.; Yagishita, Y.; Fukutomi, T.; Muramatsu, H.; Negishi, T.; Sugawara, A.; Kensler, T.W.; Yamamoto, M. The Keap1-Nrf2 System Prevents Onset of Diabetes Mellitus. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 2013, 33, 2996–3010. [CrossRef]
- Yagishita, Y.; Fukutomi, T.; Sugawara, A.; Kawamura, H.; Takahashi, T.; Pi, J.; Uruno, A.; Yamamoto, M. Nrf2 Protects Pancreatic-Cells From Oxidative and Nitrosative Stress in Diabetic Model Mice. *Diabetes* 2014, 63, 605–618. [CrossRef]

- Gaikwad, A.; Long, D.J.; Stringer, J.L.; Jaiswal, A.K. In Vivo Role of NAD(P)H:Quinone Oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1) in the Regulation of Intracellular Redox State and Accumulation of Abdominal Adipose Tissue. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 22559–22564. [CrossRef]
- Barbier, O.; Arreola-Mendoza, L.; del Razo, L.M. Molecular mechanisms of fluoride toxicity. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 2010, 188, 333. [CrossRef]

CHAPTER FOUR

Spirulina Platensis mitigates the inhibition of selected miRNAs that promote inflammation in HAART treated HepG2 cells

Thabani Sibiya¹, Terisha Ghazi^{1*}, Jivanka Mohan¹, Savania Nagiah^{1,2}, Anil A. Chuturgoon^{1*}

¹Department of Medical Biochemistry and Chemical Pathology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Howard College Campus, Durban 4013, South Africa

²Department of Human Biology, Medical Programme, Faculty of Health Sciences, Nelson Mandela University Missionvale, Bethelsdorp, Port Elizabeth, South Africa, 6059

*Corresponding authors: Professor Anil A Chuturgoon and Dr Terisha Ghazi, Discipline of Medical Biochemistry, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Howard College Campus, Durban 4013, South Africa. Emails: <u>chutur@ukzn.ac.za; terishaghazi@gmail.com</u>

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Grant sponsor: National Research Foundation Innovation Doctoral Scholarship; Grant number: 130023; Grant sponsor: University of KwaZulu Natal, College of Health Sciences Masters and Doctoral Research Scholarship.

This manuscript was submitted to Journal: Plants (Manuscript ID: plants-1990692). At the time of the thesis submission this manuscript was corrected and submitted with revisions. The amended article has been included below and formatted as per journal requirements (Revision 1, Journal: Plants).

Abstract

The introduction of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in the treatment of HIV/AIDS has recently gained popularity. Also, the significant role of microRNA expression in HIV pathogenesis cannot be overlooked, hence, the need to explore the mechanisms of microRNA expression in the presence of HAART and Spirulina Platensis (SP) in HepG2 cells. This study investigates the biochemical mechanisms of microRNA expression in HepG2 cells in the presence of HAART, SP, and the potential synergistic effect of HAART-SP. 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay was used to determine cell viability following SP treatment. Cellular redox status was assessed using the quantification of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS), lipid peroxidation, and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) assay. The fluorometric, JC-1 assay was used to determine mitochondrial polarisation. Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR) was also employed for micro-RNA and gene expressions. The result show that MiR-146a (p < 0.0001) and miR-155 (p < 0.0001) levels increased in SP treated cells. However, only miR-146a (p < 0.0001) in HAART-SP indicated an increase, while miR-155 (p < 0.0001) in HAART-SP treatment indicated a significant decrease expression. Further inflammation analysis revealed that Cox-1 mRNA expression was reduced in SP treated cells (p =0.4129). However, Cox-1 expression is significantly increased in HAART-SP treated cells (p < 0.0001). The investigation reveal that HepG2 cells exposed to HAART-SP treatment showed a significant decrease Cox-2 (p < 0.0001) expression, mRNA expression also decreased in SP treated cells (p < 0.0001) 0.0001), therefore, Spirulina Platensis potentially controls inflammation by regulating microRNA expressions. Moreover, the positive synergistic effect is indicated by normalised intracellular ROS levels (p < 0.0001) in HAART-SP treatment. We hereby recommend further investigation on the synergistic roles of SP and HAART in the expression of microRNA with more focus on inflammatory and oxidative pathway.

Keywords: Highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART); *Spirulina Platensis*; Oxidative stress; Antioxidant; Micro-RNA; Inflammation

Introduction

HAART is a combination of drugs used to combat human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) that continues to be a global public concern due to its alarming infection rate and mortality rate [66]. Following a recent report from Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) in November 2021, an estimated figure of about 37.7 million people globally are living with HIV. It was also reported that about 1.5 million new HIV-infected persons were recorded with about 680 000 deaths in 2020 [1-4]. South Africa has one of the highest infection rate, approximately 8.2 million South Africans are living with HIV in the year 2021 [4]. The above statistic could have been worse without the availability of antiretrovirals (ARVs) that have also helped in the lifespan elongation of the persons with HIV-AIDS and reducing the number of people infected with the virus. Globally, about 27.5 million HIV-infected persons had access

to ARVs in 2020 while approximately 5.6 million infected South Africans accessed ARVs in 2020 [3, 4, 67, 68].

HAART prolong HIV-infected patients' lifespan through regulation of the viral load and prevention of the associated symptoms from progressing to AIDS. Despite its success, the use of HAART promotes metabolic syndrome through inflammatory pathway, excess production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and mitochondrial dysfunction [13-19]. There are antioxidant agents capable of ameliorating metabolic syndromes, cyanobacteria such as *Spirulina Platensis* (SP) have been well documented for this ability [24, 30].

Spirulina Platensis (SP) possesses various medicinal properties which include building the humoral and cellular mechanisms of the immune system when consumed [26]. Interestingly, SP is linked with metabolic syndrome lowering properties such as hypoglycemic [69], hypolipidemic [28], antihypertensive [29]. Studies in some rodent species suggested that SP is mainly useful in the prevention of metabolic syndromes [29]. SP contains bioactive substances such as carotenoids, phenols, chlorophylls, phycocyanin, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), glycosides, flavonoids, and alkaloids, according to studies [70-74]. SP contains oxidative stress inhibitors, phycocyanin, and phycocyanobilin [24, 75, 76]. Phycocyanin is responsible for reducing oxidative stress via inhibition of NADPH oxidase and suppresses the activation of Inflammation [30]. SP also inhibits oxidative stress [24, 25, 30, 31], promotes mitochondrial health [32-35], and inhibits inflammation [23, 24]. Furthermore, it has been found to be useful in prevention of atherosclerosis [30], and diabetes development [24].

Biological processes such as cell proliferation and apoptosis, require small non-coding RNAs called microRNA (miRNA) for gene regulation [77]. MiRNA are approximately 22 nucleotides in length and are generated from long primary miRNA transcripts. The main function of miRNA is to control gene expression at the post-transcriptional level through degrading or repressing target mRNAs [78]. It is estimated that 30% of all human genes expression are regulated by miRNAs [79]. MiRNAs are important in the coordination of many cellular processes such as regulating apoptosis, proliferation, differentiation, development, and metabolism [80-82]. MiRNA play important regulatory roles in a variety of biological processes including metabolic processes (metabolic integration, insulin resistance and appetite regulation) [83]. There is evidence supporting the role of miRNAs as an important inflammatory mediator by regulating both the adaptive and innate immunity.[84].

Oxidative stress results in the dysregulation of signalling pathways associated with metabolism and epigenetics, including microRNAs, which are biomarkers of metabolic disorders. Studies have proven that different sources of oxidative stress change the expression of numerous microRNAs in organs involved in the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism and endothelium. Dysregulated microRNAs either directly or indirectly affect the expression and activity of molecules of antioxidative signalling

pathways, as well as genes of numerous signalling pathways connected with inflammation, insulin sensitivity, and lipid metabolism, thus promoting the progression of metabolic imbalance.[85].

Specific miRNAs, such as miR-155 and miR-146a, were initially linked with the inflammatory response by virtue of their potent up-regulation in multiple immune cell lineages by Toll-like receptor ligands, inflammatory cytokines, and specific antigens. However, the increased expression of miR-155 and miR-146a in metabolic syndromes was found to contribute to inflammation-mediated glomerular endothelial injury [86]. Due to the alarmingly increasing number of HIV-infected people and their high dependence on HAART, this study investigates micro-RNA involvement in the inflammation pathway.

Materials and methods

Materials

Spirulina Platensis, extracted from *Spirulina Platensis* (Shewal) capsules, were obtained from HeriCure Healthcare Ltd (Pune, India); Antiretroviral drugs were obtained from the NIH AIDS reagents program: The antiretroviral drug compounds were purchased from Pharmed Pharmaceuticals and extracted using dichloromethane, which was then removed using a standard laboratory rotary evaporator. The identity of the extracted compounds was confirmed using NMR analysis and showed a purity of >98%. The HepG2 cell line was acquired from Highveld Biologicals (Johannesburg, South Africa). Cell culture reagents and supplements were purchased from Lonza Bio-Whittaker (Basel, Switzerland) while all other reagents were purchased from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany).

Cell culture

HepG2 cells were cultured in monolayer (10^6 cells per 25 cm³ culture flask) with complete culture media [CCM: Eagle's Essential Minimal Media (EMEM) supplemented with 10% foetal calf serum, 1% penstrepfungizone and 1% L-glutamine] at 37 °C in a humidified incubator. Cells were allowed to reach 80% confluence in 25 cm³ flasks before treatment with only antiretrovirals (ARVs) using the plasma peak values from literature that represent the physiological concentrations of ARVs in humans (3TC: 6.6 μ M (1.51 μ g/ml), TDF: 0.3 μ g/ml, FTC: 1.8 μ g/ml) [36-38] in CCM for 96 hours [88]. For the 96 hours treatment, fresh cell culture medium containing ARVs treatment was replenished every 48 hours. Thereafter ARVs were removed, and cells were gently rinsed with 0.1 mol/l phosphate buffer saline (PBS) and treated with only 1.5 μ g/ml *Spirulina platensis* (SP) on its own in CCM for 24 hours. The 1.5 μ g/ml SP concentration falls within the range that has been used in other studies [89], and MTT results supported this concentration. An untreated control, containing only CCM, was also prepared. Treatment for 24 hours' time period was also conducted, containing only ARVs [40] and SP separately.

3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay

The MTT assay was used to determine the cell viability. Cells (20 000 cells/well) were seeded in triplicate for each treatment in a 96-well microtitre plate and allowed to attach over 24 hours period (37° C, 5% CO₂). Thereafter, the treatment medium (SP) was added to the relevant wells from 0-5 µg/ml. After 24 hours the treatment medium (SP) was removed and replaced with a solution containing 4 mg MTT salt, 800 µl PBS and 4ml CCM. The solution was incubated for 4 hours and replaced with DMSO for 1 hour. The absorbance was then read at 570 nm with a reference wavelength of 690 nm (BioTek µQuant spectrophotometer, USA). The absorbance values were used to calculate the cell viability [90]. The log concentration and cell viability were analysed using GraphPad Prism 5 and Microsoft excel.

Reactive oxygen species analyses

Intracellular ROS was quantified using the fluorometric 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein-diacetate (H₂DCF-DA) assay. Control and treated cells (50,000 cells per treatment) were incubated in 500µl of 5µmol/l H₂DCF-DA stain (30 mins, 37 °C). Thereafter, the stain was removed through centrifugation (400xg, 10 mins, 24 °C) and cells were washed twice with 0.1 mol/l phosphate buffer saline (PBS). Cells were resuspended in 400 µl of 0.1 mol/l PBS and seeded in triplicate (100 µl/well) in a 96 well opaque microtiter plate. Fluorescence was measured with ModulusTM microplate luminometer (Turner Biosystems, Sunnyvale, CA) using a blue filter with an excitation wavelength (λ ex) of 488 nm and emission wavelength (λ em) of 529 nm. Results were expressed as Relative Fluorescence Units (RFU).

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity

The LDH cytotoxicity detection kit (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) was used to measure cell death/damage. To measure LDH activity, supernatant (100 μ l) was transferred into a 96-well microtitre plate in triplicate. Thereafter, substrate mixture (100 μ l) containing catalyst (diaphorase/NAD⁺) and dye solution (INT/sodium lactate) was added to the supernatant and allowed to react at RT for 25 mins. Optical density was measured at 500 nm (microplate reader – Bio-Tek μ Quant). Results are presented as mean optical density.

Mitochondrial membrane potential

The mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \psi m$) was measured by the JC-1 stain [91]. All samples, both control and treated cells (50,000 cells per treatment) were incubated in 200 µl of 5 µg/ml JC-1 stain (BD Biosciences, San Jose, NJ, USA) (20 mins, 37 °C). The stain was removed via centrifugation (400xg, 10 mins, 24 °C) and the cells were washed twice with JC-1 staining buffer. Cells were re-suspended in 400 µl of JC-1 staining buffer and seeded in an opaque 96-well plate in triplicate (100 µl/well). Fluorescence was quantified on a ModulusTM microplate reader (Turner Biosystems, Sunnyvale, CA). JC-1 monomers were measured with a blue filter ($\lambda ex = 488$ nm, $\lambda em = 529$ nm) and JC-1 aggregates were measured

with a green filter ($\lambda ex = 524 \text{ nm}$, $\lambda em = 594 \text{ nm}$). The $\Delta \psi m$ of the HepG2 cells was expressed as the fluorescence intensity ratio of JC-1 aggregates and JC-1 monomers [91].

Lipid peroxidation assessment

The thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) assay measured lipid peroxidation by-products malondialdehyde (MDA) and other TBARS as a measure of oxidative damage to lipids. TBARS assay was conducted as per the method described by Abdul, Nagiah [92]. Absorbance of the samples was read using a spectrophotometer, $\lambda = 532/600$ nm. Results were expressed as MDA concentration (μ M).

RNA analysis

Total RNA was isolated according to the method described by Chuturgoon, Phulukdaree [41]. Isolated RNA was quantified (Nanodrop 2000, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA) and standardised to 1000 ng/µl. cDNA was synthesised from standardised RNA using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad). Thermocycler conditions for cDNA synthesis were 25 °C for 5 min, 42 °C for 30 min, 85 °C for 5 min and a final hold at 4 °C. Gene expression was analysed using the SsoAdvancedTM Universal SYBR® Green Supermix kit (Bio-Rad). The mRNA expressions of Cox-1, Cox-2, Akt, and JNK were investigated using specific forward and reverse primers (Table 1). Reaction volumes which consisted of the following were prepared: SYBR green (5 µl), forward primer (1 µl), reverse primer (1 µl), nuclease free water (2 μ l) and cDNA template (1 μ l). All reactions were carried out in triplicate. The samples were amplified using a CFX96 Touch™Real- Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad). The initial denaturation occurred at 95 °C (4 min). Thereafter, 37 cycles of denaturation (15 s, 95 °C), annealing (40 s; temperatures— Table 1) and extension (30 s, 72 °C) occurred. The method described by Livak and Schmittgen [42] was employed to determine the changes in relative mRNA expression, where $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ represents the fold change relative to the untreated control. The expression of the gene of interest was normalised against the housekeeping gene, Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), which was amplified simultaneously under the same conditions.

Gene	Annealing	Primer	Sequence
	temperature		
Cox-1	50°C	Forward	5'-CGCCAGTGAATCCCTGTTGTT-3'
		Reverse	5'-AAGGTGGCATTGACAAACTCC-3'
Cox-2	53°C	Forward	5'-TAAGTGCGATTGTACCCGGAC-3'
		Reverse	5'-TTTGTAGCCATAGTCAGCATTGT-3'
JNK	59,7°C	Forward	5'-GACGCCTTATGTAGTGACTCGC-3'
		Reverse	5'-TCCTGGAAAGAGGATTTTGTGGC-3'

Table 1 The annealing temperatures and primer sequences for the genes of interest

GAPDH	Forward	5'-TCCACCACCCTGTTGCTGTA-3'
	Reverse	5'-ACCACAGTCCATGCCATCAC-3'

Micro-RNA analysis

The total RNA extracted (as previously described above) was reverse transcribed using the miScript \circledast II RT Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany; catalogue number 218160) as per manufacturer's instructions. To quantify miRNA levels, *miR-155* (MS00031486) and *miR-146a* (MS00033740) miScript Primer Assays was used, while *RNU6* (MS00033740) was used as an internal control (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Experimental protocol was performed as per manufacturer's instructions. The reaction was carried out with an initial activation step (95°C, 15 min), followed by 40 cycles of denaturation (94°C, 15 sec), annealing (55°C, 30 sec), extension (70°C, 30 sec) and a plate read. Assays were conducted using CFX TouchTM Real Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad). The analysis of data was conducted using the method described by Livak and Schmittgen (2^{-ΔΔCT}) [42].

Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism version 5.0 (GraphPad Software Inc., California) was used to perform all statistical analyses. The one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Bonferroni test for multiple group comparison (data is presented as 95% CI) was used to determine statistical significance. All results were represented as the mean \pm standard deviation unless otherwise stated. A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Cell viability

The MTT assay was used to determine cell viability and to confirm the suitable concentration for SP treatment. 1.5 μ g/ml SP concentration is supported by range from other studies [89]. Figure 1A shows that cell viability mostly increased with increased SP concentrations. Figure 1B indicates that 1.5 μ g/ml is more beneficial to HepG2 cell viability. Moreover, an IC₅₀ value was calculated using GraphPad Prism 5.0 and was determined to be 11.75 μ g/ml for SP in HepG2 cells.



Figure 1. The effects of increased SP treatment concentration on the cell viability in HepG2 cells after 24 hours. A: Overall SP increased the cell viability above that of control cells; B: SP concentration of 1.5μ g/ml showed to be more favourable in maintaining cell viability.

MicroRNA Response

The main function of miRNA is to control gene expression at the post-transcriptional level through degrading or repressing target mRNAs. MiR-146a levels A: (p < 0.0001), B: (p < 0.0001) increased in SP and HAART treated cells except 3TC. HAART-SP also indicated an increase miR-146a level except FTC-SP B: (p < 0.0001). (Figure 2). The miR-155 levels increased in SP and HAART treated cells except 3TC and TDF A: (p < 0.0001), B: (p < 0.0001). (HAART-SP treated cells indicated a significant decrease in miR-146a levels B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 3).



Figure 2. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on MiR-146a levels. MiR-146a levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); p<0.05, p<0.005, p<0.005, p<0.0001



Figure 3. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on the miR-155 levels. MiR-155 levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); p<0.05, **p<0.0001.

Cyclooxygenase (Cox) family Response

Cyclooxygenase-2 (Cox-2) is expressed by inflammatory cells, such as macrophages, and can be induced by TNF. Cox-2 is a central link to various inflammatory processes [93]. Cox-2 has been associated with inflammation, whereas the constitutively expressed Cyclooxygenase-1 (Cox-1) is generally considered as a housekeeping enzyme. However, recent evidence suggests that COX-1 can also be upregulated and may play a prominent role in the brain during neuroinflammation [94]. Cox-1 mRNA expression was reduced in SP treated cells and mostly decreased in HAART (except TDF) treated cells A: (p = 0.0003), B: (p < 0.0001). However, Cox-1 expression is significantly increased in HAART-SP treated cells B: (p< 0.0001) (Figure 4). Cox-2 mRNA expression is decreased in SP treated cells at 24 hrs exposure A: (p< 0.0001), and mostly reduced in HAART (except 3TC) treated cells after 24 hrs exposure B: (p <0.0001) (Figure 5). However, cells exposed to HAART-SP treatment showed a significant decrease B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 5).



Figure 4. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on Cox-1 mRNA expression. Cox-1 mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001



Figure 5. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on Cox-2 mRNA expression. Cox-2 mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p < 0.05, **p < 0.005, **p < 0.0001

Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK)

Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK) belong to the superfamily of MAP kinases that are involved in the regulation of cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis [95]. JNK mRNA expression decreased in SP and HAART treated cells A: (p < 0.0001), B: (p < 0.0001). HAART-SP treated cells showed a decrease in the expression of JNK mRNA except TDF-SP B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on JNK mRNA expression. JNK mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p < 0.05, **p < 0.005, **p < 0.0001

Assessment of oxidative stress

Oxidative stress parameters were quantified in HepG2 cells via H₂DCF-DA assay. SP treated cells displayed significant increased levels of intracellular ROS, while HAART also induced a significantly abnormal increase in intracellular ROS following acute and prolonged exposure, with only 3TC (96hrs) indicating a significant decrease A: (p < 0.0001), B: (p < 0.0001). Interestingly, SP managed to reduce



access ROS induced by prolonged exposure to HAART, specifically there was a positive synergistic effect B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 7).

Figure 7. Intracellular ROS levels represented as relative light units (RLU) produced after H₂DCF-DA staining in HepG2 cells. Intracellular ROS levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001

Mitochondrial stress responses

Mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta m\psi$) was measured to determine mitochondrial health and function. The JC-1 assay was used to determine $\Delta m\psi$. SP and HAART treated HepG2 cells showed healthy $\Delta \psi m$ A: (p < 0.0001), B: (p < 0.0001), and HAART-SP also showed healthy $\Delta \psi m$ results B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 8). Extracellular levels of LDH were quantified using a colorimetric assay to assess the integrity of the cell membrane, since LDH is exclusively found in the cytoplasm and only exits the cell through damaged membranes [96]. The increase in LDH release suggests increased cell damage [97], and can be an early indicator of increased necrotic cell death. SP and HAART mostly indicated significant elevated LDH levels after acute exposure A: (p < 0.0001). However, prolonged exposure of HepG2 cells to HAART followed by acute exposure to SP mostly reduced LDH levels B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 9). Unfavourably, FTC-SP indicated a significant increase (Figure 9).



Figure 8. Mitochondrial response. $\Delta m\psi$ represented as a ratio of JC-1 aggregates and JC-1 monomers. The $\Delta m\psi$ after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p < 0.05, **p < 0.005, ***p < 0.0001



Figure 9. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on Intracellular LDH levels. Intracellular LDH levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p < 0.05, **p < 0.005, ***p < 0.0001

The MDA levels were quantified in HepG2 cells post chronic exposure to ARVs and acute exposure to *Spirulina platensis*. The MDA levels were significantly decreased in SP treated cells and significantly increased for 3TC and TDF after acute exposure A: (p < 0.0001), while decreased in HAART-SP treated HepG2 cells compared to the untreated cells B: (p < 0.0001), except for FTC-SP which showed a significant increase (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Extracellular MDA levels in SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) treated HepG2 cells. Extracellular MDA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); ****p*<0.0001

Discussion

Studies have shown that the possible therapeutic effects of antioxidants may provide strategies in suppressing oxidative stress- and inflammation-induced comorbidities that emerge with the use of HAART therapy in HIV-infected individuals [19]. The combination of HIV and HAART has been

associated with increased oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation [98]. *Spirulina Platensis* (SP) is a potent antioxidant [75, 76] with anti-inflammatory activities [23], which makes it a potential supplement in the mitigation of oxidative stress induced by HAART adverse drug reactions. SP can inhibit NADPH oxidase which is considered as one of the main sources of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and free radicals [23], resulting in reduced oxidative stress [30]. Coincidentally, HAART is known to induce oxidative stress [17, 18, 99]. SP increased cell viability of HepG2 cell upon acute exposure. The ability of SP was supported by our data from measuring intracellular ROS, where SP managed to bring normalcy (Figure 7). SP only treated cells displayed increased levels of intracellular ROS, while HAART induced a significantly abnormal increase (Figure 7). However, SP managed to reduce access ROS induced by prolonged exposure to HAART (Figure 7). SP is rich with antioxidant properties [26, 75], also contains phycocyanin commonly known for reducing oxidative stress and NADPH oxidase [30]. Hence, the oxidative stress and NADPH oxidase inhibition ability by SP may explain the observed reduction levels of intracellular ROS (Figure 7) following SP exposure in HepG2 cells treated with HAART.

The ETC is responsible for ROS production and complications in this process may result in oxidative stress and depolarisation of the mitochondria, consequently causing a decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta\psi$ m) and mitochondrial production of ATP [100]. SP prevented mitochondrial membrane depolarisation of HepG2 cells, this is demonstrated by the $\Delta\psi$ m data (Figure 8). SP and HAART treated cells showed healthy $\Delta\psi$ m, and HAART-SP also showed healthy $\Delta\psi$ m (Figure 8). Studies *in vitro* showed that SP can scavenge nitric oxide and prevent DNA damage [101], also can enhance cell nucleus enzyme function and DNA repair synthesis [102]. Moreover, it can enhance mitochondrial health [32-35], this agrees with the results observed in this present study.

ROS induced lipid peroxidation is responsible for oxidative damage and reduction of cell membrane function [103]. LDH is exclusively found in the cytoplasm and only exits the cell through damaged membranes [96]. The ETC is responsible for ROS production and complications in this process may result in oxidative stress and depolarisation of the mitochondria, consequently causing a decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential and mitochondrial production of ATP [100]. SP and HAART mostly indicated significant elevated LDH levels after acute exposure (Figure 9). However, prolonged exposure of HepG2 cells to HAART followed by acute exposure to SP mostly reduced LDH levels (Figure 9).

Abnormal production of ROS results in peroxidation of lipids, which produces by-products such as MDA [104]. The MDA levels were significantly decreased in SP treated cells, while decreased in HAART-SP treated HepG2 cells compared to the untreated cells (Figure 10). However, there was an increase MDA levels for FTC-SP (Figure 10), this could be due to the fact that FTC is fluorinated NRTI [105], and fluoride on its own have been linked to oxidative stress, mitochondrial damage, and alteration of gene expression upon prolonged exposure [106], this could lead to SP requiring more exposure period to mend or bring balance to HepG2 cells that have been exposed to FTC.

The evidence supporting the function of microRNAs (miRNAs) in the control of inflammatory diseases is growing. Dysregulated microRNAs either directly or indirectly affect the expression and activity of molecules of inflammation [85]. The increased expression of miR-155 and miR-146a in metabolic syndromes was found to contribute to inflammation-mediated glomerular endothelial injury [86]. Together, SP and HAART were able to significantly lower miR-155, which may be a sign of that the medication is reducing antiinflammation (Figure 3). The main function of miRNA is to control gene expression at the post-transcriptional level through degrading or repressing target mRNAs. SP and HAART together managed to significantly reduce miR-155, this is the sign of reduction of inflammation due to the treatment (Figure 3). MiR-146a levels increased in SP and HAART treated cells (Figure 2). However, HAART-SP also indicated an increase miR-146a level (Figure 2), This might be due to limited exposure time or SP might be using another favourable path to combat inflammation.

Increasing evidence suggests the involvement of microRNA (miR-146a) in the pathogenesis of multiple diseases, including atherosclerosis, bacterial infection, and cancer [107]. MiR-146a levels increased in SP and HAART treated cells except 3TC (Figure 2). HAART-SP also indicated an increase miR-146a level except FTC-SP (Figure 2). The miR-155 levels increased in SP and HAART treated cells except 3TC and TDF. HAART-SP treated cells indicated a significant decrease in miR-155 levels (Figure 3). It is noteworthy, that the expression of miR-146a in HepG2 cells after exposure to SP and HAART is being tested for the first time in this present study. Studies revealed that miR-146a expression was deceased when c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) or nuclear factor (NF)-kB signaling was inhibited, suggesting that there is a corelation between the expression of JNK and miR-146a. Moreover, It has been demonstrated that miR-146a might be useful to inhibits inflammatory activation [107]. In the present study, miR-146a expression decreased in HepG2 cells exposed to HAART, following up with SP.

It has been demonstrated that miR-146a expression levels are significantly lower in lung cancer cells as compared with normal lung cells. Conversely, lung cancer cells have higher levels of Cyclooxygenase-2 (Cox-2) protein and mRNA expression [108]. According to Cornett and Lutz [108], introduction of miR-146a can specifically ablate Cox-2 protein and the biological activity of Cox-2, they proposed that decreased miR-146a expression contributes to the up-regulation and overexpression of Cox-2 in lung cancer cells [108].

Cox-2 is expressed by inflammatory cells, such as macrophages, and can be induced by tumor necrosis factor (TNF). Cox-2 is a central link to various inflammatory processes [93]. Cox-2 has been associated with inflammation, whereas the constitutively expressed Cyclooxygenase-1 (Cox-1) is generally considered as a housekeeping enzyme. However, recent evidence suggests that Cox-1 can also be upregulated and may play a prominent role in the brain during neuroinflammation [94]. Cox-1 mRNA expression was reduced in SP treated cells and mostly decreased in HAART (except TDF) treated cells (Figure 4). However, Cox-1 expression is significantly increased in HAART-SP treated cells (Figure 4). Continuing Cox-family investigation, Cox-2 mRNA expression is decreased in SP treated cells upon acute exposure (Figure 5). However, cells exposed to HAART-SP treatment showed a significant

decrease in Cox-2 mRNA expression (Figure 5). SP has been proven to inhibit Cox-2 expression. In addition, SP exerts regulatory effects on mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) activation pathways, such as c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) [109-111]. The data indicate that JNK mRNA was reduced by SP, which agrees with previous studies. Moreso, SP and HAART showed synergy except TDF. Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK) belong to the superfamily of MAP kinases that are involved in the regulation of cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis [95]. JNK mRNA expression decreased in SP and HAART treated cells. HAART-SP treated cells showed a decrease in the expression of JNK mRNA except TDF-SP (Figure 6).

COX is a key enzyme for conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandins and has two isozymes Cox-1 and Cox-2. It has been found that overexpression of Cox-2 in cancer cell lines promotes their ability to invade surrounding tissues as well as increases cell invasion in gastric cancer. Some miRNAs downregulated the expression of *Cox-1* and *Cox-2* genes and thereby inhibited cell invasion [112]. This study investigated the expression of miRNAs that target *Cox-1/2* mRNAs and evaluated the effect of SP on the expression of the *Cox-1/2* mRNAs in HepG2 cells. In the current study, miRNA and mRNA expression was performed to find the corelation in the expression of miRNAs (miR-146a and miR-155) and *Cox-1/2* mRNA [112]. The present study shows a significant reduction of Cox-2, this is an indication that SP might be targeting Cox-2 as one of the many mechanisms to inhibit inflammation.

Cox-1 is known to be present in most tissues that involve maintenance of tissue homeostasis and cell signalling. Also, Cox-1 is shown in angiogenesis in endothelial cells. Cox-2 is a well-known gene associated with inflammatory mediation and participated in numerous biological processes such as pain, inflammation, cancer, angiogenesis, carcinogenesis or development of immunity [113]. According to Cheng, Zhao [114], inhibition of miR-155 and Cox-2 provides a protective effect in high glucose conditions [114]. MiR-155 enhances Cox-2 expression and is an established regulator of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and inflammation [115]. Some natural compounds suppress inflammatory activity, especially, those that are found in traditional medicine and dietary supplements have the potential to be developed as Cox-2 inhibitor [113]. Cox-1 expression increased post-treatment HAART-SP in this present study is a sign of protective function and successful synergy between SP and HAART (Figure 4). This study found that SP potentially mitigates metabolic syndrome characteristics via the regulation of inflammatory miRNAs. We hereby recommend further exploration on the synergistic roles of SP and HAART in the expression of microRNA with more focus on inflammatory pathway.

Conclusion

SP mitigates metabolic syndrome characteristics via the inhibition of miRNA that promotes inflammation. Moreover, HAART-SP promotes ROS balance, which is important for mitochondrial quality control. SP maintains intracellular balance, reduces excess ROS, protects mitochondrial potential, prevents necrotic cell death, and enhance mitochondrial quality. Most of these SP qualities worked most favourably with HAART. We hereby recommend further investigation of *Spirulina*

Platensis' ability to inhibit chronic negative effects of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) *in vitro* via gene knockouts.

Reference

- 1. UNAIDS, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). Global report: UNAIDS report on the global AIDS epidemic 2021. Global HIV & AIDS statistics: Fact sheet, 2021.
- 2. UNAIDS, Global HIV & AIDS Statistics—2020 Fact Sheet, 2021. https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/fact-sheet (Accessed 11 September 2021 2021).
- 3. WHO, HIV/AIDS, 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hiv-aids. (Accessed 30 November 2021 2021).
- 4. Release, S. *Mid-Year Population Estimates*. 2021, Statistics South Africa. Available online: http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0302/P03022021.pdf (accessed on 18 November 2021).
- 5. Deeks, S.G., et al., *HIV infection*. Nature reviews Disease primers, 2015. **1**(1): p. 1-22.
- 6. Arts, E.J. and D.J. Hazuda, *HIV-1 antiretroviral drug therapy*. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine, 2012. **2**(4): p. a007161.
- 7. Palella Jr, F.J., et al., *Declining morbidity and mortality among patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1998. **338**(13): p. 853-860.
- 8. Michaels, S.H., R. Clark, and P. Kissinger, *Declining morbidity and mortality among patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1998. **339**(6): p. 405-406.
- 9. Nasi, M., et al., *Ageing and inflammation in patients with HIV infection*. Clinical & Experimental Immunology, 2017. **187**(1): p. 44-52.
- 10. Wada, N.I., et al., *The effect of HAART-induced HIV suppression on circulating markers of inflammation and immune activation*. AIDS (London, England), 2015. **29**(4): p. 463.
- 11. Keating, S.M., et al., *The effect of HIV infection and HAART on inflammatory biomarkers in a population-based cohort of US women.* AIDS (London, England), 2011. **25**(15): p. 1823.
- 12. Beinke, S. and S.C. Ley, *Functions of NF-κB1 and NF-κB2 in immune cell biology*. Biochemical Journal, 2004. **382**(2): p. 393-409.
- 13. National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA). What is HAART? 2012. Available online: https://www.https://www.drugabuse.gov/drugabuse.gov/publications/researchreports/hivaids/what-haart (accessed on 30 November 2021).
- 14. Mohan, J., T. Ghazi, and A.A. Chuturgoon, *A Critical Review of the Biochemical Mechanisms and Epigenetic Modifications in HIV- and Antiretroviral-Induced Metabolic Syndrome.* International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2021. **22**(21): p. 12020.
- 15. Manda, K.R., et al., *Highly active antiretroviral therapy drug combination induces oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in immortalized human blood–brain barrier endothelial cells.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2011. **50**(7): p. 801-810.
- 16. Blas-Garcia, A., N. Apostolova, and J. V Esplugues, *Oxidative stress and mitochondrial impairment after treatment with anti-HIV drugs: clinical implications*. Current pharmaceutical design, 2011. **17**(36): p. 4076-4086.
- 17. Ngondi, J.L., et al., *The effect of different combination therapies on oxidative stress markers in HIV infected patients in Cameroon*. AIDS Research and Therapy, 2006. **3**(1): p. 19.
- Masiá, M., et al., Influence of antiretroviral therapy on oxidative stress and cardiovascular risk: a prospective cross-sectional study in HIV-infected patients. Clinical Therapeutics, 2007. 29(7): p. 1448-1455.
- 19. Mondal, D., et al., *HAART drugs induce oxidative stress in human endothelial cells and increase endothelial recruitment of mononuclear cells.* Cardiovascular toxicology, 2004. **4**(3): p. 287-302.

- 20. Mohan, J., T. Ghazi, and A.A. Chuturgoon, *A Critical Review of the Biochemical Mechanisms and Epigenetic Modifications in HIV-and Antiretroviral-Induced Metabolic Syndrome*. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2021. **22**(21): p. 12020.
- 21. Aounallah, M., et al., Current topics in HIV pathogenesis, part 2: Inflammation drives a Warburg-like effect on the metabolism of HIV-infected subjects. Cytokine & growth factor reviews, 2016. 28: p. 1-10.
- 22. Palios, J., N.P. Kadoglou, and S. Lampropoulos, *The pathophysiology of HIV-/HAART-related metabolic syndrome leading to cardiovascular disorders: the emerging role of adipokines*. Experimental Diabetes Research, 2011. **2012**.
- 23. Izadi, M. and M. Fazilati, *Extraction and purification of phycocyanin from spirulina platensis and evaluating its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity*. Asian Journal of Green Chemistry, 2018. **2**(4. pp. 281-394): p. 364-379.
- 24. Zheng, J., et al., *Phycocyanin and phycocyanobilin from Spirulina platensis protect against diabetic nephropathy by inhibiting oxidative stress*. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 2013. **304**(2): p. R110-R120.
- 25. Bashandy, S.A., et al., Antioxidant potential of Spirulina platensis mitigates oxidative stress and reprotoxicity induced by sodium arsenite in male rats. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity, 2016. **2016**.
- 26. Estrada, J.P., P.B. Bescós, and A.V. Del Fresno, *Antioxidant activity of different fractions of Spirulina platensis protean extract*. Il farmaco, 2001. **56**(5-7): p. 497-500.
- 27. Iyer Uma, M., A. Sophia, and V. Mani Uliyar, *GLYCEMIC AND LIPEMIC RESPONSES OF SELECTED SPIRULINA-SUPPLEMENTED RICE-BASED RECIPES IN NORMAL SUBJECTS.* Age (years), 1999. **22**: p. 1.8.
- 28. Serban, M.-C., et al., A systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of Spirulina supplementation on plasma lipid concentrations. Clinical Nutrition, 2016. **35**(4): p. 842-851.
- 29. Finamore, A., et al., *Antioxidant, immunomodulating, and microbial-modulating activities of the sustainable and ecofriendly spirulina*. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity, 2017. **2017**.
- 30. Riss, J., et al., *Phycobiliprotein C-phycocyanin from Spirulina platensis is powerfully* responsible for reducing oxidative stress and NADPH oxidase expression induced by an atherogenic diet in hamsters. J. of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2007. **55**(19): p. 7962-7967.
- 31. Abdelkhalek, N.K., E.W. Ghazy, and M.M. Abdel-Daim, *Pharmacodynamic interaction of Spirulina platensis and deltamethrin in freshwater fish Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus: impact on lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress.* Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 2015. **22**(4): p. 3023-3031.
- 32. Nawrocka, D., et al., Spirulina platensis improves mitochondrial function impaired by elevated oxidative stress in adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells (ASCs) and intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), and enhances insulin sensitivity in equine metabolic syndrome (EMS) horses. Marine drugs, 2017. **15**(8): p. 237.
- 33. Jadaun, P., D. Yadav, and P.S. Bisen, *Spirulina platensis prevents high glucose-induced oxidative stress mitochondrial damage mediated apoptosis in cardiomyoblasts*. Cytotechnology, 2018. **70**(2): p. 523-536.
- Sun, J.-y., et al., Selenium-containing protein from selenium-enriched spirulina platensis attenuates cisplatin-induced apoptosis in MC3T3-E1 Mouse preosteoblast by inhibiting mitochondrial dysfunction and ROS-Mediated oxidative damage. Frontiers in physiology, 2019.
 9: p. 1907.
- 35. Oriquat, G.A., et al., *Improving hepatic mitochondrial biogenesis as a postulated mechanism for the antidiabetic effect of Spirulina platensis in comparison with metformin.* Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 2019. **44**(4): p. 357-364.
- Thabethe, K.R., G.A. Adefolaju, and M.J. Hosie, *The effects of HAART on the expression of MUC1 and P65 in a cervical cancer cell line, HCS-2.* Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy, 2015.
 71: p. 227-232.
- 37. Mandal, A., et al., *Design of lipophilic prodrugs to improve drug delivery and efficacy*. Current drug targets, 2016. **17**(15): p. 1773-1798.

- 38. Erickson-Viitanen, S., et al., *Cellular pharmacology of D-d4FC, a nucleoside analogue active against drug-resistant HIV.* Antiviral Chemistry and Chemotherapy, 2003. **14**(1): p. 39-47.
- 39. Adefolaju, G.A., K.E. Scholtz, and M.J. Hosie, *Expresión de VEGF165b Antiangiogénico en Células MCF-7 y MCF-10A de Mama Humana Expuesto a Inhibidores de la Transcriptasa Inversa y la Proteasa*. International Journal of Morphology, 2017. **35**(1): p. 148-156.
- 40. Nagiah, S., A. Phulukdaree, and A. Chuturgoon, *Mitochondrial and oxidative stress response in HepG2 cells following acute and prolonged exposure to antiretroviral drugs*. Journal of cellular biochemistry, 2015. **116**(9): p. 1939-1946.
- 41. Chuturgoon, A., A. Phulukdaree, and D. Moodley, *Fumonisin B1 induces global DNA hypomethylation in HepG2 cells–An alternative mechanism of action.* Toxicology, 2014. **315**: p. 65-69.
- 42. Livak, K.J. and T.D. Schmittgen, Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2-\Delta\Delta CT$ method. methods, 2001. **25**(4): p. 402-408.
- 43. McNeill, E., et al., *Regulation of iNOS function and cellular redox state by macrophage Gch1 reveals specific requirements for tetrahydrobiopterin in NRF2 activation.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2015. **79**: p. 206-216.
- 44. Liang, W.-J., et al., *HMGB1 upregulates NF-kB by inhibiting IKB-α and associates with diabetic retinopathy.* Life sciences, 2020. **241**: p. 117146.
- 45. Greco, R., et al., *IkappaB-alpha expression following transient focal cerebral ischemia is modulated by nitric oxide*. Brain research, 2011. **1372**: p. 145-151.
- 46. Wojdasiewicz, P., Ł.A. Poniatowski, and D. Szukiewicz, *The role of inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis*. Mediators of inflammation, 2014. **2014**.
- 47. Gately, M.K., et al., *The interleukin-12/interleukin-12-receptor system: role in normal and pathologic immune responses.* Annual review of immunology, 1998. **16**(1): p. 495-521.
- 48. Bishayee, A., *The inflammation and liver cancer*. Inflammation and cancer, 2014: p. 401-435.
- 49. Hoesel, B. and J.A. Schmid, *The complexity of NF-κB signaling in inflammation and cancer*. Molecular cancer, 2013. **12**(1): p. 1-15.
- 50. Luedde, T. and R.F. Schwabe, $NF \cdot \kappa B$ in the liver—linking injury, fibrosis and hepatocellular *carcinoma*. Nature reviews Gastroenterology & hepatology, 2011. **8**(2): p. 108-118.
- 51. Ben-Neriah, Y. and M. Karin, *Inflammation meets cancer, with NF-\kappa B as the matchmaker*. Nature immunology, 2011. **12**(8): p. 715-723.
- 52. Cherng, S.-C., et al., Anti-inflammatory activity of c-phycocyanin in lipopolysaccharidestimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages. Life sciences, 2007. **81**(19-20): p. 1431-1435.
- 53. Sibiya, T., T. Ghazi, and A. Chuturgoon, *The Potential of Spirulina platensis to Ameliorate the Adverse Effects of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART)*. Nutrients, 2022. **14**(15): p. 3076.
- 54. Antonaki, A., et al., *Genomic analysis reveals a novel nuclear factor-\kappa B (NF-\kappa B)-binding site in Alu-repetitive elements.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2011. **286**(44): p. 38768-38782.
- 55. Romay, C., et al., *Effects of phycocyanin extract on tumor necrosis factor-α and nitrite levels in serum of mice treated with endotoxin.* Arzneimittelforschung, 2001. **51**(09): p. 733-736.
- 56. Remirez, D., et al., *Influence of C-phycocyanin on hepatocellular parameters related to liver oxidative stress and Kupffer cell functioning*. Inflammation Research, 2002. **51**(7): p. 351-356.
- 57. Patel, A., S. Mishra, and P. Ghosh, *Antioxidant potential of C-phycocyanin isolated from cyanobacterial species Lyngbya, Phormidium and Spirulina spp.* 2006.
- 58. Schafer, F.Q., et al., Comparing β -carotene, vitamin E and nitric oxide as membrane antioxidants. Biological chemistry, 2002. **383**(3-4): p. 671-681.
- 59. Bai, S.-K., et al., β -Carotene inhibits inflammatory gene expression in lipopolysaccharidestimulated macrophages by suppressing redox-based NF- κ B activation. Experimental & molecular medicine, 2005. **37**(4): p. 323-334.
- Katsuura, S., et al., β-Carotene and β-cryptoxanthin but not lutein evoke redox and immune changes in RAW264 murine macrophages. Molecular nutrition & food research, 2009. 53(11): p. 1396-1405.
- 61. Romay, C., et al., *Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of C-phycocyanin from bluegreen algae.* Inflammation research, 1998. **47**(1): p. 36-41.

- 62. Romay, C., N. Ledon, and R. Gonzalez, *Further studies on anti-inflammatory activity of phycocyanin in some animal models of inflammation*. Inflammation Research, 1998. **47**(8): p. 334-338.
- 63. Houston, M.C., *The role of nutrition and nutraceutical supplements in the prevention and treatment of hypertension.* system, 2013. **1**(7): p. 8.
- 64. Strasky, Z., et al., Spirulina platensis and phycocyanobilin activate atheroprotective heme oxygenase-1: a possible implication for atherogenesis. Food & function, 2013. 4(11): p. 1586-1594.
- 65. Jensen, G.S., et al., *Clinical safety of a high dose of Phycocyanin-enriched aqueous extract from Arthrospira (Spirulina) platensis: Results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study with a focus on anticoagulant activity and platelet activation.* Journal of medicinal food, 2016. **19**(7): p. 645-653.
- 66. WHO. *HIV/AIDS*. 2021 [cited 2021 30 November 2021]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hiv-aids</u>.
- 67. WHO. *HIV/AIDS*. 2021 4 August 2021]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hiv-aids</u>.
- 68. Africa, U.-S. *HIV and AIDS Estimates*. 2020; Available from: <u>https://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/southafrica</u>.
- 69. Iyer Uma, M., A. Sophia, and V. Uliyar, *Glycemic and lipemic responses of selected spirulina*supplemented rice-based recipes in normal subjects. Age Years, 1999. **22**: p. 1-8.
- Kannan, M., et al., *Phytochemical screening and antioxidant activity of marine algae Gracilaria corticata and Spirulina platensis*. Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research, 2014. 6(11): p. 312-18.
- 71. Jaime, L., et al., Separation and characterization of antioxidants from Spirulina platensis microalga combining pressurized liquid extraction, TLC, and HPLC-DAD. Journal of separation science, 2005. **28**(16): p. 2111-2119.
- 72. El-Baky, A., et al., *Enhancement of antioxidant production in Spirulina platensis under oxidative stress.* Acta physiologiae plantarum, 2009. **31**(3): p. 623-631.
- 73. Prabakaran, G., et al., *Extraction and characterization of phycocyanin from Spirulina platensis and evaluation of its anticancer, antidiabetic and antiinflammatory effect.* International journal of biological macromolecules, 2020. **153**: p. 256-263.
- 74. Herrero, M., et al., *Characterization by high-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry of the lipid fraction of Spirulina platensis pressurized ethanol extract.* Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry: An International Journal Devoted to the Rapid Dissemination of Up-to-the-Minute Research in Mass Spectrometry, 2007. **21**(11): p. 1729-1738.
- 75. Hu, Z. and Z. Liu, *Determination and purification of beta-carotene in Spirulina maximum*. Se pu= Chinese Journal of Chromatography, 2001. **19**(1): p. 85-87.
- 76. Miranda, M., et al., *Antioxidant activity of the microalga Spirulina maxima*. Brazilian Journal of Medical and biological research, 1998. **31**(8): p. 1075-1079.
- 77. Ambros, V., *The functions of animal microRNAs*. Nature, 2004. **431**(7006): p. 350-355.
- 78. Chen, C., *MicroRNAs as oncogenes and tumor suppressors*. New England journal of medicine, 2005. **353**(17): p. 1768.
- 79. Lewis, B.P., C.B. Burge, and D.P. Bartel, *Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets.* cell, 2005. **120**(1): p. 15-20.
- 80. Gusev, Y., *Computational methods for analysis of cellular functions and pathways collectively targeted by differentially expressed microRNA*. Methods, 2008. **44**(1): p. 61-72.
- 81. Maziere, P. and A.J. Enright, *Prediction of microRNA targets*. Drug discovery today, 2007. **12**(11-12): p. 452-458.
- 82. Chuturgoon, A.A., A. Phulukdaree, and D. Moodley, *Fumonisin B1 modulates expression of human cytochrome P450 1b1 in human hepatoma (Hepg2) cells by repressing Mir-27b.* Toxicology letters, 2014. **227**(1): p. 50-55.
- 83. Heneghan, H., N. Miller, and M. Kerin, *Role of microRNAs in obesity and the metabolic syndrome*. Obesity reviews, 2010. **11**(5): p. 354-361.

- 84. Ge, Q., et al., *microRNAs as a new mechanism regulating adipose tissue inflammation in obesity and as a novel therapeutic strategy in the metabolic syndrome.* Journal of immunology research, 2014. **2014**.
- 85. Włodarski, A., et al., *The Role of microRNAs in Metabolic Syndrome-Related Oxidative Stress*. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2020. **21**(18): p. 6902.
- 86. Huang, Y., et al., *Involvement of inflammation-related miR-155 and miR-146a in diabetic nephropathy: implications for glomerular endothelial injury.* BMC nephrology, 2014. **15**(1): p. 1-12.
- 87. Stramarkou, M., et al., *Comparative analysis of different drying techniques based on the qualitative characteristics of Spirulina platensis biomass.* Journal of Aquatic Food Product Technology, 2021. **30**(5): p. 498-516.
- 88. Adefolaju, G.A., K.E. Scholtz, and M.J. Hosie, *Antiangiogenic VEGF165b Expression in Human Breast MCF-7 and MCF-10A Cells Exposed to Reverse Transcriptase and Protease Inhibitors.* International Journal of Morphology, 2017. **35**(1): p. 148-156.
- 89. Ayehunie, S., et al., *Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by an aqueous extract of Spirulina platensis* (*Arthrospira platensis*). Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes and human retrovirology: official publication of the International Retrovirology Association, 1998. **18**(1): p. 7-12.
- Vijayarathna, S. and S. Sasidharan, Cytotoxicity of methanol extracts of Elaeis guineensis on MCF-7 and Vero cell lines. Asian pacific journal of tropical biomedicine, 2012. 2(10): p. 826-829.
- 91. Zheng, J., et al., *Zinc protects HepG2 cells against the oxidative damage and DNA damage induced by ochratoxin A.* Toxicology and applied pharmacology, 2013. **268**(2): p. 123-131.
- 92. Abdul, N.S., S. Nagiah, and A.A. Chuturgoon, *Fusaric acid induces mitochondrial stress in human hepatocellular carcinoma (HepG2) cells*. Toxicon, 2016. **119**: p. 336-344.
- 93. Rawat, C., et al., *Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors: future therapeutic strategies for epilepsy management.* Journal of neuroinflammation, 2019. **16**(1): p. 1-15.
- 94. Ghazanfari, N., et al., *Is cyclooxygenase-1 involved in neuroinflammation?* Journal of neuroscience research, 2021. **99**(11): p. 2976-2998.
- 95. Dhanasekaran, D.N. and E.P. Reddy, *JNK signaling in apoptosis*. Oncogene, 2008. **27**(48): p. 6245-6251.
- 96. Watanabe, W., et al., *Use of lactate dehydrogenase to evaluate the anti-viral activity against influenza A virus.* Journal of virological methods, 1995. **51**(2-3): p. 185-191.
- 97. Nagiah, S., A. Phulukdaree, and A. Chuturgoon, *Inverse association between microRNA-124a* and ABCC4 in HepG2 cells treated with antiretroviral drugs. Xenobiotica, 2016. **46**(9): p. 825-830.
- 98. Jivanka Mohan, T.G.a.A.C., A Critical Review of the Biochemical Mechanisms and Epigenetic Modifications in HIV- and Antiretroviral-Induced Metabolic Syndrome. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2021, 22(21), 2021.
- 99. Park, B.K., M. Pirmohamed, and N.R. Kitteringham, *The role of cytochrome P450 enzymes in hepatic and extrahepatic human drug toxicity*. Pharmacology & therapeutics, 1995. **68**(3): p. 385-424.
- 100. Small, D.M., et al., Oxidative stress, anti-oxidant therapies and chronic kidney disease. Nephrology, 2012. **17**(4): p. 311-321.
- 101. Kamble, S.P., et al., *Extraction and purification of C-phycocyanin from dry Spirulina powder and evaluating its antioxidant, anticoagulation and prevention of DNA damage activity.* Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science, 2013. **3**(8): p. 149.
- 102. Ali, S.K. and A.M. Saleh, *Spirulina-an overview*. International journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical sciences, 2012. **4**(3): p. 9-15.
- 103. Repetto, M., J. Semprine, and A. Boveris, *Lipid peroxidation: chemical mechanism, biological implications and analytical determination.* Vol. 1. 2012: chapter.
- Ayala, A., et al., Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity. 2014: 1–31.

- 105. Devrukhakar, P.S., et al., A validated stability-indicating RP-HPLC method for the simultaneous determination of tenofovir, emtricitabine, and a efavirenz and statistical approach to determine the effect of variables. International Scholarly Research Notices, 2013. 2013.
- 106. Zuo, H., et al., *Toxic effects of fluoride on organisms*. Life sciences, 2018. **198**: p. 18-24.
- 107. Li, Z., et al., *Oxidized low-density lipoprotein upregulates microRNA-146a via JNK and NF-κB signaling*. Molecular medicine reports, 2016. **13**(2): p. 1709-1716.
- 108. Cornett, A.L. and C.S. Lutz, *Regulation of COX-2 expression by miR-146a in lung cancer cells*. Rna, 2014. **20**(9): p. 1419-1430.
- 109. Khan, M., et al., *C-phycocyanin protects against ischemia-reperfusion injury of heart through involvement of p38 MAPK and ERK signaling*. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 2006. **290**(5): p. H2136-H2145.
- 110. Li, X.-L., et al., *Phycocyanin protects INS-1E pancreatic beta cells against human islet amyloid polypeptide-induced apoptosis through attenuating oxidative stress and modulating JNK and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways.* The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology, 2009. **41**(7): p. 1526-1535.
- 111. Sadek, K.M., et al., Spirulina platensis prevents hyperglycemia in rats by modulating gluconeogenesis and apoptosis via modification of oxidative stress and MAPK-pathways. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy, 2017. **92**: p. 1085-1094.
- 112. Akrami, H., et al., *The effect of ibuprofen on expression of Cox-1/2-related miRNAs in MKN-45-derived cancer stem-like cells*. Journal of Reports in Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2019. 8(1): p. 18.
- 113. Binh, B.T., et al., *Anti-inflammatory effect of (7R, 8S)-dehydrodiconiferyl alcohol-9' γ-methyl ether from the rhizome of Belamcanda Chinensis: Role of mir-146a and mir-155*. Biomedical and Pharmacology Journal, 2016. **9**(3): p. 909-918.
- 114. Cheng, X., et al., *Celecoxib ameliorates diabetic neuropathy by decreasing apoptosis and oxidative stress in dorsal root ganglion neurons via the miR-155/COX-2 axis.* Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine, 2021. **22**(2): p. 1-11.
- 115. Comer, B.S., *Does miRNA-155 Promote Cyclooxygenase-2 Expression in Cancer?* Drug development research, 2015. **76**(7): p. 354-356.
- 116. Crouch, S., et al., *The use of ATP bioluminescence as a measure of cell proliferation and cytotoxicity*. Journal of immunological methods, 1993. **160**(1): p. 81-88.
- 117. Brand, M., et al., *The role of mitochondrial function and cellular bioenergetics in ageing and disease*. British Journal of Dermatology, 2013. **169**: p. 1-8.
- 118. Apostolova, N., A. Blas-Garcia, and J. V Esplugues, *Mitochondrial toxicity in HAART: an overview of in vitro evidence*. Current pharmaceutical design, 2011. **17**(20): p. 2130-2144.
- 119. Tiwari, B.S., B. Belenghi, and A. Levine, *Oxidative stress increased respiration and generation* of reactive oxygen species, resulting in ATP depletion, opening of mitochondrial permeability transition, and programmed cell death. Plant physiology, 2002. **128**(4): p. 1271-1281.
- 120. Perry, S.W., et al., *Mitochondrial membrane potential probes and the proton gradient: a practical usage guide.* Biotechniques, 2011. **50**(2): p. 98-115.
- 121. Sheldon, R.D., et al., *eNOS deletion impairs mitochondrial quality control and exacerbates Western diet-induced NASH.* American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism, 2019. **317**(4): p. E605-E616.
- 122. Bunton-Stasyshyn, R.K., et al., *SOD1 function and its implications for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis pathology: new and renascent themes.* The Neuroscientist, 2015. **21**(5): p. 519-529.
- 123. Guo, H., et al., *Kidney failure, arterial hypertension and left ventricular hypertrophy in rats with loss of function mutation of SOD3.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2020. **152**: p. 787-796.
- 124. Chong, Z., F. Li, and a. Maiese, K, *Activating Akt and the brain's resources to drive cellular survival and prevent inflammatory injury.* Histology and histopathology, 2005. **20**(1): p. 299.
- 125. Kannan, K. and S.K. Jain, *Oxidative stress and apoptosis*. Pathophysiology, 2000. **7**(3): p. 153-163.
- 126. Guicciardi, M.E., et al., *Apoptosis and necrosis in the liver*. Comprehensive Physiology, 2013. 3(2).

CHAPTER FIVE

Spirulina platensis mitigates inflammation induced by highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in HepG2 liver cells

Thabani Sibiya¹, Terisha Ghazi¹, Jivanka Mohan¹, Savania Nagiah^{1,2}, Anil A. Chuturgoon¹, *

¹Discipline of Medical Biochemistry and Chemical Pathology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Howard College Campus, Durban 4013, South Africa

²Department of Human Biology, Medical Programme, Faculty of Health Sciences, Nelson Mandela University Missionvale, Bethelsdorp, Port Elizabeth, South Africa, 6059

*Corresponding author: Professor Anil A Chuturgoon, Discipline of Medical Biochemistry and Chemical Pathology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Howard College Campus, Durban 4013, South Africa. Telephone: +27312604404. Email: <u>chutur@ukzn.ac.za</u>

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Grant sponsor: National Research Foundation Innovation Doctoral Scholarship; Grant number: 141132; Grant sponsor: University of KwaZulu Natal, College of Health Sciences Masters and Doctoral Research Scholarship.

This manuscript was submitted to Journal: Nutrients (Manuscript ID: nutrients-2103380) (currently in review).

Abstract

The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is responsible for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), one of the prevalent communicable diseases on the global burner since its emergence in the 1980s. It is estimated that about 37.7 million people are infected with HIV globally, and 8.2 million infected persons in South African. Highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) inhibits viral replication thus slowing the development of AIDS. The use of HAART causes metabolic syndrome via an inflammatory pathway, excessive formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and mitochondrial dysfunction, despite its success in extending the lives of HIV-infected patients. Spirulina platensis (SP) has been proven to mitigate metabolic syndrome (MetS) through the regulation of oxidative and inflammatory pathways. This study aims to examine the protective role of SP acute exposure against prolonged HAART-induced inflammation in HepG2 cells. Protein expression was determined using western blots. Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR) was also employed for mRNA quantification. SP significantly decreased *iNOS* (p < 0.0001), *I* κ *B*- α (p < 0.0001), *NF*- κ *B* (p < 0.0001), IL-1 β (*p* = 0.0002) and *TNF*- α (*p* = 0.0074) mRNA levels. The result demonstrated by HAART-SP post treatment indicated a decreased inflammation NF- κ B (p < 0.0001), IL-1 β (p < 0.0001), IL-12 (p < 0.0001) 0.0001), TNF- α (p < 0.0001) at mRNA level. The finding proves that HAART-SP post treatment downregulated NF- κ B (p < 0.0001) protein expression and shows SP potential to inhibit inflammation induced by HAART (3TC, TDF and FTC) in HepG2 cells.

Keywords: highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART); *Spirulina platensis* (SP); Inflammation; antioxidant; Metabolic Syndrome (MetS); nuclear transcription factor kappa B (NF-κB)

Introduction

It is estimated that 37.7 million people globally were infected with HIV in 2021 [1-4], with 8.2 million infected persons in South Africa [4]. HIV replicates and results in a wide range of immunological abnormalities, including depleting CD4+ T helper cells, which raises the risk of infectious and oncological consequences [5]. HAART reduces viral load and subsequently prevents HIV progressing to AIDS. By far, HAART remains a widely implemented and effective therapy in reducing mortality among AIDS patients [6-8]. Despite its success in viral load inhibition, the use of HAART promotes the persistence of elevated inflammatory markers such as interleukin IL-6 [9], and tumour necrosis factors-alpha (TNF- α) [10, 11], which are mediated by nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) [12]. Inflammation is one of the major contributors in MetS. This is accompanied by excess production of ROS, and mitochondrial dysfunction [13-19]. Studies have suggested that HAART, in addition to HIV-related complications, actively induces MetS in persons with HIV [20-22]. The latter highlights a need for an anti-inflammatory agent with the ability to inhibit MetS, especially with the high number of people living with HIV. Studies on MetS inhibitory compounds such as SP have demonstrated significant anti-inflammatory properties [23, 24].

SP is a nutritious blue-green microalga and a traditional food for some Mexican and African people [25, 26]. It is mostly found in alkaline water of volcanic lakes. SP helps in building up the humoral and cellular immunity [26]. There is solid evidence that SP inhibits MetS through hypoglycemic [27], hypolipidemic [28], antihypertensive [29]. Previous studies have also demonstrated protective properties by SP. SP composition includes chlorophyll, phycocyanin, and carotenoid which may be major contributors to it protective effects. Moreover, SP inhibits oxidative stress [24, 25, 30, 31], and promotes mitochondrial health [32-35], subsequently, inhibiting inflammation [23, 24]. In view of the above concerns, the present study was designed to evaluate the anti-inflammatory action of SP in ameliorating inflammation induced by HAART.

Materials and methods

Materials

SP, extracted from *Spirulina Platensis* (Shewal) capsules, were obtained from HeriCure Healthcare Ltd (Pune, India). Antiretroviral drugs 2',3'-dideoxy-5fluoro-3'-thiacytidine (FTC), (-)-L-2',3'-dideoxy-3'-thiacytidine (3TC), and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) were obtained from the NIH AIDS reagents program: The antiretroviral drug compounds were purchased from Pharmed Pharmaceuticals and extracted using dichloromethane, which was then removed using a standard laboratory rotary evaporator. The identity of the extracted compounds was confirmed using Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) analysis and showed a purity of >98%. The HepG2 cell line was acquired from Highveld Biologicals (Johannesburg, South Africa). Cell culture reagents and supplements were purchased from Lonza Bio-Whittaker (Basel, Switzerland). Unless otherwise stated, all other reagents were purchased from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany).

Cell culture

HepG2 cells were cultured in monolayer (10^6 cells per 25 cm³ culture flask) with complete culture media [CCM: Eagle's Essential Minimal Media (EMEM) supplemented with 10% foetal calf serum, 1% penstrepfungizone and 1% L-glutamine] at 37 °C in a humidified incubator. Cells were allowed to reach 80% confluence in 25 cm³ flasks before treatment with only antiretrovirals (ARVs) using the plasma peak values from literature that represent the physiological concentrations of ARVs in humans (3TC: 6.6 μ M (1.51 µg/ml), TDF: 0.3 µg/ml, FTC: 1.8 µg/ml) [36-38] in CCM for 96 hours [39]. For the 96 hours treatment, fresh cell culture medium containing ARVs treatment was replenished every 48 hours. Thereafter ARVs were removed, and cells were gently rinsed with 0.1 mol/l phosphate buffer saline (PBS) and treated with only 1.5 µg/ml *Spirulina Platensis* (SP) on its own in CCM for 24 hours. An untreated control, containing only CCM, was also prepared. Treatment for 24 hours' time period was also conducted, containing only ARVs [40] and SP separately.
Protein expression

The protein expression of NF-κB was determined by western blotting. Standardised protein samples were boiled in Laemmeli buffer [dH₂O, 0.5 mol/l Tris-HCl (pH 6.8), glycerol, 10% sodium dodecyl sulphide (SDS), b-mercaptoethanol, 1% bromophenol blue] for 5 mins. Proteins (25µl) were separated by electrophoresis on SDS-polyacrylamide electrophoresis gels (4% stacking gel; 10% resolving gel) and electrotransferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were blocked with 5% BSA in Tween 20-Tris buffer saline (TTBS 150 mmol/l NaCl, 3 mmol/l KCl, 25 mmol/l Tris, 0.05% Tween 20, dH₂O, pH 7.5; RT) for 1 hour, and incubated with primary antibody [NF-KB (8242S)] in 5% BSA in TTBS (1:1000 dilution) overnight at 4°C. Following overnight incubation, membranes were equilibrated to room temperature (RT) and washed with TTBS (5 times, 10 mins). Membranes were subsequently probed with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibody [Rabbit (7074P2)] in 5% BSA in TTBS (1:5000) for 1 hour at RT. Thereafter, membranes were washed with TTBS (5 times, 10 mins) and immunoreactivity was detected (Clarity Western ECL Substrate) with the Bio-Rad Chemidoc gel documentation system. After detection, membranes were quenched with 5% H_2O_2 for 30 mins, incubated in blocking solution (5% BSA for 1 hour at RT), rinsed thrice in TTBS, and probed with HRPconjugated anti-β-actin (housekeeping protein). Protein expression was analysed by the Image Lab Software version 5.0 (Bio-Rad) and the results were expressed as relative band density (RBD). The expression of proteins of interest was normalised against β-Actin.

Ribonucleic acid (RNA) analysis

Total RNA was isolated according to the method described by Chuturgoon, Phulukdaree [41]. Isolated RNA was quantified (Nanodrop 2000, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA) and standardised to 1000 ng/µl. Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA) was synthesised from standardised RNA using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad). Thermocycler conditions for cDNA synthesis were 25 °C for 5 mins, 42 °C for 30 mins, 85 °C for 5 mins and a final hold at 4 °C [40]. Gene expression was analysed using the SsoAdvancedTM Universal SYBR® Green Supermix kit (Bio-Rad). The messenger RNA (mRNA) expressions of inducible nitric oxide synthase (*iNOS*), NF- κ B inhibitor-alpha (*I* κ B- α), NF- κ B, Interleukin-1 beta (*IL-1* β), Interleukin-12 (*IL-12*), tumor necrosis factor alpha (*TNF-a*) were investigated using specific forward and reverse primers (Table 1). Reaction volumes which consisted of the following were prepared: SYBR green (5µl), forward primer (1µl), reverse primer (1µl), nuclease free water (2µl) and cDNA template (1µl). All reactions were carried out in triplicate. The samples were amplified using a CFX96 TouchTMReal- Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad). The initial denaturation occurred at 95 °C (4 mins). Thereafter, 37 cycles of denaturation (15 seconds, 95 °C), annealing (40 seconds; temperatures— Table 1) and extension (30 seconds, 72 °C) occurred. The method described by Livak and Schmittgen [42] was employed to calculate the changes in relative mRNA expression, where $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ represents the fold change relative to the untreated control. The expression of the gene of interest was

normalised against the housekeeping gene, Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*GAPDH*), which was amplified simultaneously under the same conditions.

Gene	Annealing	Primer	Sequence	
	temperature			
ΙκΒ-α	60°C	Forward	5'-TCCACTCCATCCTGAAGGCTAC-3'	
		Reverse	5'-CAAGGACACCAAAAGCTCCACG-3'	
NF-ĸB	50°C	Forward	5'-TGAACCGAAACTCTGGCAGCTG-3'	
		Reverse	5'-CATCAGCTTGCGAAAAGGAGCC-3'	
iNOS	59,7°C	Forward	5'-GCTCTACACCTCCAATGTGACC-3'	
		Reverse	5'-CTGCCGAGATTTGAGCCTCATG-3'	
IL-12	59,7°C	Forward	5'-GACATTCTGCGTTCAGGTCCAG-3'	
		Reverse	5'-CATTTTTGCGGCAGATGACCGTG-3'	
IL-1β	53°C	Forward	5'-CAGCTACGAATCTCCGACCAC-3'	
		Reverse	5'-GGCAGGGAACCAGCATCTTC-3'	
TNF-α	53°C	Forward	5'-CTCTTCTGCCTGCTGCACTTTG-3'	
		Reverse	5'-ATGGGCTACAGGCTTGTCACTC-3'	
GAPDH		Forward	5'-TCCACCACCCTGTTGCTGTA-3'	
		Reverse	5'-ACCACAGTCCATGCCATCAC-3'	

Table 1 The annealing temperatures and primer sequences for the genes of interest

Statistical analysis

All experiments were conducted independently in triplicate. GraphPad Prism version 5.0 (GraphPad Software Inc., California) was used to perform all statistical analyses. The one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Bonferroni test for multiple group comparison (data is presented as 95% CI) was used to determine statistical significance. All results were represented as the mean \pm standard deviation. A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Assessment of oxidative stress

Nitric oxide (NO), which is potently increased in response to proinflammatory stimuli, is produced by a crucial enzyme in the macrophage inflammatory response called iNOS [43]. SP treated cells displayed a significant decreased levels of *iNOS* A: (p < 0.0001) after acute exposure, while HAART induced a significant increase in *iNOS* levels in HAART treated HepG2 cells B: (p < 0.0001) after prolonged exposure (Figure 1). HAART-SP on the other hand displayed varying results B: (p < 0.0001), with only TDF-SP and FTC-SP showing a significant increase of iNOS mRNA levels (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on *iNOS* mRNA levels. *iNOS* mRNA levels after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); p<0.05, p<0.005, p<0.005, p<0.0001

Inflammatory Response

Activation of NF- κ B is triggered by signal-induced degradation of I κ B- α [44]. NF- κ B attaches to specific DNA regions in the nucleus, causing the transcription of many genes that are involved in proinflammatory processes [45]. $I\kappa B$ - α mRNA expression is decreased in SP and HAART treated cells A: (p < 0.0001) after acute exposure, while HAART prolonged exposure showed no significant difference B: (p = 0.0002). HAART-SP treated cells increased I κ B- α mRNA expression B: (p = 0.0002) with only FTC-sp exception (Figure 2). *NF*- κ B mRNA expression of SP treated cells decreased compared to the control A: (p < 0.0001) post-acute exposure and increased in HAART treated cells B: (p < 0.0001)following prolonged exposure (Figure 3). However, HAART-SP treated cells showed an increased expression of *NF*- κB mRNA levels compared to the control with only FTC-SP indicating a decrease B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 3). The NF- κ B protein expression A: (p = 0.0003), B: (p < 0.0001) decreased in almost all treatments compared to the control, except FTC (24 hrs) (Figure 4).



Figure 2. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on $I\kappa B - \alpha$ mRNA expression. $I\kappa B - \alpha$ mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p < 0.05, **p < 0.005, **p < 0.0001



Figure 3. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on *NF*- κB mRNA expression. *NF*- κB mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, **p<0.0001



Figure 4. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on NF- κ B protein expression. NF- κ B protein expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.05, **p<0.005, **p<0.0001

Inflammatory cytokines

IL-1 β is considered one of the key cytokines involved in the induction of inflammatory reactions and is one of the 11 representatives of the IL-1 family (IL-1F) [46]. IL-1 β mRNA expression decreased in SP treated cells A: (p = 0.0002) after acute exposure and there is a partial significant increased expression in HAART (3TC and FTC to be specific) treated cells following prolonged exposure, while TDF indicated a decreased expression on *IL-1* β mRNA B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 5). However, HAART-SP treated cells showed a significant decrease expression of $IL-1\beta$ mRNA when compared to the control and HAART only B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 5). The heterodimeric cytokine interleukin-12 (IL-12) is essential for stimulating type 1 T helper cell (Th1) responses and, consequently, cell-mediated immunity [47]. IL-12 mRNA expression is significantly increased in SP A: (p = 0.0014) and HAART treated cells B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 6). However, HAART-SP treated cells showed decreased expression of *IL-12* mRNA B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 6). TNF- α , one of the 19 ligands in the tumour necrosis factors superfamily, is regarded as a major inflammatory cytokine alongside IL-1 β . There is a clear synergism between the two cytokines, and in the majority of cases, TNF- α effect and IL-1 β effect are complementary [46]. TNF- α mRNA expression is decreased in SP treated cells A: (p = 0.0074) following acute exposure and mostly decreased in HAART (except 3TC) treated cells B: (p < 0.0001) following prolonged exposure, while HAART-SP treated cells indicate a significant decrease in TNF- α mRNA expression B: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 7).



Figure 5. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on *IL-1* β mRNA expression. *IL-1* β mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p<0.005, **p<0.005, **p<0.0001



Figure 6. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on *IL-12* mRNA expression. *IL-12* mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p < 0.05, **p < 0.005, **p < 0.0001



Figure 7. Effects of SP and HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) on *TNF-a* mRNA expression. *TNF-a* mRNA expression after exposure of HepG2 cells to A: SP and HAART for 24 hours, B: HAART (96 hrs), and HAART (96 hrs) followed by SP (24 hrs); *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.0001

Discussion

We investigated the effect of SP on the inflammatory pathway after exposure of HepG2 cells to three antiretroviral drugs that form the backbone of HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC separately). Inflammation is advantageous because it encourages the regeneration of cells following liver injuries. Furthermore, it triggers an immune response that targets and destroys aberrant cells. Chronic inflammation, however, is harmful because it promotes the progression of fibrosis, cirrhosis, and ultimately hepatocellular cancer as a result of continuous hepatic injury and the regenerative damage healing responses that are linked to it [48-50]. The NF-kB is one of the key mediators of inflammation [12].

NF-κB is a dimeric complex which regulates the transcription of genes involved in cell survival, growth and differentiation, immune responses, and inflammation [12]. Under normal physiological conditions, NF-κB is cloistered in the cytoplasm by binding to the IκB proteins which consists catalytic subunits, IkappaB Kinase alpha (IKK α) and IkappaB Kinase beta (IKK β) and a regulatory subunit IkappaB Kinase gamma NEMO (IKK γ /NEMO) [51]. SP reduced *IκB-α* mRNA expression (Figure 2A), and *NF-κB* mRNA expression compared to the control (Figure 3A). Down regulation of IκB-α was not expected as previous study by Cherng, Cheng [52] demonstrated that SP contains compounds that promotes IκB-α expression. However, NF-κB protein expression (Figure 4A) decreased in SP treated cells, which aligned with the reduction of NF-κB mRNA expression. SP reducing NF-κB is not surprising since the data agrees with previous reports [52, 53]. The present study did not investigate the degradation of cytosolic IκB-α, which suppresses the activation of NF-κB [30]. However, SP downregulated NF-κB at transcriptional level, and this is one of the indications of anti-inflammation. Furthermore, NF-κB protein expression (Figure 4B) significantly decreased in HAART-SP treated cells when compared to the control, supporting anti-inflammatory ability of SP post-exposure to HAART. As it has been proven that SP promotes $I\kappa B-\alpha$ to suppress NF- κB activation [30], this is supported by an increase in $I\kappa B-\alpha$ mRNA expression (Figure 2B) in HAART-SP treated cells.

IκB is phosphorylated in response to a particular stimulus, such as chemotherapy, stressors, or cytokines, which causes it to be ubiquitinated and degraded by the 26S proteasome. Liberated NF-κB dimer translocate to the nucleus and binds to the kappaB site, which is also known as the consensus DNA sequence 5'-GGGRNNYYCC-3' where N is any nucleotide, Y is cytosine or thymine, and R is adenine or guanine [54]. NF-κB mRNA expression increased in HAART treated cells (Figure 3B), which is an indication of inflammation activation. Interestingly, $I\kappa B-\alpha$ mRNA expression is decreased in HAART treated cells (Figure 2B), leaving NF-κB to be activated. Consequently, HAART-SP treated cells showed an increased *NF-κB* mRNA expression compared to the control with only FTC-SP indicating a decrease (Figure 3B). However, NF-κB protein expression (Figure 4B) decreased in HAART and HAART-SP treated cells. SP in this study may be using NF-κB pathway to inhibit inflammation. More so, SP has been proven to inhibit the formation of the pro-inflammatory cytokine, TNF- α expression [30, 52, 55-57]. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated by the previous studies to possess antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory activities [58-60].

SP inhibits the production of nitric oxide and suppresses the expression of iNOS, TNF- α , and IL-1 β . TNF- α , together with IL-1 β , is considered a key inflammatory cytokine. The effect of TNF- α in most cases coincides with the action of IL-1 β [46]. TNF- α (Figure 7A) and IL-1 β (Figure 5A) mRNA expression decreased in SP treated cells, and this agrees with anti-inflammatory abilities of SP reported in the previous studies [30, 61, 62]. Moreover, HAART-SP treated cells indicate a significant decrease of TNF- α mRNA expression (Figure 7B). The TNF- α significant decrease in the presence of SP in cells that were chronically exposed to HAART may be a justifiable clue to the mechanism of antiinflammatory pathway followed by SP. TNF- α mRNA expression mostly increased in HAART treated cells (Figure 7B), which is an indication of inflammatory cytokine promotion. IL-1 β is considered one of the key cytokines involved in the induction of inflammatory reactions [46]. *IL-1\beta* mRNA increased expression in HAART (3TC and FTC to be specific) treated cells, while TDF indicated a decreased expression on *IL-1\beta* mRNA (Figure 5B) shows that HAART mostly promotes inflammation. However, HAART-SP treated cells showed a significant decrease expression of IL-1 β mRNA when compared to the control (Figure 5B) proving anti-inflammation ability of SP post-treatment.

SP contains phycocyanin, which scavenges free radicals, decreases nitrite production, and suppresses inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression [30, 61, 62]. SP treated cells displayed decreased levels of iNOS (Figure 1A), this data agrees with previous studies. However, SP indicated limited ability to decrease *iNOS* mRNA (Figure 1B) expression following chronic HAART exposure, with only 3TC-SP indicating a downregulation of iNOS mRNA (Figure 1B) and a significant increase in iNOS mRNA

levels in TDF-SP and FTC-SP exposed cells. As expected, HAART (Figure 1B) induced a significant increase of iNOS mRNA levels in treated cells. SP also contains vitamin D3, vitamin C and magnesium, and these components have been suspected to stimulate nitric oxide (NO) production [63].

The suppression of inflammatory mediators by SP is justified by its' ability to inhibit NF- κ B activation by preventing nuclear translocation of NF- κ B p65 subunit [59, 64, 65], this is supported by a significant decrease in NF- κ B protein expression (Figure 4). Studies have indicated that SP properties suppressed the transcription of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , and IL-12 *in vitro* [60], this is in line with the present study indicating a significant decrease in IL-1 β at transcript level by SP in HepG2 cells exposed to HAART for 96 hours. Interleukin-12 (IL-12) is a heterodimeric cytokine that plays a central role in promoting type 1 T helper cell (Th1) responses and, also cell-mediated immunity [47]. Unexpectedly, *IL-12* mRNA expression is significantly increased in SP and HAART treated cells (Figure 6A & 6B). However, HAART-SP (except 3TC-SP) treated cells showed a significant decreased expression of IL-12 mRNA (Figure 6B), this is an indication of positive synergistic outcome.

This study found that SP can attenuate inflammation induced by HAART (3TC, TDF and FTC) in HepG2 cells, as noted by a decrease in inflammatory key regulator NF-κB and the corresponding decrease in inflammatory cytokines (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Effects of SP post HAART (3TC, TDF, and FTC) exposure (HAART-SP) on inflammation pathway in HepG2 cells (by author, created with BioRender.com).

Conclusion

SP is an anti-inflammatory agent - this is supported by the findings in this present study showing that HAART-SP post treatment downregulates NF-kB protein expression. Furthermore, reduction of inflammatory cytokines solidifies SP and HAART positive synergy. This study shows that SP has the potential to inhibit inflammation induced by HAART (3TC, TDF and FTC) in HepG2 cells. At a molecular level, this study explored the potential of SP supplementation in the mitigation of inflammation induced by HAART. Moreso, the results unveil that SP can play a significant role in the amelioration of HAART toxicity through inflammatory pathway. Furthermore, we suggest the need for further exploration on SP and HAART favourable synergy at a molecular level.

Grant sponsor: National Research Foundation Innovation Doctoral Scholarship; Grant number: 141132; Grant sponsor: University of KwaZulu Natal, College of Health Sciences Masters and Doctoral Research Scholarship.

Reference

- 1. UNAIDS, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). Global report: UNAIDS report on the global AIDS epidemic 2021. Global HIV & AIDS statistics: Fact sheet, 2021.
- 2. UNAIDS. *Global HIV & AIDS Statistics*—2020 *Fact Sheet*. 2021 [cited 2021 11 September 2021]; Available from: <u>https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/fact-sheet</u>
- 3. World Health Organisation. *HIV/AIDS*. 2021, July 17; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hiv-aids</u>.
- 4. Release, S., *Mid-year population estimates 2021*. Statistics South Africa.[Available from: <u>http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0302/P03022021.pdf</u>, 2021.
- 5. Deeks, S.G., et al., *HIV infection*. Nature reviews Disease primers, 2015. **1**(1): p. 1-22.
- 6. Arts, E.J. and D.J. Hazuda, *HIV-1 antiretroviral drug therapy*. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine, 2012. **2**(4): p. a007161.
- 7. Palella Jr, F.J., et al., *Declining morbidity and mortality among patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1998. **338**(13): p. 853-860.
- 8. Michaels, S.H., R. Clark, and P. Kissinger, *Declining morbidity and mortality among patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1998. **339**(6): p. 405-406.
- 9. Nasi, M., et al., *Ageing and inflammation in patients with HIV infection*. Clinical & Experimental Immunology, 2017. **187**(1): p. 44-52.
- 10. Wada, N.I., et al., *The effect of HAART-induced HIV suppression on circulating markers of inflammation and immune activation*. AIDS (London, England), 2015. **29**(4): p. 463.
- 11. Keating, S.M., et al., *The effect of HIV infection and HAART on inflammatory biomarkers in a population-based cohort of US women.* AIDS (London, England), 2011. **25**(15): p. 1823.
- 12. Beinke, S. and S.C. Ley, *Functions of NF-κB1 and NF-κB2 in immune cell biology*. Biochemical Journal, 2004. **382**(2): p. 393-409.

- 13. National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA). What is HAART? 2012. Available online: https://www.https://www.drugabuse.gov/drugabuse.gov/publications/researchreports/hivaids/what-haart (accessed on 30 November 2021).
- 14. Mohan, J., T. Ghazi, and A.A. Chuturgoon, *A Critical Review of the Biochemical Mechanisms and Epigenetic Modifications in HIV- and Antiretroviral-Induced Metabolic Syndrome*. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2021. **22**(21): p. 12020.
- 15. Manda, K.R., et al., *Highly active antiretroviral therapy drug combination induces oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in immortalized human blood–brain barrier endothelial cells.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2011. **50**(7): p. 801-810.
- 16. Blas-Garcia, A., N. Apostolova, and J. V Esplugues, *Oxidative stress and mitochondrial impairment after treatment with anti-HIV drugs: clinical implications*. Current pharmaceutical design, 2011. **17**(36): p. 4076-4086.
- 17. Ngondi, J.L., et al., *The effect of different combination therapies on oxidative stress markers in HIV infected patients in Cameroon*. AIDS Research and Therapy, 2006. **3**(1): p. 19.
- Masiá, M., et al., Influence of antiretroviral therapy on oxidative stress and cardiovascular risk: a prospective cross-sectional study in HIV-infected patients. Clinical Therapeutics, 2007. 29(7): p. 1448-1455.
- 19. Mondal, D., et al., *HAART drugs induce oxidative stress in human endothelial cells and increase endothelial recruitment of mononuclear cells.* Cardiovascular toxicology, 2004. **4**(3): p. 287-302.
- 20. Mohan, J., T. Ghazi, and A.A. Chuturgoon, *A Critical Review of the Biochemical Mechanisms and Epigenetic Modifications in HIV-and Antiretroviral-Induced Metabolic Syndrome*. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2021. **22**(21): p. 12020.
- 21. Aounallah, M., et al., Current topics in HIV pathogenesis, part 2: Inflammation drives a Warburg-like effect on the metabolism of HIV-infected subjects. Cytokine & growth factor reviews, 2016. 28: p. 1-10.
- 22. Palios, J., N.P. Kadoglou, and S. Lampropoulos, *The pathophysiology of HIV-/HAART-related metabolic syndrome leading to cardiovascular disorders: the emerging role of adipokines*. Experimental Diabetes Research, 2011. **2012**.
- 23. Izadi, M. and M. Fazilati, *Extraction and purification of phycocyanin from spirulina platensis and evaluating its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity*. Asian Journal of Green Chemistry, 2018. **2**(4. pp. 281-394): p. 364-379.
- 24. Zheng, J., et al., *Phycocyanin and phycocyanobilin from Spirulina platensis protect against diabetic nephropathy by inhibiting oxidative stress*. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 2013. **304**(2): p. R110-R120.
- 25. Bashandy, S.A., et al., Antioxidant potential of Spirulina platensis mitigates oxidative stress and reprotoxicity induced by sodium arsenite in male rats. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity, 2016. **2016**.
- 26. Estrada, J.P., P.B. Bescós, and A.V. Del Fresno, *Antioxidant activity of different fractions of Spirulina platensis protean extract*. Il farmaco, 2001. **56**(5-7): p. 497-500.
- 27. Iyer Uma, M., A. Sophia, and V. Mani Uliyar, *GLYCEMIC AND LIPEMIC RESPONSES OF SELECTED SPIRULINA-SUPPLEMENTED RICE-BASED RECIPES IN NORMAL SUBJECTS.* Age (years), 1999. **22**: p. 1.8.
- 28. Serban, M.-C., et al., A systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of Spirulina supplementation on plasma lipid concentrations. Clinical Nutrition, 2016. **35**(4): p. 842-851.
- 29. Finamore, A., et al., *Antioxidant, immunomodulating, and microbial-modulating activities of the sustainable and ecofriendly spirulina*. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity, 2017. **2017**.
- 30. Riss, J., et al., *Phycobiliprotein C-phycocyanin from Spirulina platensis is powerfully* responsible for reducing oxidative stress and NADPH oxidase expression induced by an atherogenic diet in hamsters. J. of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2007. **55**(19): p. 7962-7967.
- 31. Abdelkhalek, N.K., E.W. Ghazy, and M.M. Abdel-Daim, *Pharmacodynamic interaction of Spirulina platensis and deltamethrin in freshwater fish Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus: impact on lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress.* Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 2015. **22**(4): p. 3023-3031.

- 32. Nawrocka, D., et al., Spirulina platensis improves mitochondrial function impaired by elevated oxidative stress in adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells (ASCs) and intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), and enhances insulin sensitivity in equine metabolic syndrome (EMS) horses. Marine drugs, 2017. **15**(8): p. 237.
- 33. Jadaun, P., D. Yadav, and P.S. Bisen, *Spirulina platensis prevents high glucose-induced oxidative stress mitochondrial damage mediated apoptosis in cardiomyoblasts*. Cytotechnology, 2018. **70**(2): p. 523-536.
- 34. Sun, J.-y., et al., Selenium-containing protein from selenium-enriched spirulina platensis attenuates cisplatin-induced apoptosis in MC3T3-E1 Mouse preosteoblast by inhibiting mitochondrial dysfunction and ROS-Mediated oxidative damage. Frontiers in physiology, 2019. 9: p. 1907.
- 35. Oriquat, G.A., et al., *Improving hepatic mitochondrial biogenesis as a postulated mechanism for the antidiabetic effect of Spirulina platensis in comparison with metformin.* Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 2019. **44**(4): p. 357-364.
- Thabethe, K.R., G.A. Adefolaju, and M.J. Hosie, *The effects of HAART on the expression of MUC1 and P65 in a cervical cancer cell line, HCS-2.* Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy, 2015.
 71: p. 227-232.
- 37. Mandal, A., et al., *Design of lipophilic prodrugs to improve drug delivery and efficacy*. Current drug targets, 2016. **17**(15): p. 1773-1798.
- 38. Erickson-Viitanen, S., et al., *Cellular pharmacology of D-d4FC, a nucleoside analogue active against drug-resistant HIV.* Antiviral Chemistry and Chemotherapy, 2003. **14**(1): p. 39-47.
- 39. Adefolaju, G.A., K.E. Scholtz, and M.J. Hosie, *Expresión de VEGF165b Antiangiogénico en Células MCF-7 y MCF-10A de Mama Humana Expuesto a Inhibidores de la Transcriptasa Inversa y la Proteasa*. International Journal of Morphology, 2017. **35**(1): p. 148-156.
- 40. Nagiah, S., A. Phulukdaree, and A. Chuturgoon, *Mitochondrial and oxidative stress response in HepG2 cells following acute and prolonged exposure to antiretroviral drugs*. Journal of cellular biochemistry, 2015. **116**(9): p. 1939-1946.
- 41. Chuturgoon, A., A. Phulukdaree, and D. Moodley, *Fumonisin B1 induces global DNA hypomethylation in HepG2 cells–An alternative mechanism of action.* Toxicology, 2014. **315**: p. 65-69.
- 42. Livak, K.J. and T.D. Schmittgen, Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2-\Delta\Delta CT$ method. methods, 2001. **25**(4): p. 402-408.
- 43. McNeill, E., et al., *Regulation of iNOS function and cellular redox state by macrophage Gch1 reveals specific requirements for tetrahydrobiopterin in NRF2 activation.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2015. **79**: p. 206-216.
- 44. Liang, W.-J., et al., *HMGB1 upregulates NF-kB by inhibiting IKB-α and associates with diabetic retinopathy.* Life sciences, 2020. **241**: p. 117146.
- 45. Greco, R., et al., *IkappaB-alpha expression following transient focal cerebral ischemia is modulated by nitric oxide*. Brain research, 2011. **1372**: p. 145-151.
- 46. Wojdasiewicz, P., Ł.A. Poniatowski, and D. Szukiewicz, *The role of inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis*. Mediators of inflammation, 2014. **2014**.
- 47. Gately, M.K., et al., *The interleukin-12/interleukin-12-receptor system: role in normal and pathologic immune responses.* Annual review of immunology, 1998. **16**(1): p. 495-521.
- 48. Bishayee, A., *The inflammation and liver cancer*. Inflammation and cancer, 2014: p. 401-435.
- 49. Hoesel, B. and J.A. Schmid, *The complexity of NF-κB signaling in inflammation and cancer*. Molecular cancer, 2013. **12**(1): p. 1-15.
- 50. Luedde, T. and R.F. Schwabe, $NF \cdot \kappa B$ in the liver—linking injury, fibrosis and hepatocellular *carcinoma*. Nature reviews Gastroenterology & hepatology, 2011. **8**(2): p. 108-118.
- 51. Ben-Neriah, Y. and M. Karin, *Inflammation meets cancer, with NF-\kappa B as the matchmaker*. Nature immunology, 2011. **12**(8): p. 715-723.
- 52. Cherng, S.-C., et al., Anti-inflammatory activity of c-phycocyanin in lipopolysaccharidestimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages. Life sciences, 2007. **81**(19-20): p. 1431-1435.

- 53. Sibiya, T., T. Ghazi, and A. Chuturgoon, *The Potential of Spirulina platensis to Ameliorate the Adverse Effects of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART)*. Nutrients, 2022. **14**(15): p. 3076.
- 54. Antonaki, A., et al., *Genomic analysis reveals a novel nuclear factor-κB (NF-κB)-binding site in Alu-repetitive elements.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2011. **286**(44): p. 38768-38782.
- 55. Romay, C., et al., *Effects of phycocyanin extract on tumor necrosis factor-α and nitrite levels in serum of mice treated with endotoxin.* Arzneimittelforschung, 2001. **51**(09): p. 733-736.
- 56. Remirez, D., et al., *Influence of C-phycocyanin on hepatocellular parameters related to liver oxidative stress and Kupffer cell functioning.* Inflammation Research, 2002. **51**(7): p. 351-356.
- 57. Patel, A., S. Mishra, and P. Ghosh, *Antioxidant potential of C-phycocyanin isolated from cyanobacterial species Lyngbya, Phormidium and Spirulina spp.* 2006.
- 58. Schafer, F.Q., et al., Comparing β -carotene, vitamin E and nitric oxide as membrane antioxidants. Biological chemistry, 2002. **383**(3-4): p. 671-681.
- 59. Bai, S.-K., et al., β -Carotene inhibits inflammatory gene expression in lipopolysaccharidestimulated macrophages by suppressing redox-based NF- κ B activation. Experimental & molecular medicine, 2005. **37**(4): p. 323-334.
- 60. Katsuura, S., et al., β-Carotene and β-cryptoxanthin but not lutein evoke redox and immune changes in RAW264 murine macrophages. Molecular nutrition & food research, 2009. 53(11): p. 1396-1405.
- 61. Romay, C., et al., *Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of C-phycocyanin from bluegreen algae.* Inflammation research, 1998. **47**(1): p. 36-41.
- 62. Romay, C., N. Ledon, and R. Gonzalez, *Further studies on anti-inflammatory activity of phycocyanin in some animal models of inflammation*. Inflammation Research, 1998. **47**(8): p. 334-338.
- 63. Houston, M.C., *The role of nutrition and nutraceutical supplements in the prevention and treatment of hypertension.* system, 2013. **1**(7): p. 8.
- 64. Strasky, Z., et al., Spirulina platensis and phycocyanobilin activate atheroprotective heme oxygenase-1: a possible implication for atherogenesis. Food & function, 2013. 4(11): p. 1586-1594.
- 65. Jensen, G.S., et al., *Clinical safety of a high dose of Phycocyanin-enriched aqueous extract from Arthrospira (Spirulina) platensis: Results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study with a focus on anticoagulant activity and platelet activation.* Journal of medicinal food, 2016. **19**(7): p. 645-653.

CHAPTER SIX

CONCLUSION

HIV is a leading cause of death worldwide. HAART drugs currently used to treat HIV have been reported to have adverse effects, which lead to MetS including oxidative stress, inflammation, and mitochondrial dysfunction (Mondal, Pradhan et al. 2004, Ngondi, Oben et al. 2006, Masiá, Padilla et al. 2007, Blas-Garcia, Apostolova et al. 2011, Manda, Banerjee et al. 2011). SP is an antioxidant and anti-inflammatory with the potential to ameliorate MetS induced by HAART. The present study evaluated the potential of SP to ameliorate HAART-induced oxidative stress and inflammation in HepG2 liver cells. This study provides novel and useful insight into SP's potential as a supplement to ameliorate HAART induced adverse outcomes in a human liver cell culture model. The results supported the hypothesis of the study and showed that SP ameliorated oxidative stress and inflammation associated with HAART in HepG2 cells. Further, SP induced a potent antioxidant response that not only helped curb oxidative stress but also reduced HAART associated inflammation.

SP induced antioxidant response in HepG2 cells by increasing *NRF-2*, *CAT*, and *NQO-1* mRNA expression. Moreover, NRF-2 and pNRF-2 protein expression was upregulated in the HepG2 cells post-exposure to HAART and SP. This data agrees with the previous study that demonstrated SP has direct antioxidant activity and modulation of the ARE/NRF-2 pathway in HepG2 cells (Vigliante, Mannino et al. 2019). Furthermore, exposure to HAART followed by exposure to SP reduced LDH levels in HepG2 cells. The ability of SP to reduce ROS was supported by SP inhibiting ROS induced by prolonged exposure to HAART, indicating a positive synergistic effect. This study also found that SP potentially mitigates MetS characteristics via the regulation of inflammatory miRNAs. SP attenuated inflammation induced by HAART (3TC, TDF and FTC) in HepG2 cells, as noted by a decrease in inflammatory key regulator NF-κB and the corresponding decrease in inflammatory cytokines.

Taken together, this study indicates that SP has the potential to mitigate HAART induced adverse drug reactions, albeit in an *in vitro* HepG2 model. Furthermore, this study provides insight for future molecular studies at a longer SP exposure time as well as the elucidation of SP as a safer supplement for individuals on life-long HAART. Although this study offers insight to molecular events in the presence of acute SP and prolonged HAART exposure in liver cells, there are limitations. The limitation of a unicellular model is always present in an *in vitro* model, which leaves out the possibility of a systemic interaction in a multiorgan setting. However, the results of this study offer a strong basis for identifying molecular targets at the clinical level. The pathways investigated can be adapted to an *in vivo* model (animal study) to further refine molecular targets of SP in the inhibition of HAART (3TC, TDF and FTC) toxicity. Herein, gene knockout studies will further solidify the favourable synergy at a molecular level

as observed in this present study. The implications of these findings can next be tested in patients who show HAART-related negative health outcomes such as MetS.

Reference

Blas-Garcia, A., et al. (2011). "Oxidative stress and mitochondrial impairment after treatment with anti-HIV drugs: clinical implications." <u>Current pharmaceutical design</u> **17**(36): 4076-4086.

Manda, K. R., et al. (2011). "Highly active antiretroviral therapy drug combination induces oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in immortalized human blood–brain barrier endothelial cells." <u>Free Radical Biology and Medicine</u> **50**(7): 801-810.

Masiá, M., et al. (2007). "Influence of antiretroviral therapy on oxidative stress and cardiovascular risk: a prospective cross-sectional study in HIV-infected patients." <u>Clinical Therapeutics</u> **29**(7): 1448-1455.

Mondal, D., et al. (2004). "HAART drugs induce oxidative stress in human endothelial cells and increase endothelial recruitment of mononuclear cells." <u>Cardiovascular toxicology</u> **4**(3): 287-302.

Ngondi, J. L., et al. (2006). "The effect of different combination therapies on oxidative stress markers in HIV infected patients in Cameroon." <u>AIDS Research and Therapy</u> 3(1): 19.

Vigliante, I., et al. (2019). "OxiCyan®, a phytocomplex of bilberry (Vaccinium myrtillus) and spirulina (Spirulina platensis), exerts both direct antioxidant activity and modulation of ARE/Nrf2 pathway in HepG2 cells." Journal of Functional Foods **61**: 103508.

APPENDIX A

The Potential of *Spirulina platensis* to Ameliorate the Adverse Effects of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART)

Thabani Sibiya¹, Terisha Ghazi¹, Anil A. Chuturgoon¹, *

¹Department of Medical Biochemistry and Chemical Pathology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Howard College Campus, Durban 4013, South Africa

*Corresponding author: Professor Anil A Chuturgoon, Department of Medical Biochemistry and Chemical Pathology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Howard College Campus, Durban 4013, South Africa. Telephone: +27312604404. Email: <u>chutur@ukzn.ac.za</u>

Grant sponsor: National Research Foundation Innovation Doctoral Scholarship; Grant number: 130023; Grant sponsor: University of KwaZulu Natal, College of Health Sciences Masters and Doctoral Research Scholarship.

Journal: Nutrients 2022, 14, 3076.

doi.org/10.3390/nu14153076

This manuscript was published in the Journal: Nutrients 2022, 14, 3076, and is included in the original format.



Remienn



The Potential of *Spirulina platensis* to Ameliorate the Adverse Effects of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART)

Thabani Sibiya 💿, Terisha Ghazi 💿 and Anil Chuturgoon *💿

Discipline of Medical Biochemistry and Chemical Pathology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Howard College Campus, Durban 4013, South Africa; thabani585@gmail.com (T.S.); terishaghazi@gmail.com (T.G.) * Correspondence: chutur@ukzn.ac.za

Abstract: The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is one of the most prevalent diseases globally. It is estimated that 37.7 million people are infected with HIV globally, and 8.2 million persons are infected with the virus in South Africa. The highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) involves combining various types of antiretroviral drugs that are dependent on the infected person's viral load. HAART helps regulate the viral load and prevents its associated symptoms from progressing into acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Despite its success in prolonging HIV-infected patients' lifespans, the use of HAART promotes metabolic syndrome (MetS) through an inflammatory pathway, excess production of reactive oxy gen species (ROS), and mitochondrial dysfunction. Interestingly, *Spirulina platensis* (SP), a blue-green microalgae commonly used as a traditional food by Mexican and African people, has been demonstrated to mitigate MetS by regulating oxidative and inflammatory pathways. SP is also a potent antioxidant that has been shown to exhibit immunological, anticancer, anti-inflammatory, anti-aging, antidiabetic, antibacterial, and antiviral properties. This review is aimed at highlighting the biochemical mechanism of SP with a focus on studies linking SP to the inhibition of HIV, inflammation, and oxidative stress. Further, we propose SP as a potential supplement for HIV-infected persons on lifelong HAART.

Keywords: HAART/ARVs; Spirulina platensis; oxidative stress; HIV; antioxidant; inflammation; HAART toxicity; MetS

1. Introduction

The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) has continued to be a global public concern due to its widespread infection rate and alarming mortality rate [1]. The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), in its most recent report in November 2021, estimated that 37.7 million people globally are living with HIV. It was also reported that about 1.5 million new HIV infections and 680,000 AIDS-related deaths have occurred in the year 2020 [1–4]. In South Africa, approximately 8.2 million people were living with HIV in the year 2021 [4]. According to the South African mid-year population statistics 2021, there has been an unprecedented increase from 79,420 to 85,154 HIV-AIDS-related deaths in 2021 [4]. Recently, the easy availability of antiretrovirals (ARVs) has tremendously changed the pattern of death. ARVs have also helped prolong the lifespan of HIV-infected people in South Africa. Globally, about 27.5 million HIV-infected persons had access to ARVs in 2020, while approximately 5.6 million infected South Africans accessed ARVs in 2020 [1,4,5].

The highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) entails combining three or more antiretroviral drugs that are subject to the HIV-infected person's viral load. HAART assists in regulating viral loads and preventing the progression to AIDS. Despite its success in prolonging HIV-infected patients' lifespans, the use of HAART promotes metabolic syndrome (MetS) through an inflammatory pathway, excess production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and mitochondrial dysfunction. Over three decades since its discovery, HAART has

check for updates

Citation: Sibiya, T.; Ghazi, T.; Chuturgoon, A. The Potential of Spirulin a platonsis to A melio rate the Adverse Effects of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART). Nutrients 2022, 14, 3076. https:// doi.org/10.3390/nu14153076

Academic Editor: Edgard Delvin

Received: 6 April 2022 Accepted: 3 June 2022 Published: 27 July 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 40/) significantly improved the diagnosis and management of persons with HIV [6–12]. The persistence of MetS before and during HAART treatment further highlights the need for more studies on MetS inhibitory compounds, such as *Spirulina platensis* (SP) [13], *Moringa oleifera* [14,15], Curcumin [16], and Mangiferin [17]. However, there are other alternatives to combat MetS and these include exercise training [18], life style changes, and properly balanced healthy food choices [19,20].

SP is a blue-green microalgae commonly used as a traditional food by some Mexican and African people [21,22]. SP is mostly found in the alkaline water of volcanic lakes. In addition to its popular nutritional value, SP possesses various medicinal properties. It can induce both the humoral and cellular mechanisms of the immune system when consumed [22]. Interestingly, SP was linked with MetS-lowering properties, such as hypoglycemia [23], hypolipidemia [24], and hypotension [13]. Studies in rodents suggested that SP is particularly useful in preventing MetS [13]. SP contains oxidative stress inhibitors, phycocyanin and phycocyanobilin [25-27]. Previous studies have also demonstrated that SP inhibits oxidative stress [21,25,28,29] and promotes mitochondrial health [30–33], thereby inhibiting inflammation [25,34]. Furthermore, SP can prevent the development of atherosclerosis [28] and diabetes [25]. The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations recommends Spirulina as a daily dietary supplement [35]. Microalgaes including Spirulina are environmentally friendly and have a high rate of yield in large-scale production under controlled conditions [36]. Spirulina, in addition to its nutritional and medicinal security, has the potential to eliminate poverty. The considerable potential for sustainable financial development in a small-scale crop for nutritional enhancement was evident in China, where the production increase resulted in a dramatic increase in profit from USD 7.6 million to USD 16.6 million. Spirulina production is possible for small and marginal farmers as well as enthusiastic urban gardeners; this makes it easily accessible to the population [37]. Moreover, the health system can provide SP as medication to control adverse effects in people living with HIV on HAART with minimal costs.

Due to the increasing number of HIV-infected people and their high dependence on HAART, it is imperative to explore the anti-inflammatory and antioxidant mechanisms of SP against HIV and MetS. This review explores the anti-inflammatory and antioxidant mechanisms of SP in the inhibition of MetS and its potential as a supplement against HIV and ARV-induced MetS.

2. The Roles of HIV and HAART in MetS

HIV has often been associated with MetS [38], which results in cardiovascular diseases. Recent reports have linked some HIV-related features to MetS. These characteristic features include escalated cases of cardiovascular diseases, type 2 diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, immunodeficiency, high viral load, and atherosclerosis [7]. Recently, studies have suggested that HAART, in addition to the above-mentioned HIV-related features, actively induces MetS in persons with HIV [7,39-41]. Earlier studies by Palios et al. (2011) on arterial stiffness, displayed by pulse wave velocity (PWV), and markers of MetS, reported that persons with HIV exhibited an increased degree of PWV when compared with the healthy controls. Subsequently, persons on HAART have been shown to exhibit a similar PWV as persons with hypertension [39,40]. The prevalence of MetS in HIV-infected people receiving antiretroviral (ARV) treatment was higher when compared to the general population. This prevalence was attributed to age, physical inactivity, and a low cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4) count [42–44]. The patient response to HAART varies; some antiviral drugs can successfully suppress the plasma viral load without increasing the CD4 count; this allows the risks of opportunistic infections and abnormalities. Failure to increase the CD4 count during HAART may be due to several factors, including drug resistance, low CD4+T-cell count at the initiation of HAART, the advanced stage of the disease, and a low adherence to HAART [45].

The nuclear factor-kappa-light chain-enhancer of the activated B cell (NF- κ B) is a protein complex that is responsible for DNA and cytokine (IL-1 β , IL- β , and TNF- α) tran-

3 of 17

scription, chemokine activation, and the survival of cells [7]. NF- κ B is also a well-known mediator of inflammation that promotes HIV transcription [7,46].

Inflammation linked to HAART is evidenced by the persistently high levels of interleukin 6 (IL-6), C-reactive proteins, and D-dimers [47]. HIV creates chronic pro-inflammatory conditions that promote MetS [7]. Studies have shown that HIV is associated with inflammation, apoptosis, and mitochondrial dysfunction [7,48]; however, the mechanism that links HIV with MetS remains unclear [7]. Herein, we highlight the significance of SP as an anti-inflammatory supplement for HIV-infected people on lifelong HAART and its mechanism of inhibition on MetS.

3. Spirulina Species

Spirulina has three commonly investigated species due to their potential therapeutic nature and high nutritional content. These Spirulina species include Spirulina platensis (SP) (otherwise known as Arthrospira platensis), Spirulina maxima (Arthrospira maxima), and Spirulina fusiformis (Arthrospira fusiformis). These Spirulina species are also classified as oxygenic photosynthetic bacteria under Cyanobacteria and Prochlorales [49-54]. SP is found in alkaline water with abundant bicarbonate and saline [22,55]. Spirulina species are generally three-dimensional helix microstructures [56] protected by a cell wall composed of complex sugars and proteins [22]; however, helical transformation results after mature trichomes divide into hormogonia, binary fission, and undergo length elongation [57]. SP is considered an antioxidant and anti-inflammatory agent [58]. It is also considered as a nutraceutical food supplement due to its high content of proteins, vitamins, and minerals. Moreover, its composition includes chlorophyll, phycocyanin, and carotenoid. Chlorophyll has antioxidant and antimutagenic properties [59,60], carotenoids are vitally important antioxidants with cancer-inhibiting abilities [53], and phycocyanin is a Bili protein with antioxidant and radical scavenging properties [61]. Moreso, SP has also been credited for its cancer- and viral infection-suppressing abilities [62].

3.1. Role of Spirulina in the Inhibition of Oxidative Stress

Recently, research has unveiled the important roles of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). NADPH is contained in the nervous system and its assemblage and activation generate free radicals (FR) which subsequently destroy cells. *Spirulina* is a potent inhibitor of NADPH oxidase, which has been one of the proteins responsible for the production of ROS and subsequent oxidative stress [54,63,64]. SP has the potential to inhibit oxidative stress by blocking NADPH oxidase [21,25,28,29] and to enhance (Figure 1) mitochondrial health by promoting an antioxidant response [30–33]. Furthermore, SP prevents FR-induced apoptotic cell death through the inhibition of oxidative stress [65].

3.2. Multitargeted Therapeutic Roles of SP

SP has a therapeutic effect against vascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative diseases, and inflammatory disorders [66]. *Spirulina* treatment enhances the NF-kappa B-directed luciferase expression [67]. It has antiallergic effects [54], including against allergic rhinitis in humans [68]. *Spirulina* is an immune booster [22]. It prevents cellular aging, infectious diseases, and promotes a strong immune system [57]. *Spirulina* has central neuroprotective effects in rodents [69]. It is also associated with the inhibitory effects against numerous viruses, such as HIV-1, herpes simplex virus 1 and 2 (HSV-1 and HSV-2), human cytomegalovirus (HCMV), influenza type A, measles, and other enveloped viruses [53,70–73]. Moreover, it has antimutagenic and anticancer effects [57]. *Spirulina* is an effective treatment against chronic arsenic poisoning with melanosis and keratosis [74]. SP shares similar chemical structures and physiological activities with bilirubin [25–28,75]. SP antioxidant properties are due to its composition and the presence of phycobilins, phycocyanin, and phy cocyanobilin [25–27] (Figure 2). Phy cobilins are similar in structure to bile pigments such as bilirubin, a well-known ROS scavenger [22,76]. Phycocyanin has been proven to possess antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities [34,54,63,64,77,78]. Phycocyanin is also structurally similar to biliverdin, a strong inhibitor of NADPH oxidaæ and inflammation-induced radicals [25,34]. A study conducted by Zheng et al. (2013) indicated that phycocyanin normalized urinary and renal oxidative stress markers and the expression of NADPH oxidaæ components. Furthermore, phycocyanobilin, bilirubin, and biliverdin inhibited NADPH-dependent superoxide production in renal mesangial cells [25]. The study also demonstrated that SP may be used in a therapeutic approach to prevent diabetic nephropathy through the inhibition of oxidative stress [25]. Thus far, phycocyanine, the most powerful natural antioxidant, is only present in cyanobacteria and thus in *spirulina*.







Figure 2. The 2D chemical structures of phycocyanin, phycocyanobilin, bilirubin, and biliverdin (prepared by author using maestro 11.2).

SP exhibited neuroprotective activities through antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects [79]. It has also shown significant antioxidant activity in vitro by scavenging nitric oxide and preventing DNA damage by scavenging hydroxyl radical (Figure 3) [80]. Antidiabetic and anti-inflammatory properties of SP [81] are based on its significant free-radical scavenging activities. SP contains compounds that fall under a broad spectrum of antioxidant agents, such as alkaloids, flavonoids [82], and phycocyanin [28,83–86]. Moreso, it provides trace minerals for the synthesis of antioxidant enzymes, demonstrated by the antidiabetic response in rats [87]. It has potential benefits in assisting with the reduction in chronic inflammatory conditions [88]. *Spirulina* incorporated into skin cream showed promising results as an anti-inflammatory and a wound-healing agent [89].



Figure 3. Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects of SP (created with BioRender.com, accessed on 17 November 2021).

Spirulina against HIV-1 demonstrated its ability as an antiviral compound. Studies have demonstrated the ability of SP in the inhibition of HIV-1 replication in human T-cell lines, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), and Langerhans cells (LC). The inhibition of the viral production by *spirulina* extract (between 0.3 and 1.2 μ g/mL) was found to be approximately 50% in PBMCs [57]. More studies are needed to fully understand the mechanism behind the inhibition of HIV by SP.

3.3. Mechanism of Action

SP contains several vital antioxidant and anti-inflammatory compounds as mentioned above, such as chlorophyll, phycocyanin, and carotenoids (β -carotene). The antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of phycocyanin have been determined in numerous studies [28,83–86,90–97]. Phycocyanin is responsible for reducing oxidative stress and NADPH oxidase [28]. It scavenges free radicals, such as alkoxy, hydroxyl, and peroxyl radicals, and decreases nitrite production and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression. Phycocyanin also inhibits liver microsomal lipid peroxidation [28,83–86,90–97].

Phycocyanin has been proven to inhibit the formation of the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) expression. Additionally, it decreases prostaglandin E(2) production [28,83–86]. Phycocyanin prevents the degradation of cytosolic I κ B- α , which suppresses the activation of nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) [28]. Furthermore, the inhibitory activity of phycocyanin is associated with the suppression of TNF- α formation in the macrophages [86]. In addition, phycocyanin exerts regulatory effects on mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) activation pathways, such as the p38, c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), and extracellular-signal-regulated kinase (ERK1/2) pathways [98–100]. The second compound of SP, carotenoids, β -carotene to be specific, is an antioxidant that has anti-carcinogenic, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory activities [101–103]. As a membrane antioxidant, β -carotene protects against singlet oxygen-mediated lipid peroxidation [101]. Beta carotene inhibits the production of nitric oxide and prostaglandin E(2) and suppresses the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), COX-2, TNF- α , and IL-1 β . The suppression of inflammatory mediators by β -carotene results from its' ability to inhibit NF- κ B activation by preventing nuclear translocation of the NF- κ B p65 subunit [102,104,105]. Studies have shown that β -carotene suppressed the transcription of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-12 in vitro [103]; this takes place in the macrophages. The third compound of *spirulina*, chlorophyll, can perform antioxidant and antimutagenic activities [59,60]. *Spirulina*'s mechanism of action is a concert of compounds, but it is not clear whether they all act simultaneously during demanding events.

SP promotes the activation and expression of heme oxygenase 1 (HO-1) and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) [104,105]. HO-1 is suggested to play an important part in the adaptive reprogramming which could result in Nrf-2 activation, but this pathway is unclear, and more studies are required. Moreso, SP causes the activation of the Nrf2/HO-1 pathway [106]. Nrf-2 activation by SP results in the production and increased expression of antioxidant enzymes, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase (CAT) [100].

4. Common Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART) Combinations

HAART has several classes: nucleoside/nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs), non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs) [48,107-114], protease inhibitors (PIs) [114–117], integrase strand transfer inhibitors (INSTIs) [118–123], fusion inhibitors (FIs) [124], and chemokine receptor antagonists (CCR5 antagonists) [125–127]. HAART is a specifically selected combination of NRTI and NNRTI, PI, or INSTI drugs responsible for the inhibition of viral replication by multiple virus targets [113,128-136]. However, HAART can cause adverse drug reactions. Furthermore, 2',3'-dideoxy-3'-thiacytidine (3TC), 2',3'-dideoxy-5-fluoro-3'-thiacytidine (FTC), TDF (Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate), ZDV (Zidovudine), and d4T (Stavudine) are associated with mitochondrial toxicity and oxidative stress [137-140]. Additionally, NNRTIs are linked to toxic hepatitis, and PIs are implicated in insulin resistance and hyperlipidemia [114]. Chronic side effects linked to HAART include ROS-induced insulin resistance [141,142], lipodystrophy, gastrointestinal disorders [143], and cardiovascular disease [11,144]. Primarily, HAART is used for the treatment and prevention of HIV-1. These primary functions of HAART are achieved by attacking different components of the virus lifecycle which ensures inhibition regardless of the virus being resistant to one of the drugs [113,128-136]. A combination of two NRTIs (mostly FTC and TDF) and one NNRTI (e.g., EFV; Efavirenz) is a more favorable choice due to the convenience to dose, effectiveness, and less toxic effects compared to other drug combinations [114,145,146]. A combination of three NRTIs is less effective than two NRTIs with an NNRTI [147]. The d4T/ddI combination is associated with high toxicity and hence it is not often recommended [148]. The most popular NRTIs are cytidine analogs (XTC), FTC, 3TC, and TDF, which form part of the first-line therapy [149-153]. FTC and 3TC are similar in chemical structures with different pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties, and they have required deoxynucleosides for HIV DNA synthesis. They undergo phosphorylation through intracellular kinases to become FTC 50 -triphosphate (FTC-TP) and 3TC-TP; triphosphate metabolites with FTC-TP are more efficiently incorporated during HIV DNA synthesis than 3TC-TP [145,154-157]. Moreover, 3TC-TP has a shorter intracellular half-life compared to FTC-TP [155]. The TDF and FTC combination has a synergistic effect, increasing intracellular metabolites, and they are recommended for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) [155,158-161]. Contraindications (Table 1) on HAART treatment are antiretroviral medication-specific and can be overcome by a change in the HAART combination to suit the individuals own treatment [107,108,119-121,131,162-165] or the supplementation and treatment of the symptoms.

HAART	Mechanism	Example	Adverse Effect
Nucleoside/Nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs)	NRTIs require intracellular phosphorylation via host enzymes before they can inhibit viral replication. These agents are nucleoside or nucleotide analogs with an absent hydroxyl at the 3' end that are incorporated into the growing viral DNA strand. They competitively bind to reverse transcriptase and cause premature DNA chain termination as they inhibit 3' to 5' phosphodiester bond formation.	abacavir, didanosine, lamivudine, stavudine, tenofovir, em tricitabine, atazanavir, and zidovudine	Mitochondrial toxicity, bone marrow suppression, anemia, and lipodystrophy. NRTIs inhibit mitochondrial DNA polymerase. Tenofovir may cause kidney injury or decreased bone mineral density or osteoporosis. Abacavir is associated with a CD8-mediated hy persensitivity reaction in patients with the HLA-B*5701 mutation. Didanosine is associated with a high risk of pancreatitis and he patomegaly.
Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs)	NNRTIs bind to HIV reverse transcriptase at an allosteric, hydrophobic site. These agents cause a stereochemical change within reverse transcriptase, thus inhibiting nucleoside binding and inhibition of DNA polymerase.	delavirdine, efavirenz, nevirapine, rilpivirine	Temporary rashes but may progress to Stevens-Johnson's syndrome. Hepatitis may progress to liver failure. Efavirenz may cause teratogenicity Risk of neural tube defects. NNRTIs (mostly rilpivirine) may result in QT prolongation. Numerous interactions with hepatic cytochrome P450 enzymes Efav irenz is linked to various psychia tric and CNS effects, including, but not limited to: vivid dreams, delusions, sleep disturbances, dizziness, headaches, increased suicidality, psy chosis-like behavior, and mania.
Protease inhibitors (PIs)	PIs competitively inhibit the proteolytic cleavage of the gag/pol polyproteins in HIV-infected cells. These agents result in immature, noninfectious virions. PIs are administered with boosting agents such as ritonavir or cobicistat to patients that are failing their initial HAART combination.	atazanavir, darunavir, indinavir	Hepatotoxicity, insulin resistance, hyperglyæmia, hyperlipidemia, lipodystrophy, and PR interval prolongation. Other PIs are inefficient and have a high resistance and increased risk of nephrolithiasis, hence indinavir and saquinavir are no longer used.
Integrase strand transfer inhibitors (INSTIs)	Integrase inhibitors bind viral integrase and prevent viral DNA from being incorporated into the host cell chromosome.	dolutegravir, elvitegravir, raltegravir	Some patients may experience dizziness, sleep disturbances, or depression. Raltegravir and dolutegravir can cause rhabdomyolysis and myopathy. Dolutegravir can block the secretion of creatinine and occasionally cause a decrease in the GFR. It can also have interactions with several medications, including those that inhibit/induce CYP3A4 enzymes, metformin, rifampin, and antiepileptics
Fusion inhibitors (FIs)	Fusion inhibitors bind to the envelope glycoprotein gp41 and prevent viral fusion to the CD4 T-cells.	enfuvirtide	Enfuvirtide is generally well tolerated though some patients may experience injection site reactions.
Chemokine receptor antagonists (CCR5 antagonists)	CCR5 antagonists selectively and reversibly block entry into the CD4 T-cells by preventing interaction between CD4 cells and the gp120 subunit of the viral envelope glycoprotein.	maraviroc	Some patients may experience dizziness or skin rashes. There is a risk of hepatotoxicity with allergic features, high risk of he patic dysfunction. Drug-drug interactions should be a consideration if patients are taking concurrent CYP3A4 inhibitors or inducers.

Table 1. HAART drugs mechanism and their adverse effects.

Abbreviations: HLA-human le ucocyte antigen; CNS-central nervous system; GFR-glomerular filtration rate.

5. Mechanism of HAART-Induced Oxidative Stress, Inflammation, and Mitochondrial Dysfunction

The exact mechanism of HAART-induced oxidative stress has not been completely explored; however, studies have demonstrated the link between HAART use and oxidative stress. HAART is linked with lipid metabolism dysfunction through the induction of peripheral lipodystrophy. Lipodystrophy results from the impaired cytoplasmic retinoic-acid binding protein type 1 (CRABP1)-mediated cis-9-retinoic acid stimulation of peroxisome proliferator-activ ated receptor type gamma (PPAR- γ), leading to impaired differentiation and increased apoptosis of peripheral adipocytes. HIV-1 protease-inhibitors further inhibit the cytochrome P450 3A-mediated synthesis of cis-9-retinoic acid, one of the key activators of PPAR- γ [166]. Insulin resistance occurs following impaired fat storage and lipid release [141,142,166], which impacts the oxidant profile. The depletion of ATP production and mitochondrial dysfunction [8,9], and the depletion of mitochondrial DNA [167–169], are some of the ways HAART induces oxidative stress. HIV increases oxidative stress, and HAART increases lipid oxidation, which amplifies the ROS imbalance leading to increased oxidative stress complications [10,170].

Chronic exposure to HAART induces increased oxidative stress in endothelial cells and mononuclear cell recruitment, which leads to cardiovascular diseases in HIV patients on ARV therapy [12]. Inducing oxidative stress is common for protease and reverse transcriptase inhibitors [171]. HAART drugs induce oxidative stress in various ways, which include inhibiting DNA pol- γ activity and leading to mitochondrial dysfunction, and also through the depletion of mitochondrial DNA [167–169]. Studies have shown that patients on HAART have abnormally high levels of free oxygen radicals in sera compared to untreated HIV patients and HIV-uninfected participants [10,11,168,170,172,173].

Adverse drug reactions vary; TDF and lopinavir cause acute and chronic renal dysfunction [174–178]. TDF inhibits mitochondrial DNA-polymerase gamma, hence leading to the impaired function of energy-dependent transporters [179,180]. NRTIs are associated with the inhibition of mitochondrial DNA polymerase, lactic acidosis, subcutaneous lipoatrophy, peripheral neuropathy, and pancreatitis. The level of mitochondrial toxicity depends on the drugs; it is low with 3TC, FTC, and TDF, followed by ZDV, and higher with d4T. NNRTIs are associated with life-threatening skin reactions and toxic hepatitis. PIs are associated with insulin resistance and hyperlipidemia [7,114].

6. Combined and Synergistic Therapeutic Actions of HAART and SP

Studies have shown that the possible therapeutic effects of antioxidants may provide strategies in suppressing oxidative stress-induced comorbidities that emerge with the use of HAART therapy in HIV-infected individuals [12]. The combination of HIV and HAART has been associated with increased oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation. Furthermore, HIV or HAART induces ROS by inducing NADPH oxidase [181,182]. Interestingly, SP is a potent antioxidant [26,27] with anti-inflammatory activities [34], which makes it a potential supplement in the mitigation of oxidative stress induced by HAART adverse drug reactions. Moreover, SP can inhibit NADPH oxidase which is considered one of the main sources of ROS and free radicals in HIV-infected persons on HAART [34,181,182], resulting in reduced oxidative stress [28]. Moreover, β -carotene from SP protects against singlet oxygen-mediated lipid peroxidation [101]. Among HAART complications, TDF and lopinavir cause acute and chronic renal dysfunction [174–178]. Herein, phycocyanin from SP can normalize urinary and renal oxidative stress markers and inhibit NADPH-dependent superoxide production in renal mesangial cells [25], ameliorating renal dysfunction. Lately, SP has been an effective therapeutic approach to preventing diabetic nephropathy through the inhibition of oxidative stress [25]. These properties indicate SP as a potential agent to mitigate renal dysfunction caused by HAART. As mentioned above, NRTIs can inhibit mitochondrial DNA polymerase [179,180]. Studies in vitro showed that SP can enhance cell nucleus enzyme function, repair DNA synthesis [57], and enhance mitochondrial health [30-33,80]. Mitochondrial toxicity presented as peripheral neuropathy and lactic

acidosis can be corrected by SP through providing trace minerals for the synthesis of antioxidant enzymes [87] and reducing chronic inflammatory conditions [88].

NNRTIs are associated with life-threatening skin reactions and toxic hepatitis [114], these conditions may be ameliorated by SP. Phycocyanin from SP can inhibit liver microsomal lipid peroxidation [28,83-86,90-97], and hence reducing toxic hepatitis. Moreso, SP incorporated into skin creams showed promising results as an anti-inflammatory and a wound-healing agent [89]; this can be beneficial in the mitigation of NNRTI-induced skin reactions. PI therapy induces insulin resistance and hyperlipidemia [7]. Additionally, HAART may be associated with a higher risk of myocardial infarction [114,183,184]. SP has a therapeutic effect against vascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, and neurodegenerative diseases [66]. In addition, the Spirulina family has also shown central neuroprotective effects in rodents [69] and may exert its neuroprotective activities through antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects [79]. Therefore, SP is a recommended antioxidant to use as a supplement; the list of benefits is evident. It also has antiallergic effects [54], prevents cellular aging and infectious diseases, and promotes a strong immune system [57]. Herein, promotion of a strong immune system by SP can help increase CD4 cell counts, lower HIV viral loads, and slow down the progression to AIDS. Moreover, SP prevents FR-induced apoptotic cell death [65]; this may help decrease apoptosis of peripheral adipocytes induced by HAART. Chemically, SP is a recommended source of proteins, vitamins, and minerals [57], important nutrients for individuals on the HAART program. Finally, SP can assist HAART in the inhibition of HIV-1 replication because it has been shown to inhibit viral production in PBMCs.

There has been a number of clinical studies to investigate whether SP improves the quality of life in HIV-infected individuals. Marcel (2011) reported that insulin sensitivity in HIV patients improved more when a spirulina nutritional supplement was used instead of soybean [185]. Another study demonstrated for the first time that spirulina improves antioxidant capacity in people living with HIV [186]. *Spirulina* supplementation combined with a qualitative balanced diet showed potential to inhibit lipid abnormalities [187], significantly increase CD4 cells, and reduce the viral load in HIV-infected antiretroviral-naive patients [187–189]. However, there is limited information on the investigation of SP confirming the mechanism of antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects and the impact on the quality of life in the HIV-positive population taking HAART. Thus far, it has been shown that supplementation with *Spirulina* platensis could improve the immune status of HIV patients on ART and decrease inflammatory and pro-oxidant levels [190]. The development of more clinical studies to confirm the SP protective effect in this population will answer many questions. The recommended concentrations of SP for daily supplementation varies, as studies have successfully used 19 g [185], 5 g [186], and 10 g [190,191].

7. Conclusions

HIV continues to be a major global cause of mortality. Besides the therapeutic benefits of HAART in HIV treatment, HAART has been linked to numerous adverse drug reactions which include oxidative stress, inflammation, and the disruption of mitochondrial function. SP as an antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, and nutritional supplement possesses various corrective properties against attacks from viruses and bacteria. The corrective health properties of SP are largely attributed to antioxidant pigments found in SP. These pigments include chlorophyll, carotenoids, and phycocyanin which facilitate antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and anticancer properties. The corrective properties of SP indicated in this review highlight its potential in the mitigation of HAART adverse drug reactions and MetS. The SP supplement potential is also supported by its ability to assist HAART in the inhibition of HIV-1. This review highlighted the corrective properties of potent antioxidant SP potential as a supplement for individuals on lifelong HAART experiencing MetS. Furthermore, this review highlights the need for more studies on SP and HAART synergy.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, T.S., T.G., A.C.; writing—original draft preparation, T.S.; writing—review and editing, T.G. and A.C. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: Grant sponsor: National Research Foundation Innovation Doctoral Scholarship; Grant number: 130023; Grant sponsor: University of KwaZulu Natal, College of Health Sciences Masters and Doctoral Research Scholarship.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- WHO. HIV/AIDS. Available online: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hiv-aids (accessed on 30 November 2021).
 UNAIDS. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). Global Report: UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2021;
- Global HIV & AIDS Statistics: Fact Sheet; Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS: Geneva, Switzerland, 2021.
- UNAIDS. Global HIV & AIDS Statistics—2020 Fact. Available online: https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/fact-sheet (accessed on 11 September 2021).
- Release, S. Mid-Year Population Estimates 2021. Statistics South Africa. 2021. Available online: http://www.statssa.gov.za/ publications/P0302/P03022021.pdf (accessed on 18 November 2021).
- UNAIDS. HIV and AIDS Estimates. Available online: https://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/southafrica (accessed on 11 September 2021).
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA). What Is HAART? Available online: https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/ research-reports/hivaids/what-haart (accessed on 30 November 2021).
- Mohan, J.; Ghazi, T.; Chuturgoon, A.A. A Critical Review of the Biochemical Mechanisms and Epigenetic Modifications in HIVand Antiretroviral-Induced Metabolic Syndrome. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2021, 22, 12020. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Manda, K.R.; Banerjee, A.; Banks, W.A.; Ercal, N. Highly active antiretroviral therapy drug combination induces oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in immortalized human blood-brain barrier endothelial œlls. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 2011, 50, 801–810. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Blas-Garcia, A.; Apostolova, N.; Esplugues, J.V. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial impairment after treatment with anti-HIV drugs: Clinical implications. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 2011, 17, 4076–4086. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 10. Ngondi, J.L.; Oben, J.; Forkah, D.M.; Etame, L.H.; Mbanya, D. The effect of different combination therapies on oxidative stress markers in HIV infected patients in Cameroon. *AIDS Res. Ther.* 2006, *3*, 19. [CrossRef]
- Masiá, M.; Padilla, S.; Bernal, E.; Almenar, M.V.; Molina, J.; Hernández, I.; Graells, M.L.; Gutiérrez, F. Influence of antiretroviral therapy on oxidative stress and cardiovascular risk: A prospective cross-sectional study in HIV-infected patients. *Clin. Ther.* 2007, 29, 1448–1455. [CrossRef]
- 12. Mondal, D.; Pradhan, L.; Ali, M.; Agrawal, K.C. HAART drugs induce oxidative stress in human endothelial cells and increase endothelial recruitment of mononuclear cells. *Cardiovasc. Toxicol.* 2004, *4*, 287–302. [CrossRef]
- Finamore, A.; Palmery, M.; Bensehaila, S.; Peluso, I. Antioxidant, immunomodulating, and microbial-modulating activities of the sustainable and ecofriendly spirulina. Oxidative Med. Cell. Longev. 2017, 2017, 1–4. [CrossRef]
- 14. Nyakudya, T.T.; Tshabalala, T.; Dangarembizi, R.; Erlwanger, K.H.; Ndhlala, A.R. The potential therapeutic value of medicinal plants in the management of metabolic disorders. *Molecules* 2020, 25, 2669. [CrossRef]
- Kim, D.S.; Choi, M.H.; Shin, H.J. Extracts of Moringa oleifera leaves from different cultivation regions show both antioxidant and antiobesity activities. J. Food Biochem. 2020, 44, e13282. [CrossRef]
- Pérez-Torres, I.; Ruiz-Ramírez, A.; Baños, G.; El-Hafidi, M. Hibiscus sabdariffa Linnaeus (Malvaceae), curcumin and resveratrol as alternative medicinal agents against metabolic syndrome. Cardiovasc. Hematol. Agents Med. Chem. 2013, 11, 25–37. [CrossRef]
- Mujawdiya, P.K.; Kapur, S. Mangiferin: A potential natural molecule for management of metabolic syndrome. Int. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 2015, 7, 9–13.
- Kränkel, N.; Bahls, M.; van Craenenbroeck, E.M.; A dams, V.; Serratosa, L.; Solberg, E.E.; Hansen, D.; Dörr, M.; Kemps, H. Exercise training to reduce cardiovascular risk in patients with metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes mellitus: How does it work? *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 2019, *26*, 701–708. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 19. Opie, L.H. Metabolic syndrome. Circulation 2007, 115, e32–e35. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Marrone, G.; Guerriero, C.; Palazzetti, D.; Lido, P.; Marolla, A.; Di Daniele, F.; Noce, A. Vegan diet health benefits in metabolic syndrome. Nutrients 2021, 13, 817. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bashandy, S.A.; El Awdan, S.A.; Ebaid, H.; Alhazza, I.M. Antioxidant potential of Spirulina platensis mitigates oxidative stress and reprotoxicity induced by sodium arsenite in male rats. Oxidative Med. Cell. Longev. 2016, 2016, 1–6. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Estrada, J.P.; Bescós, P.B.; del Fresno, A.V. Antioxidant activity of different fractions of Spirulina platensis protean extract. *Il Farm.* 2001, 56, 497–500. [CrossRef]
- Iyer Uma, M.; Sophia, A.; Uliyar, V.M. Glycemic and lipemic responses of selected spirulina-supplemented rice-based recipes in normal subjects. Age Yaars 1999, 22, 1–8.
- Serban, M.C.; Sahebkar, A.; Dragan, S.; Stoichescu-Hogea, G.; Ursoniu, S.; Andrica, F.; Banach, M. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of Spirulina supplementation on plasma lipid concentrations. *Clin. Nutr.* 2016, 35, 842–851. [CrossRef]
- Zheng, J.; Inoguchi, T.; Sasaki, S.; Maeda, Y.; McCarty, M.F.; Fujii, M.; Ikeda, N.; Kobayashi, K.; Sonoda, N.; Takayanagi, R. Phycocyanin and phycocyanobilin from Spirulina platensis protect against diabetic nephropathy by inhibiting oxidative stress. *Am. J. Physiol. - Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 2013, 304, R110–R120. [CrossRef]
- 26. Hu, Z.; Liu, Z. Determination and purification of beta-carotene in Spirulina maximum. Chin. J. Chromatogr. 2001, 19, 85-87.
- Miranda, M.S.; Cintra, R.G.; Barros, S.; Mancini-Filho, J. Antioxidant activity of the microalga Spirulina maxima. *Braz. J. Med. Biol.* Res. 1998, 31, 1075–1079. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Riss, J.; Décordé, K.; Sutra, T.; Delage, M.; Baccou, J.C.; Jouy, N.; Brune, J.P.; Oréal, H.; Cristol, J.P.; Rouanet, J.M. Phycobiliprotein C-phycocyanin from Spirulina platensis is powerfully responsible for reducing oxidative stress and NADPH oxidase expression induced by an atherogenic diet in hamsters. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2007, 55, 7962–7967. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Abdelkhalek, N.K.; Ghazy, E.W.; Abdel-Daim, M.M. Pharmacodynamic interaction of Spirulina platensis and deltamethrin in freshwater fish Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus: Impact on lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2015, 22, 3023–3031. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nawrocka, D.; Kornicka, K.; Śmieszek, A.; Marycz, K. Spirulina platensis improves mitochondrial function impaired by elevated oxidative stress in adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells (ASCs) and intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), and enhances insulin sensitivity in equine metabolic syndrome (EMS) horses. *Mar. Drugs* 2017, 15, 237. [CrossRef]
- Jadaun, P.; Yadav, D.; Bisen, P.S. Spirulina platensis prevents high glucose-induced oxidative stress mitochondrial damage mediated apoptosis in cardiomyoblasts. *Cytotechnology* 2018, 70, 523–536. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 32. Sun, J.Y.; Hou, Y.J.; Fu, X.Y.; Fu, X.T.; Ma, J.K.; Yang, M.F.; Sun, B.L.; Fan, C.D.; Oh, J. Selenium-containing protein from selenium-enriched spirulina platensis attenuates cisplatin-induced apoptosis in MC3T3-E1 Mouse preosteoblast by inhibiting mitochondrial dysfunction and ROS-Mediated oxidative damage. *Front. Physiol.* 2019, *9*, 1907. [CrossRef]
- Oriquat, G.A.; Ali, M.A.; Mahmoud, S.A.; Eid, R.M.; Hassan, R.; Kamel, M.A. Improving hepatic mitochondrial biogenesis as a
 postulated mechanism for the antidiabetic effect of Spirulina platensis in comparison with metformin. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.*2019, 44, 357–364. [CrossRef]
- Izadi, M.; Fazilati, M. Extraction and purification of phycocyanin from spirulina platensis and evaluating its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity. Asian J. Green Chem. 2018, 2, 364–379.
- Pelizer, L.H.; Danesi, E.D.G.; de O Rangel, C.; Sassano, C.E.; Carvalho, J.C.M.; Sato, S.; Moraes, I.O. Influence of inoculum age and concentration in Spirulina platensis cultivation. J. Food Eng. 2003, 56, 371–375. [CrossRef]
- Pina-Pérez, M.C.; Brück, W.M.; Brück, T.; Beyrer, M. Microalgae as healthy ingredients for functional foods. In *The Role of Alternative and Innovative Food Ingredients and Products in Consumer Wellness*; Elsevier: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2019; pp. 103–137.
- Uddin, A.J.; Mahbuba, S.; Rahul, S.; Ifaz, M.; Ahmad, H. Super food Spirulina (Spirulina platensis): Prospect and scopes in Bangladesh. Int. J. Bus Soc. Sci. Res. 2018, 6, 51–55.
- Li Vecchi, V.; Maggi, P.; Rizzo, M.; Montalto, G. The metabolic syndrome and HIV infection. Curr. Pharm. Des. 2014, 20, 4975–5003. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Aounallah, M.; Dagenais-Lussier, X.; El-Far, M.; Mehraj, V.; Jenabian, M.A.; Routy, J.P.; van Grevenynghe, J. Current topics in HIV pathogenesis, part 2: Inflammation drives a Warburg-like effect on the metabolism of HIV-infected subjects. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 2016, 28, 1–10. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 40. Palios, J.; Kadoglou, N.P.; Lampropoulos, S. The pathophysiology of HIV-/HAART-related metabolic syndrome leading to cardiovascular disorders: The emerging role of adipokines. *Exp. Diabetes Res.* 2011, 2012, 1–4. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 41. Barbaro, G.; Iacobellis, G. Metabolic syndrome associated with HIV and highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Curr. Diabetes Rep.* 2009, *9*, 37–42. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rogalska-Płońska, M.; Grzeszczuk, A.; Rogalski, P.; Łucejko, M.; Flisiak, R. Metabolic syndrome in HIV infected adults in Poland. Kardiol. Pol. Pol. Hant J. 2018, 76, 548–553. [CrossRef]
- 43. Nguyen, K.A.; Peer, N.; Mills, E.J.; Kengne, A.P. A meta-analysis of the metabolic syndrome prevalence in the global HIV-infected population. *PLoS ONE* 2016, *11*, e0150970. [CrossRef]
- 44. A taro, Z.; Ashenafi, W. Metabolic syndrome and associated factors among adult HIV positive people on antiretroviral therapy in Jugal hospital, Harar, Eastern Ethiopia. *East Afr. J. Health Biomed. Sci.* **2020**, *4*, 13–24.
- Aiuti, F.; Mezzaroma, I. Failure to reconstitute CD4+ T-cells despite suppression of HIV replication under HAART. AIDS Rev. 2006, 8, 88–97.
- 46. Baker, R.G.; Hayden, M.S.; Ghosh, S. NF-κB, inflammation, and metabolic disease. Cell Metab. 2011, 13, 11–22. [CrossRef]
- Nasi, M.; De Biasi, S.; Gibellini, L.; Bianchini, E.; Pecorini, S.; Bacca, V.; Guaraldi, G.; Mussini, C.; Pinti, M.; Cossarizza, A. Ageing and inflammation in patients with HIV infection. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 2017, 187, 44–52. [CrossRef]

- Lucas, G.M.; Ross, M.J.; Stock, P.G.; Shlipak, M.G.; Wyatt, C.M.; Gupta, S.K.; Atta, M.G.; Wools-Kaloustian, K.K.; Pham, P.A.; Bruggeman, L.A.; et al. Clinical practice guideline for the management of chronic kidney disease in patients infected with HIV: 2014 update by the HIV Medicine Association of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 2014, 59, e96–e138. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 49. Turner, S. Molecular systematics of oxygenic photosynthetic bacteria. Orig. Algae Plast. 1997, 11, 13-52.
- Whitton, B.A. Diversity, ecology, and taxonomy of the cyanobacteria. In *Photosynthetic Prokaryotes*; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 1992; pp. 1–51.
- 51. Vonshak, A. Spirulina Platensis Arthrospira: Physiology, Cell-Biology and Biotechnology; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 1997.
- 52. Gershwin, M.E.; Belay, A. Spirulina in Human Nutrition and Halth; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2007.
- 53. Khan, Z.; Bhadouria, P.; Bisen, P. Nutritional and therapeutic potential of Spirulina. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.* 2005, *6*, 373–379. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Karkos, P.D.; Leong, S.C.; Karkos, C.D.; Sivaji, N.; Assimakopoulos, D.A. Spirulina in clinical practice: Evidence-based human applications. *Evid.-Based Complementary Altern. Med.* **2011**, 2011, 1–3. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Ciferri, O. Spirulina, the edible microorganism. Microbiol. Rev. 1983, 47, 551. [CrossRef]
- Kamata, K.; Piao, Z.; Suzuki, S.; Fujimori, T.; Tajiri, W.; Nagai, K.; Iyoda, T.; Yamada, A.; Hayakawa, T.; Ishiwara, M.; et al. Spirulina-templated metal microcoils with controlled helical structures for THz electromagnetic responses. *Sci. Rep.* 2014, *4*, 1–7. [CrossRef]
- 57. Ali, S.K.; Saleh, A.M. Spirulina-an overview. Int. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 2012, 4, 9–15.
- 58. Henrikson, R. Earth Food Spirulina; Ronore Enterprises, Inc.: Laguna Beach, CA, USA, 1989; p. 187.
- Ferruzzi, M.G.; Blakeslee, J. Digestion, absorption, and cancer preventative activity of dietary chlorophyll derivatives. Nutr. Res. 2007, 27, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- Hosikian, A.; Lim, S.; Halim, R.; Danquah, M.K. Chlorophyll extraction from microalgae: A review on the process engineering aspects. Int. J. Chem. Eng. 2010, 2010, 1–10. [CrossRef]
- Hoseini, S.M.; Khosravi-Darani, K.; Mozafari, M.R. Nutritional and medical applications of spirulina microalgae. *Mini Rev. Med. Chem.* 2013, 13, 1231–1237. [CrossRef]
- Asghari, A.; Fazilati, M.; Latifi, A.M.; Salavati, H.; Choopani, A. A review on antioxidant properties of Spirulina. J. Appl. Biotechnol. Rep. 2016, 3, 345–351.
- Wu, Q.; Liu, L.; Miron, A.; Klímová, B.; Wan, D.; Kuča, K. The antioxidant, immunomodulatory, and anti-inflammatory activities of Spirulina: An overview. Arch. Toxicol. 2016, 90, 1817–1840. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Deng, R.; Chow, T.J. Hypolipidemic, antioxidant, and antiinflammatory activities of microalgae Spirulina. Cardiovasc. Ther. 2010, 28, e33–e45. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chu, W.L.; Lim, Y.W.; Radhakrishnan, A.K.; Lim, P.E. Protective effect of aqueous extract from Spirulina platensis against cell death induced by free radicals. BMC Complementary Altern. Med. 2010, 10, 1–8. [CrossRef]
- McCarty, M.F. "Iatrogenic Gilbert syndrome"-A strategy for reducing vascular and cancer risk by increasing plasma unconjugated bilirubin. Med. Hypotheses 2007, 69, 974–994. [CrossRef]
- 67. Balachandran, P.; Pugh, N.D.; Ma, G.; Pasco, D.S. Toll-like receptor 2-dependent activation of monocytes by Spirulina polysaccharide and its immune enhancing action in mice. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 2006, *6*, 1808–1814. [CrossRef]
- Mao, T.; Water, J.V.d.; Gershwin, M.E. Effects of a Spirulina-based dietary supplement on cytokine production from allergic rhinitis patients. J. Med. Food 2005, 8, 27–30. [CrossRef]
- Chamorro, G.; Pérez-Albiter, M.; Serrano-García, N.; Mares-Sámano, J.J.; Rojas, P. Spirulina maxima pretreatment partially protects against 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2, 3, 6-tetrahydropyridine neurotoxicity. Nutr. Neurosci. 2006, 9, 207–212. [CrossRef]
- Hernández-Corona, A.; Nieves, I.; Meckes, M.; Chamorro, G.; Barron, B.L. Antiviral activity of Spirulina maxima against herpes simplex virus type 2. Antivir. Res. 2002, 56, 279–285. [CrossRef]
- Luescher-Mattli, M. Algae, a possible source for new drugs in the treatment of HIV and other viral diseases. Curr. Med. Chem. -Anti-Infect. Agents 2003, 2, 219–225. [CrossRef]
- 72. Hayashi, T.; Hayashi, K.; Maeda, M.; Kojima, I. Calcium spirulan, an inhibitor of enveloped virus replication, from a blue-green alga Spirulina platensis. J. Nat. Prod. 1996, 59, 83–87. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ayehunie, S.; Belay, A.; Baba, T.W.; Ruprecht, R.M. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by an aqueous extract of Spirulina platensis (Arthrospira platensis). J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. Hum. Retrovirol. 1998, 18, 7–12. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 74. Choudhary, M.; Jetley, U.K.; Khan, M.A.; Zutshi, S.; Fatma, T. Effect of heavy metal stress on proline, malondialdehyde, and superoxide dismutase activity in the cyanobacterium Spirulina platensis-S5. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 2007, 66, 204–209. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 75. Jiang, F; Roberts, S.J.; Datla, S.R.; Dusting, G.J. NO modulates NADPH oxidase function via heme oxygenase-1 in human endothelial cells. *Hypertension* 2006, 48, 950–957. [CrossRef]
- Bhat, V.B.; Madyastha, K. C-phycocyanin: A potent peroxyl radical scavenger in vivo and in vitro. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2000, 275, 20–25. [CrossRef]
- Ashaolu, T.J.; Samborska, K.; Lee, C.C.; Tomas, M.; Capanoglu, E.; Tarhan, Ö.; Taze, B.; Jafari, S.M. Phycocyanin, a super functional ingredient from algae; properties, purification characterization, and applications. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* 2021, 193, 2320–2331. [CrossRef]

- Grover, P.; Bhatnagar, A.; Kumari, N.; Bhatt, A.N.; Nishad, D.K.; Purkayastha, J. C-Phycocyanin-a novel protein from Spirulina platensis-In vivo toxicity, antioxidant and immunomodulatory studies. *Saudi J. Biol. Sci.* 2021, 28, 1853–1859. [CrossRef]
- Lima, F.A.V.; Joventino, I.P.; Joventino, F.P.; de Almeida, A.C.; Neves, K.R.T.; do Carmo, M.R.; Leal, L.K.A.M.; de Andrade, G.M.; de Barros Viana, G.S. Neuroprotective activities of Spirulina platensis in the 6-OHDA model of Parkinson's disease are related to its anti-inflammatory effects. *Neurochem. Res.* 2017, 42, 3390–3400. [CrossRef]
- 80. Kamble, S.P.; Gaikar, R.B.; Padalia, R.B.; Shinde, K.D. Extraction and purification of C-phycocyanin from dry Spirulina powder and evaluating its antioxidant, anticoagulation and prevention of DNA damage activity. J. Appl. Pharm. Sci. 2013, 3, 149.
- Joventino, I.P.; Alves, H.G.; Neves, L.C.; Pinheiro-Joventino, F.; Leal, L.K.A.; Neves, S.A.; Ferreira, F.V.; Brito, G.A.C.; Viana, G.B. The microalga Spirulina platensis presents anti-inflammatory action as well as hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic properties in diabetic rats. J. Complementary Integr. Med. 2012, 9, 1–19. [CrossRef]
- Anbarasan, V.; Kumar, V.K.; Kumar, P.S.; Venkatachalam, T. In vitro evaluation of antioxidant activity of blue green algae Spirulina platensis. Int. J. Pharm. Sci. Res. 2011, 2, 2616.
- Romay, C.; Delgado, R.; Remirez, D.; Gonzalez, R.; Rojas, A. Effects of phycocyanin extract on tumor necrosis factor-α and nitrite levels in serum of mice treated with endotoxin. *Arzneimittelforschung* 2001, *51*, 733–736. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Remirez, D.; Fernández, V.; Tapia, G.; González, R.; Videla, L.A. Influence of C-phycocyanin on hepatocellular parameters related to liver oxidative stress and Kupffer cell functioning. *Inflamm. Res.* 2002, *51*, 351–356. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Patel, A.; Mishra, S.; Ghosh, P. Antioxidant potential of C-phycocyanin isolated from cyanobacterial species Lyng bya, Phormidium and Spirulina spp. Indian J. Biochem. Biophys. 2006, 43, 25–31. [PubMed]
- Cherng, S.C.; Cheng, S.N.; Tarn, A.; Chou, T.C. Anti-inflammatory activity of c-phycocyanin in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages. *Life Sci.* 2007, *81*, 1431–1435. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nasirian, F.; Dadkhah, M.; Moradi-Kor, N.; Obeidavi, Z. Effects of Spirulina platensis microalgae on antioxidant and antiinflammatory factors in diabetic rats. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Obes. Targets Ther.* 2018, 11, 375. [CrossRef]
- Jensen, G.S.; Attridge, V.L.; Beaman, J.L.; Guthrie, J.; Ehmann, A.; Benson, K.F. Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of an aqueous cyanophyta extract derived from arthrospira platensis: Contribution to bioactivities by the non-phycocyanin aqueous fraction. J. Med. Food 2015, 18, 535–541. [CrossRef]
- Gunes, S.; Tamburaci, S.; Dalay, M.C.; Deliloglu Gurhan, I. In vitro evaluation of Spirulina platensis extract incorporated skin cream with its wound healing and antioxidant activities. *Pharm. Biol.* 2017, 55, 1824–1832. [CrossRef]
- Romay, C.H.; Armesto, J.; Remirez, D.; González, R.; Ledon, N.; Garcia, I. Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of C-phycocyanin from blue-green algae. *Inflamm. Res.* 1998, 47, 36–41. [Cross Ref]
- Romay, C.; Ledon, N.; Gonzalez, R. Further studies on anti-inflammatory activity of phycocyanin in some animal models of inflammation. *Inflamm. Res.* 1998, 47, 334–338. [CrossRef]
- Gonzalez, R.; Rodriguez, S.; Romay, C.; González, A.; Armesto, J.; Remirez, D.; Merino, N. Anti-inflammatory activity of phycocyanin extract in acetic acid-induced colitis in rats. *Pharmacol. Res.* 1999, *39*, 55–59. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Remirez, D.; Ledon, N.; González, R. Role of histamine in the inhibitory effects of phycocyanin in experimental models of allergic inflammatory response. *Mediat. Inflamm.* 2002, 11, 81–85. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 94. Romay, C.H.; Gonzalez, R.; Ledon, N.; Remirez, D.; Rimbau, V. C-phycocyanin: A biliprotein with antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects. *Curr. Protein Pept. Sci.* 2003, *4*, 207–216. [CrossRef]
- Khan, M.; Varadharaj, S.; Shobha, J.C.; Naidu, M.U.; Parinandi, N.L.; Kutala, V.K.; Kuppusamy, P. C-phycocyanin ameliorates doxorubicin-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis in adult rat cardiomyocytes. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 2006, 47, 9–20. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Shih, C.M.; Cheng, S.N.; Wong, C.S.; Kuo, Y.L.; Chou, T.C. Antiinflammatory and antihyperalgesic activity of C-phycocyanin. Anesth. Analg. 2009, 108, 1303–1310. [CrossRef]
- Manconia, M.; Pendás, J.; Ledón, N.; Moreira, T.; Sinico, C.; Saso, L.; Fadda, A.M. Phycocyanin liposomes for topical antiinflammatory activity: In-vitro in-vivo studies. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 2009, 61, 423–430. [CrossRef]
- Khan, M.; Varadharaj, S.; Ganesan, L. P.; Shobha, J.C.; Naidu, M.U.; Parinandi, N.L.; Tridandapani, S.; Kutala, V.K.; Kuppusamy, P. C-phycocyanin protects against ischemia-reperfusion injury of heart through involvement of p38 MAPK and ERK signaling. Am. J. Physiol. -Heart Circ. Physiol. 2006, 290, H2136–H2145. [CrossRef]
- Li, X.L.; Xu, G.; Chen, T.; Wong, Y.S.; Zhao, H.L.; Fan, R.R.; Gu, X.M.; Tong, P.C.; Chan, J.C. Phycocyanin protects INS-1E pancreatic beta cells against human islet amyloid polypeptide-induced apoptosis through attenuating oxidative stress and modulating JNK and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 2009, 41, 1526–1535. [CrossRef]
- Sadek, K.M.; Lebda, M.A.; Nasr, S.M.; Shoukry, M. Spirulina platensis prevents hyperglycemia in rats by modulating gluconeogenesis and apoptosis via modification of oxidative stress and MAPK-pathways. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2017, 92, 1085–1094. [CrossRef]
- Schafer, F.Q.; Wang, H.P.; Kelley, E.E.; Cueno, K.L.; Buettner, S.M.A.G. Comparing β-carotene, vitamin E and nitric oxide as membrane antioxidants. *Biol. Chem.* 2002, 383, 671–681. [CrossRef]
- 102. Bai, S.K.; Lee, S.J.; Na, H.J.; Ha, K.S.; Han, J.A.; Lee, H.; Kwon, Y.G.; Chung, C.K.; Kim, Y.M. β-Carotene inhibits inflammatory gene expression in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophages by suppressing redox-based NF-κB activation. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 2005, 37, 323–334. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 103. Katsuura, S.; Imamura, T.; Bando, N.; Yamanishi, R. β-Carotene and β-cryptoxanthin but not lutein evoke redox and immune changes in RAW264 murine macrophages. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 2009, *53*, 1396–1405. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 104. Strasky, Z.; Zemankova, L.; Nemeckova, I.; Rathouska, J.; Wong, R.J.; Muchova, L.; Subhanova, I.; Vanikova, J.; Vanova, K.; Vitek, L.; et al. Spirulina platensis and phycocyanobilin activate atheroprotective heme oxygenase-1: A possible implication for atherogenesis. *Food Funct.* 2013, *4*, 1586–1594. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 105. Jensen, G.S.; Drapeau, C.; Lenninger, M.; Benson, K.F. Clinical safety of a high dose of Phycocyanin-enriched aqueous extract from Arthrospira (Spirulina) platensis: Results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study with a focus on anticoagulant activity and platelet activation. J. Med. Food 2016, 19, 645–653. [CrossRef]
- 106. Piovan, A.; Battaglia, J.; Filippini, R.; Dalla Costa, V.; Facci, L.; Argentini, C.; Pagetta, A.; Giusti, P.; Zusso, M. Pre-and Early Post-treatment With Arthrospira platensis (Spirulina) Extract Impedes Lipopolysaccharide-triggered Neuroinflammation in Microglia. Front. Pharmacol. 2021, 12, 1–10. [CrossRef]
- 107. Eggleton, J.S.; Nagalli, S. Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART); StatPearls Publishing: Treasure Island, FL, USA, 2020.
- Chang, J.L.; Tsai, A.C.; Musinguzi, N.; Haberer, J.E.; Boum, Y.; Muzoora, C.; Bwana, M.; Martin, J.N.; Hunt, P.W.; Bangsberg, D.R.; et al. Depression and suicidal ideation among HIV-infected adults receiving efavirenz versus nevirapine in Uganda: A prospective cohort study. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 2018, *169*, 146–155. [CrossRef]
- 109. Lyseng-Williamson, K.A.; Reynolds, N.A.; Plosker, G.L. Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate. Drugs 2005, 65, 413-432. [CrossRef]
- 110. Chen, Y.F.; Stampley, J.E.; Irving, B.A.; Dugas, T.R. Chronic nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors disrupt mitochondrial homeostasis and promote premature endothelial senescence. *Toxicol. Sci.* 2019, 172, 445–456. [CrossRef]
- 111. Martin, A.M.; Nolan, D.; Gaudieri, S.; Almeida, C.A.; Nolan, R.; James, I.; Carvalho, F.; Phillips, E.; Christiansen, F.T.; Purcell, A.W.; et al. Predisposition to abacavir hypersensitivity conferred by HLA-B*5701 and a haplotypic Hsp70-Hom variant. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2004, 101, 4180–4185. [CrossRef]
- 112. Kakuda, T. Pharmacology of nucleoside and nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitor-induced mitochondrial toxicity. *Clin. Ther.* 2000, 22, 685–708. [CrossRef]
- 113. Günthard, H.F.; Saag, M.S.; Benson, C.A.; Del Rio, C.; Eron, J.J.; Gallant, J.E.; Hoy, J.F.; Mugavero, M.J.; Sax, P.E.; Thompson, M.A.; et al. Antiretroviral drugs for treatment and prevention of HIV infection in adults: 2018 recommendations of the International Antiviral Society–USA Panel. JAMA 2018, 320, 379–396.
- 114. Yeni, P. Update on HAART in HIV. J. Hepatol. 2006, 44, S100-S103. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Eastone, J.A.; Decker, C.F. New-onset diabetes mellitus associated with use of protease inhibitor. Ann. Intern. Med. 1997, 127, 948. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 116. Soliman, E.Z.; Lundgren, J.; Roediger, M.P.; Duprez, D.A.; Temesgen, Z.; Bickel, M.; Shlay, J.C.; Somboonwit, C.; Reiss, P.; Stein, J.; et al. Boosted protease inhibitors and the electrocardiographic measures of QT and PR durations. *AIDS* 2011, 25, 367–377. [CrossRef]
- 117. Landovitz, R.J.; Ribaudo, H.J.; Ofotokun, I.; Na, L.H.; Godfrey, C.; Kuritzkes, D.R.; Sagar, M.; Brown, T.T.; Cohn, S.E.; McComsey, G.A.; et al. Efficacy and tolerability of 3 nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-sparing antiretroviral regimens for treatment-naive volunteers infected with HIV-1: A randomized, controlled equivalence trial. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 2014, 161, 461–471.
- Gutiérrez, F.; Fulladosa, X.; Barril, G.; Domingo, P. Renal tubular transporter-mediated interactions of HIV drugs: Implications for patient management. AIDS Rev. 2014, 16, 199–212.
- 119. Hoffmann, C.; Welz, T.; Sabranski, M.; Kolb, M.; Wolf, E.; Stellbrink, H.J.; Wyen, C. Higher rates of neuropsychiatric adverse events leading to dolutegravir discontinuation in women and older patients. *HIV Med.* 2017, 18, 56–63. [CrossRef]
- Fettiplace, A.; Stainsby, C.; Winston, A.; Givens, N.; Puccini, S.; Vannappagari, V.; Hsu, R.; Fusco, J.; Quercia, R.; Aboud, M.; et al. Psychiatric Symptoms in Patients Receiving Dolutegravir. JAIDS J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. 2017, 74, 423–431. [CrossRef]
- Zash, R.; Makhema, J.; Shapiro, R.L. Neural-Tube Defects with Dolutegravir Treatment from the Time of Conception. N. Engl. J. Med. 2018, 379, 979–981. [CrossRef]
- Schafer, J.J.; E Squires, K. Integrase Inhibitors: A Novel Class of Antiretroviral Agents. Ann. Pharmacother. 2010, 44, 145–156. [CrossRef]
- 123. Hazuda, D.J.; Felock, P.; Witmer, M.; Wolfe, A.; Stillmock, K.; Grobler, J.A.; Espeseth, A.; Gabryelski, L.; Schleif, W.; Blau, C.; et al. Inhibitors of Strand Transfer That Prevent Integration and Inhibit HIV-1 Replication in Cells. *Science* 2000, 287, 646–650. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hardy, H.; Skolnik, P.R. Enfuvirtide, a New Fusion Inhibitor for Therapy of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection. *Pharmacother. J. Hum. Pharmacol. Drug Ther.* 2004, 24, 198–211. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 125. Dorr, P.; Westby, M.; Dobbs, S.; Griffin, P.; Irvine, B.; Macartney, M.; Mori, J.; Rickett, G.; Smith-Burchnell, C.; Napier, C.; et al. Maraviroc (UK-427,857), a Potent, Orally Bioavailable, and Selective Small-Molecule Inhibitor of Chemokine Receptor CCR5 with Broad-Spectrum Anti-Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Activity. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 2005, 49, 4721–4732. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Miao, M.; De Clercq, E.; Li, G. Clinical significance of chemokine receptor antagonists. Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol. 2020, 16, 11–30. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 127. De Luca, A.; Pezzotti, P.; Boucher, C.; Döring, M.; Incardona, F.; Kaiser, R.; Lengauer, T.; Pfeifer, N.; Schülter, E.; Vandamme, A.-M.; et al. Clinical use, efficacy, and durability of maraviroc for antiretroviral therapy in routine care: A European survey. *PLoS ONE* 2019, 14, e0225381. [CrossRef]
- Shafer, R.; Vuitton, D. Highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) for the treatment of infection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Biomed. Pharmacother. 1999, 53, 73–86. [CrossRef]
- Kitahata, M.M.; Koepsell, T.D.; Deyo, R.A.; Maxwell, C.L.; Dodge, W.T.; Wagner, E.H. Physicians' experience with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome as a factor in patients' survival. N. Engl. J. Med. 1996, 334, 701–707. [CrossRef]
- Cunningham, W.E.; Tisnado, D.M.; Lui, H.H.; Nakazono, T.T.; Carlisle, D.M. The effect of hospital experience on mortality among patients hospitalized with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in California. Am. J. Med. 1999, 107, 137–143. [CrossRef]
- Rackal, J.M.; Tynan, A.-M.; Handford, C.D.; Rzeznikiewiz, D.; Agha, A.; Glazier, R. Provider training and experience for people living with HIV/AIDS. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 2011, 6, CD003938. [CrossRef]
- 132. Ford, N.; Migone, C.; Calmy, A.; Kerschberger, B.; Kanters, S.; Nsanzimana, S.; Mills, E.J.; Meintjes, G.; Vitoria, M.; Doherty, M.; et al. Benefits and risks of rapid initiation of antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS* 2018, *32*, 17–23. [CrossRef]
- 133. Group, I.S.S. Initiation of antiretroviral therapy in early asymptomatic HIV infection. N. Engl. J. Med. 2015, 373, 795–807.
- 134. Thompson, M.A.; Aberg, J.A.; Hoy, J.F.; Telenti, A.; Benson, C.; Cahn, P.; Eron, J.J.; Günthard, H.F.; Hammer, S.M.; Reiss, P.; et al. Antiretroviral treatment of adult HIV infection: 2012 recommendations of the International Antiviral Society–USA panel. *Jama* 2012, 308, 387–402. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 135. Sax, P.E.; Tierney, C.; Collier, A.C.; Fischl, M.A.; Mollan, K.; Peeples, L.; Godfrey, C.; Jahed, N.C.; Myers, L.; Katzenstein, D.; et al. Abacavir–lamivudine versus tenofovir–emtricitabine for initial HIV-1 therapy. N. Engl. J. Med. 2009, 361, 2230–2240. [Cross Ref] [PubMed]
- 136. Post, F.A.; Moyle, G.J.; Stellbrink, H.J.; Domingo, P.; Podzamczer, D.; Fisher, M.; Norden, A.G.; Cavassini, M.; Rieger, A.; Khuong-Josses, M.A.; et al. Randomized comparison of renal effects, efficacy, and safety with once-daily abacavir/lamivudine versus tenofovir/emtricitabine, administered with efavirenz, in antiretroviral-naive, HIV-1–infected adults: 48-week results from the ASSERT study. *JAIDS J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* 2010, 55, 49–57. [CrossRef]
- Glover, M.; Hebert, V.Y.; Nichols, K.; Xue, S.Y.; Thibeaux, T.M.; Zavecz, J.A.; Dugas, T.R. Overexpression of mitochondrial antioxidant manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) provides protection against AZT- or 3TC-induced endothelial dysfunction. *Antivir. Res.* 2014, 111, 136–142. [CrossRef]
- 138. Brown, L.; Jin, J.; Ferrell, D.; Sadic, E.; Obregon, D.; Smith, A.J.; Tan, J.; Giunta, B. Efavirenz Promotes β-Secretase Expression and Increased Aβ1-40,42 via Oxidative Stress and Reduced Microglial Phagocytosis: Implications for HIV Associated Neurocognitive Disorders (HAND). PLoS ONE 2014, 9, e95500. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Canale, D.; De Bragança, A.C.; Gonçalves, J.G.; Shimizu, M.H.M.; Sanches, T.R.; Andrade, L.; Volpini, R.A.; Seguro, A.C. Vitamin D Deficiency Aggravates Nephrotoxicity, Hypertension and Dyslipidemia Caused by Tenofovir: Role of Oxidative Stress and Renin-Angiotensin System. *PLoS ONE* 2014, 9, e103055. [CrossRef]
- Venhoff, N.; Setzer, B.; Melkaoui, K.; A Walker, U. Mitochondrial Toxicity of Tenofovir, Emtricitabine and Abacavir Alone and in Combination with Additional Nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors. *Antivir. Ther.* 2007, 12, 1075–1086. [CrossRef]
- 141. Bonomini, F.; Rodella, L.F.; Rezzani, R. Metabolic Syndrome, Aging and Involvement of Oxidative Stress. Aging Dis. 2015, 6, 109–120. [CrossRef]
- Dos Santos, W.; Paes, P.; dos Santos, A.; Machado, D.; Navarro, A.; Frenandes, A. Impact of progressive resistance training in Brazilian HIV patients with lipodystrophy. J. AIDS Clin. Res. 2013, 4, 2. [CrossRef]
- 143. Sharma, B. Anti-HIV-1 drug toxicity and management strategies. Neurobehav. HIV Med. 2011, 3, 27–40. [CrossRef]
- 144. Csányi, G. Oxidative Stress in Cardiovascular Disease; Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute: Basel, Switzerland, 2014.
- 145. McColl, D.J.; Margot, N.; Chen, S.-S.; Harris, J.; Borroto-Esoda, K.; Miller, M.D. Reduced Emergence of the M184V/I Resistance Mutation When Antiretroviral-Naïve Subjects Use Emtricitabine Versus Lamivucline in Regimens Composed of Two NRTIs Plus the NNRTI Efavirenz. HIV Clin. *Trials* 2011, 12, 61–70. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 146. Hong, S.Y.; Jonas, A.; DeKlerk, M.; Shiningavamwe, A.; Desta, T.; Badi, A.; Morris, L.; Hunt, G.M.; Ledwaba, J.; Sheehan, H.B.; et al. Population-Based Surveillance of HIV Drug Resistance Emerging on Treatment and Associated Factors at Sentinel Antiretroviral Therapy Sites in Namibia. *JAIDS J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* 2015, 68, 463–471. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 147. Gulick, R.M.; Ribaudo, H.J.; Shikuma, C.M.; Lustgarten, S.; Squires, K.E.; Meyer, W.A., III; Acosta, E.P.; Schackman, B.R.; Pilcher, C.D.; Murphy, R.L.; et al. Triple-nucleoside regimens versus efavirenz-containing regimens for the initial treatment of HIV-1 infection. N. Engl. J. Med. 2004, 350, 1850–1861. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Robbins, G.K.; De Gruttola, V.; Shafer, R.W.; Smeaton, L.M.; Snyder, S.W.; Pettinelli, C.; Dubé, M.P.; Fischl, M.A.; Pollard, R.B.; Delapenha, R.; et al. Comparison of sequential three-drug regimens as initial therapy for HIV-1 infection. N. Engl. J. Med. 2003, 349, 2293–2303. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rakhmanina, N.Y.; la Porte, C.J. Therapeutic drug monitoring of antiretroviral drugs in the management of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Ther. Drug Monit. Newer Drugs Biomark.* 2012, 373, 374–389.
- 150. EACS. European AIDS Clinical Society Guidelines. Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Version 6. 2011. Available online: https://www.eacsociety.org/media/2011_eacsguidelines-v6.0-english_oct.pdf (accessed on 6 December 2021).

- 151. Gilks, C.F.; Crowley, S.; Ekpini, R.; Gove, S.; Perriens, J.; Souteyrand, Y.; Sutherland, D.; Vitoria, M.; Guerma, T.; De Cock, K. The WHO public-health approach to antiretroviral treatment against HIV in resource-limited settings. *Lancet* 2006, 368, 505–510. [CrossRef]
- Kahana, S.Y.; Rohan, J.; Allison, S.; Frazier, T.W.; Drotar, D. A Meta-Analysis of Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy and Virologic Responses in HIV-Infected Children, Adolescents, and Young Adults. *AIDS Behav.* 2012, 17, 41–60. [CrossRef]
- 153. Sliwa, K.; Hilfiker-Kleiner, D.; Petrie, M.C.; Mebazaa, A.; Pieske, B.; Buchmann, E.; Regitz-Zagrosek, V.; Schaufelberger, M.; Tavazzi, L.; van Veldhuisen, D.J.; et al. Current state of knowledge on aetiology, diagnosis, management, and therapy of peripartum cardiomyopathy: A position statement from the Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology Working Group on peripartum cardiomyopathy. *Eur. J. Harr. Fail.* 2010, *12*, 767–778. [CrossRef]
- 154. Schinazi, R.F.; Lloyd, R.M.; Nguyen, M.H.; Cannon, D.L.; McMillan, A.; Ilksoy, N.; Chu, C.K.; Liotta, D.C.; Bazmi, H.Z.; Mellors, J.W. Characterization of human immunodeficiency viruses resistant to oxathiolane-cytosine nucleosides. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 1993, 37, 875–881. [CrossRef]
- 155. Maserati, R.; De Silvestri, A.; Uglietti, A.; Colao, G.; Di Biagio, A.; Bruzzone, B.; Di Pietro, M.; Re, M.C.; Tinelli, C.; Zazzi, M. Emerging mutations at virological failure of HAART combinations containing tenofovir and lamivudine or emtricitabine. *AIDS* 2010, 24, 1013–1018. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 156. Schinazi, R.F.; McMillan, A.; Cannon, D.; Mathis, R.; Lloyd, R.M.; Peck, A.; Sommadossi, J.P.; Clair, M.S.; Wilson, J.; A Furman, P. Selective inhibition of human immunodeficiency viruses by racemates and enantiomers of cis-5-fluoro-1-[2-(hydroxymethyl)-1,3-oxathiolan-5-yl]cytosine. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 1992, 36, 2423–2431. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 157. Margot, N.A.; Enejosa, J.; Cheng, A.K.; Miller, M.D.; McColl, D.J. Development of HIV-1 drug resistance through 144 weeks in antiretroviral-naive subjects on emtricitabine, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate, and efavirenz compared with lamivu-dine/zidovudine and efavirenz in study GS-01-934. JAIDS J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. 2009, 52, 209–221. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mugwanya, K.K.; John-Stewart, G.; Baeten, J. Safety of oral tenofovir disoproxil fumarate-based HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis use in lactating HIV-uninfected women. *Expert Opin. Drug Saf.* 2017, 16, 867–871. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Spinner, C.D.; Boesecke, C.; Zink, A.; Jessen, H.; Stellbrink, H.J.; Rockstroh, J.K.; Esser, S. HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP): A review of current knowledge of oral systemic HIV PrEP in humans. *Infection* 2016, 44, 151–158. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 160. Fonner, V.A.; Dalglish, S.L.; Kennedy, C.E.; Baggaley, R.; O'Reilly, K.R.; Koechlin, F.M.; Rodolph, M.; Hodges-Mameletzis, I.; Grant, R. Effectiveness and safety of oral HIV preexposure prophylaxis for all populations. *AIDS* 2016, *30*, 1973–1983. [CrossRef]
- Borroto-Esoda, K.; E Vela, J.; Myrick, F.; Ray, A.S.; Miller, M.D. In Vitro Evaluation of the Anti-HIV Activity and Metabolic Interactions of Tenofovir and Emtricitabine. *Antivir. Ther.* 2005, 11, 377–384. [CrossRef]
- 162. De Ruiter, A.; Taylor, G.P.; Clayden, P.; Dhar, J.; Gandhi, K.; Gilleece, Y.; Harding, K.; Hay, P.; Kennedy, J.; Low-Beer, N.; et al. British HIV Association guidelines for the management of HIV infection in pregnant women 2012 (2014 interim review). *HIV Med.* 2014, 15, 1–77.
- 163. Law, W.P.; Duncombe, C.J.; Mahanontharit, A.; Boyd, M.; Ruxrungtham, K.; Lange, J.M.A.; Phanuphak, P.; Cooper, D.A.; Dore, G.J. Impact of viral hepatitis co-infection on response to antiretroviral therapy and HIV disease progression in the HIV-NAT cohort. *AIDS* 2004, 18, 1169–1177. [CrossRef]
- 164. Zdanowicz, M.M. The Pharmacology of HIV Drug Resistance. Am. J. Pharm. Educ. 2006, 70, 1-8. [CrossRef]
- 165. Hare, C.B.; Mellors, J.; Krambrink, A.; Su, Z.; Skiest, D.; Margolis, D.M.; Patel, S.S.; Barnas, D.; Frenkel, L.; Coombs, R.W.; et al. Detection of nonnucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitor-resistant HIV-1 after discontinuation of virologically suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 2008, 47, 421–424. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Carr, A.; Samaras, K.; Chisholm, D.J.; A Cooper, D. Pathogenesis of HIV-1-protease inhibitor-associated peripheral lipodystrophy, hyperlipidaemia, and insulin resistance. *Lancet* 1998, 351, 1881–1883. [CrossRef]
- Del Valle, L.G.; Hernández, R.G.; Ávila, J.P. Oxidative stress associated to disease progression and toxicity during antiretroviral therapy in human immunodeficiency virus infection. J. Virol. Microbiol. 2013, 13, 15.
- Awodele, O.; O Olayemi, S.; A Nwite, J.; A Adeyemo, T. Investigation of the levels of oxidative stress parameters in HIV and HIV-TB co-infected patients. J. Infect. Dev. Ctries. 2011, 6, 79–85. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pinti, M.; Nasi, M.; Gibellini, L.; Roat, E.; De Biasi, S.; Bertonœlli, L.; Cossarizza, A. The Role of Mitochondria in HIV Infection and Its Treatment. J. Exp. Clin. Med. 2010, 2, 145–155. [CrossRef]
- Mandas, A.; Iorio, E.L.; Congiu, M.G.; Balestrieri, C.; Mereu, A.; Cau, D.; Dessì, S.; Curreli, N. Oxidative Imbalance in HIV-1 Infected Patients Treated with Antiretroviral Therapy. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2009, 2009, 1–7. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 171. Apostolova, N.; Gomez-Sucerquia, L.; Moran, A.; Alvarez, A.; Blas-Garcia, A.; Esplugues, J. Enhanced oxidative stress and increased mitochondrial mass during Efavirenz-induced apoptosis in human hepatic cells. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 2010, 160, 2069–2084. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 172. Estrada, V.; Monge, S.; Garre, G.; Sobrino, P.; Masiá, M.; Berenguer, J.; Portilla, J.; Viladés, C.; Martinez, E.; Blanco, J.; et al. Relationship between plasma bilirubin level and oxidative stress markers in HIV-infected patients on atazanavir-vs. efavirenzbased antiretroviral therapy. *HIV Med.* 2016, *17*, 653–661. [CrossRef]
- Elias, A.; Ijeoma, O.; Edikpo, N.J.; Oputiri, D.; Geoffrey, O.-B.P. Tenofovir Renal Toxicity: Evaluation of Cohorts and Clinical Studies—Part One. *Pharmacol. Pharm.* 2013, 4, 651–662. [CrossRef]

- 174. Fernandez-Fernandez, B.; Montoya-Ferrer, A.; Sanz, A.B.; Sanchez-Niño, M.D.; Izquierdo, M.C.; Poveda, J.; Sainz-Prestel, V.; Ortiz-Martin, N.; Parra-Rodriguez, A.; Selgas, R.; et al. Tenofovir Nephrotoxicity: 2011 Update. *AIDS Res. Treat.* 2011, 2011, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- 175. Shafi, T.; Choi, M.; Racusen, L.; Spacek, L.; Berry, C.; Atta, M.; Fine, D. Ritonavir-induced acute kidney injury: Kidney biopsy findings and review of literature. *Clin. Nephrol.* 2011, 75, 60–64. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 176. Boffito, M. From concept to care: Pharmacokinetic boosting of protease inhibitors. PRN Noteb. 2004, 9, 15-18.
- 177. Patel, A.K.; Ranjan, R.R.; Patel, A.R.; Patel, J.K.; Patel, K.K. Tenofovir-associated renal dysfunction in clinical practice: An observational cohort from western India. *Indian J. Sex. Transm. Dis. AIDS* 2010, 31, 30–34. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 178. Cao, Y.; Han, Y.; Xie, J.; Cui, Q.; Zhang, L.; Li, Y.; Li, Y.; Song, X.; Zhu, T.; Li, T. Impact of a tenofovir disoproxil fumarate plus ritonavir-boosted protease inhibitor-based regimen on renal function in HIV-infected individuals: A prospective, multicenter study. BMC Infect. Dis. 2013, 13, 301–308. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Grigsby, I.F.; Pham, L.; Mansky, L.M.; Gopalakrishnan, R.; Mansky, K.C. Tenofovir-associated bone density loss. Ther. Clin. Risk Manag. 2010, 6, 41.
- Moss, D.M.; Neary, M.; Owen, A. The role of drug transporters in the kidney: Lessons from tenofovir. Front. Pharmacol. 2014, 5, 248. [CrossRef]
- Yeligar, S.M.; Guidot, D.M.; Brown, L.A.S.; Cribbs, S.K. HIV Infection Induces NADPH Oxidase Expression in Alveolar Macrophages of Otherwise Healthy Subjects. In C55 HIV-Associated Lung Diseases and Infections; American Thoracic Society: New York, NY, USA, 2015; p. A4720.
- Wang, X.; Liao, D.; Lin, P.H.; Yao, Q.; Chen, C. Highly active antiretroviral therapy drugs inhibit in vitro cholesterol efflux from human macrophage-derived foam cells. *Lab. Investig.* 2009, 89, 1355–1363. [CrossRef]
- So-Armah, K.; Freiberg, M.S. HIV and Cardiovascular Disease: Update on Clinical Events, Special Populations, and Novel Biomarkers. Curr. HIV/AIDS Rep. 2018, 15, 233–244. [CrossRef]
- Brouwer, E.S.; Napravnik, S.; Eron, J.J.; Stalzer, B.; Floris-Moore, M.; Simpson, R.J.; Stürmer, T. Effects of Combination Antiretroviral Therapies on the Risk of Myocardial Infarction Among HIV Patients. *Epidemiology* 2014, 25, 406–417. [Cross Ref]
- 185. Marcel, A.K.; Ekali, L.G.; Eugene, S.; Arnold, O.E.; Sandrine, E.D.; Von der Weid, D.; Gbaguidi, E.; Ngogang, J.; Mbanya, J.C. The effect of Spirulina platensis versus soybean on insulin resistance in HIV-infected patients: A randomized pilot study. *Nutrients* 2011, 3, 712–724. [CrossRef]
- 186. Winter, F.S.; Emakam, F.; Kfutwah, A.; Hermann, J.; Azabji-Kenfack, M.; Krawinkel, M.B. The Effect of Arthrospira platensis Capsules on CD4 T-Cells and Antioxidative Capacity in a Randomized Pilot Study of Adult Women Infected with Human Immunodeficiency Virus Not under HAART in Yaoundé, Cameroon. Nutrients 2014, 6, 2973–2986. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 187. Ngo-Matip, M.-E.; Pieme, C.A.; Azabji-Kenfack, M.; Biapa, P.C.N.; Germaine, N.; Heike, E.; Moukette, B.M.; Emmanuel, K.; Philippe, S.; Mbofung, C.M.; et al. Effects of Spirulina platensis supplementation on lipid profile in HIV-infected antiretroviral naïve patients in Yaounde-Cameroon: A randomized trial study. *Lipids Haalth Dis.* 2014, 13, 1–10. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 188. Ngo-Matip, M.E.; Pieme, C.A.; Azabji-Kenfack, M.; Moukette, B.M.; Korosky, E.; Stefanini, P.; Ngogang, J.Y.; Mbofung, C.M. Impact of daily supplementation of Spirulina platensis on the immune system of naïve HIV-1 patients in Cameroon: A 12-months single blind, randomized, multicenter trial. *Nutr. J.* 2015, *14*, 1–7. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Koskey, S.; Okoth, F.; Waihenya, R. Monitoring of CD4+T-cell counts in HIV infected patients on Arthrospira platensis supplement in Kisumu, Kenya. Afr. J. Health Sci. 2013, 24, 1–8.
- Moor, V.J.A.; Pieme, C.A.; Nkeck, J.R.; Nya, P.C.B.; Mondinde, G.I.; Amazia, F.; Kouanfack, C.; Assoumou, M.C.O.; Ngogang, J. Effects of Spirulina platensis on the Immune Status, Inflammatory and Oxidative Markers of HIV Patients on Antiretroviral Therapy in Cameroon. Acta Sci. Pharm. Sci. 2021, 5, 50–57. [CrossRef]
- Antonelli, M.; Donelli, D. Effects of Spirulina on CD4+ T-Lymphocyte Count in Patients with HIV Infection: A Literature Review. Biol. Life Sci. Forum 2022, 12, 6. [CrossRef]

APPENDIX B

Apoptosis assessment (Caspase activity)

Caspase activity was assessed via luminometry. ARVs/*Spirulina* treatment varied in terms of response of all caspases measured: Caspase-9, showed a non-significant decrease in all ARVs/Spirulina treated cells (p = 0.1444; 95% CI, (3TC: -652800 to 1445000), (TDF: -870400 to 1228000), (FTC: -283400 to 1815000)) (Figure 1). As shown in Figure 2, Caspase-8, 3TC and FTC were increased, while TDF was decreased (p = 0.0186; 95% CI, (3TC: -1783000 to 601700), (TDF: -607900 to 1777000), (FTC: -1905000 to 480100)). Caspase-3, FTC increased while 3TC and TDF decreased (p = 0.0024; 95% CI, (3TC: -496400 to 2211000), (TDF: -452700 to 2254000), (FTC: -2261000 to 445400)) (Figure 3).



Figure 1 Caspase 9 expression. expression of caspase 9 after exposure to SP, ARVs, and expression of caspase 9 after exposure to ARVs followed by SP, where a single asterisk represents significance p < 0.05



Figure 2 Caspase 8 expression. expression of caspase 8 after exposure to SP, ARVs, and expression of caspase 8 after exposure to ARVs followed by SP, where a single asterisk represents significance p < 0.05



Figure 3 Caspase 3 expression. expression of caspase 3 after exposure to SP, ARVs, and expression of caspase 3 after exposure to ARVs followed by SP, where a single asterisk represents significance p < 0.05

APPENDIX C

Mitochondrial stress responses

Extracellular levels of LDH were quantified using a colorimetric assay, following 4hrs and 24hrs exposure periods. The increase in LDH release suggests increased cell damage [97], and can be an early indicator of increased necrotic cell death. SP and HAART indicated low LDH levels A: (p = 0.0288), B: (p < 0.0001), C: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 1). ROS induced lipid peroxidation is responsible for oxidative damage and reduction of cell membrane function [103]. LDH is exclusively found in the cytoplasm and only exits the cell through damaged membranes [96].



Figure 1. Intracellular LDH levels A: (*p* = 0,0288), B: (*p* < 0.0001), C: (*p* < 0.0001).
APPENDIX D

Micro-RNA Response

The main function of miRNA is to control gene expression at the post-transcriptional level through degrading or repressing target mRNAs. MiR-146a levels A: (p = 0.0002), B: (p < 0.0001) increased in SP and HAART treated cells. However, HAART-SP indicated a decrease C: (p = 0.1778) (Figure 1). The miR-155 levels increased in SP and HAART treated cells A: (p = 0.0924), B: (p < 0.0001). HAART-SP indicated a decrease C: (p = 0.0001). HAART-SP indicated a decrease C: (p = 0.0001).



Figure 1. MiR-146a levels A: (*p* = 0.0002), B: (*p* < 0.0001), C: (*p* = 0.1778).



Figure 2. The miR-155 levels A: (p = 0.0924), B: (p < 0.0001), C: (p = 0.0149).

APPENDIX E

Detoxification of peroxides

Catalase (CAT) maintains the redox balance. CAT mRNA expression increased in SP treated cell and mostly decreased in HAART treated cells A: (p = 0.0054), B: (p = 0.0341) (Figure 1). However, CAT mRNA expression increased in HAART-SP exposed cells C: (p = 0.0069) (Figure 1). Glutathione Peroxidase (GPx) uses low molecular weight thiols such as glutathione as cofactors, and converts H₂O₂ to H₂O, GPx also converts lipid peroxides to H₂O. GPx mRNA expression increased in SP treated cells and mostly decreased in HAART treated cells A: (p = 0.0007), B: (p = 0.0001) (Figure 2). HAART-SP treated cells indicated an increase in comparison to the control C: (p = 0.0005) (Figure 2).



Figure 1. CAT mRNA expression A: (*p* = 0.0054), B: (*p* = 0.0341), C: (*p* = 0.0069).



Figure 2. GPx mRNA expression A: (*p* = 0.0007), B: (*p* = 0.0001), C: (*p* = 0.0005).

APPENDIX F

Inflammatory Response

NF- κ B in the nucleus, it binds to specific DNA regions thus inducing gene transcription of several genes that contribute to pro-inflammatory functions [45]. NF-kB mRNA expression of SP treated cells is normal compared to the control and mostly increased in HAART treated cells A: (p = 0.8275), B: (p = 0.0011). However, HAART-SP treated cells showed a reduced expression compared to the control C: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. NF-kB mRNA expression A: (*p* = 0.8275), B: (*p* = 0.0011), C: (*p* < 0.0001).

APPENDIX G

Cell Death

Caspase activity was assessed via luminometry. Caspase 9 levels increased in cells exposed to SP for 4 hrs and decreased in HAART (24hrs) treated cells A: (p = 0.0205), B: (p = 0.0002). However, HAART-SP treated cells indicated an increased level of Caspase 9 C: (p = 0.0178) (Figure 1). Caspase 8 levels followed the same pattern as caspase 9 levels A: (p = 0.2138), B: (p < 0.0001), C: (p = 0.0034) (Figure 2). Levels of caspase 3 A: (p = 0.3680), B: (p = 0.0004), C: (p < 0.0001) (Figure 3) followed the same pattern observed in Caspase 8.



Figure 1. Caspase 9 levels A: (p = 0.0205), B: (p = 0.0002), C: (p = 0.0178). RLU: relative light units.



Figure 2. Caspase 8 levels A: (p = 0.2138), B: (p < 0.0001), C: (p = 0.0034). RLU: relative light units.



Figure 3. Levels of caspase 3 A: (p = 0.3680), B: (p = 0.0004), C: (p < 0.0001). RLU: relative light units.